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PROCEEDINGS RESUME ON 12 NOVEMBER 2020  

CHAIRPERSON:    Good morn ing  Mr  Kennedy,  good  

morn ing  eve rybody.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Good morn ing  Cha i r.   Good morn ing .  

CHAIRPERSON:   A re  we ready.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   We a re .   We are  ready w i th  the  next  

w i tness.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   And we wou ld  ask  your  l eave to  ca l l  

h im.  10 

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   H is  name is  Mr  Ta l ib ,  T-a- l - i -b ,  Sad ik ,  

S -a-d- i - k .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   And he is  ready to  take  the  oa th .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay p lease  admin is te r  the  oa th  or  

a f f i rmat ion .  

REGISTRAR:   P lease s ta te  your  fu l l  names fo r  the  record .  

MR SADIK:   My fu l l  name is  Mohammed Ta l ib  Sad ik .  

REGISTRAR:   Do you have any  ob jec t ion  to  tak ing  the  20 

prescr ibed oath?  

MR SADIK:   No.  

REGISTRAR:   Do you cons ider  the  oa th  to  be  b ind ing  on  

your  consc ience?  

MR SADIK:   Yes.  



12 NOVEMBER 2020 – DAY 305 
 

Page 4 of 246 
 

REGISTRAR:   Do  you swear  tha t  the  ev idence you w i l l  g ive  

w i l l  be  the  t ru th ;  the  who le  t ru th  and noth ing  e l se  bu t  the 

t ru th ;  i f  so  p lease ra i se  your  r igh t  hand and say,  so  he lp  

me God.  

MR SADIK:   So  he lp  me God.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Good morn ing  Mr  Sad ik .  Yes you can 

take  o f f  your  mask.   May I  jus t  ask  you when you g i ve  

ev idence can you  p lease t ry  and speak in  a  c lear  vo ice  and 

t ry  I  know i t  may  be d i f f i cu l t  because I  am ask ing  most  o f  

the  quest ions a l though the  Cha i r  may a lso  ask  some 10 

quest ions o f  you.   But  even when I  am ask ing  you 

quest ions t ry  and  look towards the  Cha i r  ra the r  than  me.  

MR SADIK:   Okay.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   So  tha t  you  show h im the  respect  so  

tha t  he  can –  he  can hear  you and  a lso  so  tha t  you r  vo i ce  

is  d i rec ted  in to  t he  m icrophone.   Okay.   Thank you.   Mr  

Sad ik  i s  i t  cor rec t  tha t  you have  fu rn ished an a f f idav i t  a t  

the  request  o f  the  commiss ion?  

MR SADIK:   That  i s  cor rec t .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Now you shou ld  have in  f ron t  o f  you a  20 

bund le  tha t  i s  marked Dene l  Bund le  11  and another  one 

Bund le  12 .    

MR SADIK:   That  i s  cor rec t .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   And i f  I  can  take  you I  have ind ica ted  

to  you a l ready where  you shou ld  be  look ing  fo r  the  page 
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number.   I t  i s  the  top  le f t  the  las t  d ig i t  o f  the  numbers  on  

the  top  le f t  page 4 .   I s  tha t  the  f i rs t  page o f  your  a f f idav i t?  

MR SADIK:   That  i s  cor rec t .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   And may I  ask  you p lease to  tu rn  to  

the  las t  page o f  the  a f f idav i t  be fore  your  annexures  a t  page  

60.    

MR SADIK:   Yes I  have i t .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   I s  tha t  your  s ignature  the  f i rs t  o f  the  

two s ignatu res  tha t  we see on tha t  page? 

MR SADIK:   That  i s  cor rec t .  10 

ADV KENNEDY SC:   I s  i t  cor rec t  tha t  you s igned th is  

a f f idav i t  swear ing  the  oa th  be fore  a  Commiss ioner  o f  

Oaths?  

MR SADIK:   That  i s  cor rec t .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   And I  no te  tha t  the  a f f idav i t  was 

s igned on the  9  February  2020  

MR SADIK:   Cor rec t  yes .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Now you have ind ica ted  to  me in  

consu l ta t ion  tha t  there  are  some – tha t  there  is  one  

cor rec t ion  tha t  you want  to  –  want  to  make to  a  word  in  the 20 

body o f  the  a f f idav i t .   I  w i l l  take  you there  in  a  moment  bu t  

there  a re  a l so  some events  tha t  have changed s ince  you  

s igned the  a f f idav i t  in  February  2020 is  tha t  r igh t?  

MR SADIK:   That  i s  cor rec t .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   And I  w i l l  take  you th rough the  – the  
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events  tha t  have  changed to  the  ex ten t  i t  i s  necessary.   

F i r s t  to  dea l  w i th  the  cor rec t ion  o f  the  word  tha t  i s  wrong.   

I f  I  can  take  you  to page 6 .   Paragraph 152 you ind ica ted  

to  me tha t  there  is  an  er ror  tha t  you want  to  cor rec t  there .   

What  i s  the  er ror?  

MR SADIK:   The  er ro r  i t  i s  1  –  paragraph 152 reads f ina l  

repor t  when i t  shou ld  read dra f t  repor t  p resented by  Nd id i .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   R igh t  thank you.   Now apar t  f rom tha t  

cor rec t ion  o r  sub jec t  to  tha t  cor rec t ion  and apar t  f rom the  

events  tha t  you want  to  update  the  Cha i r  on  tha t  have 10 

occur red  s ince  February  2020 does the  a f f idav i t  conta in  

fac ts  tha t  were  cor rec t  a t  the  t ime o f  February  2020 .  

MR SADIK:   That  i s  cor rec t .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Can you conf i rm tha t?  

MR SADIK:   That  i s  cor rec t .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   And can you conf i rm you have been 

th rough th i s  a f f idav i t  and you ab le  to  a t tes t  to  tha t  under  

oa th  tha t  a l l  o f  the  contents  sub jec t  to  the  cor rec t ion  o f  

tha t  word  tha t  you have jus t  ind ica ted  are  t rue  and  cor rec t  

in  eve ry  respect?  20 

MR SADIK:   Cor rec t  –  ag reed.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Thank you.   Cha i r  I  wou ld  then ask  –  

may I  jus t  ind ica te  Cha i r  tha t  the  w i tnesses ag reed to 

ass is t  us  fu r the r  in  p rov id ing  a  supp lementary  a f f idav i t  tha t  

fo rmer l y  cor rec t s  the  er ror  in  paragraph 152 tha t  he  has 



12 NOVEMBER 2020 – DAY 305 
 

Page 7 of 246 
 

a le r ted  you to  Cha i r  and a lso  to  update  you on the  spec i f i c  

changes.   I t  la rge ly  re la tes  to  the  d i f fe ren t  ro le  t ha t  Mr  

Sad ik  i s  now p lay ing  w i th  in  Dene l  and he w i l l  p rov ide  tha t  

supp lementary  a f f idav i t  and h is  a t to rney I  shou ld  have  

ment ioned he is  ass is ted  by  h is  a t to rney Mr  P i l lay  who has 

been he re  on  prev ious occas ions in  the  Dene l  s t ream.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Ev idence and we apprec ia te  h is  

coopera t ion  as  we l l .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.   Yes.   Wel l  le t  us  jus t  ge t  h im to 10 

p lace h imse l f  on  record  proper ly.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Thank you Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Mr  P i l lay.   I  th ink  jus t  pu t  on  tha t  

m icrophone.   Ja  I  do  no t  know i f  i t  i s  work ing  fa i l ing  wh ich  

you can go to  the  one.  

ADV PILLAY:   Good morn ing  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Good morn ing .  

ADV PILLAY:   My name is  Yagashen P i l lay  aga in  I  conf i rm 

what  Advocate  Kennedy has t ransmi t ted  to  you th is  

morn ing .  20 

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.   No thank you.   Thank you.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Thank you Cha i r.   May we then  on the  

bas is  tha t  i s  a l ready ind ica ted  ask  you – ask  your  leave 

p lease fo rmer ly  to  admi t  th is  a f f idav i t  wh ich  is  

accompan ied by  many annexures.   So tha t  i s  the  a f f idav i t  
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tha t  appears  a t  Dene l  Bund le  11  f rom page 4  as  Exh ib i t  

W26.   In  fac t  I  beg your  pa rdon  i t  fac t  appears  in  bo th  

bund les  11  and  12 as  one a f f idav i t  w i th  numerous 

annexures.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Wou ld  –  may we ask fo r  leave to  

admi t  the  en t i re  a f f idav i t  as  Exh ib i t  W26.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.   The a f f idav i t  o f  Mr  Ta l ib  Sad ik  

s ta r t ing  a t  page 4  w i th  i t s  annexures wh ich  go  up to  Dene l  

Bund le  12  is  adm i t ted  and as  Exh ib i t  W26.  10 

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Thank you Cha i r.   And w i th  your  leave 

may I  lead the  w i tness on  the  in i t ia l  i ssues.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   That  appear  to  uncont rovers ia l .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Thank you Cha i r.   Mr  Sad ik  you se t  

ou t  in  your  a f f idav i t  your  –  the  background tha t  you have in  

re la t ion  to  Dene l .   May I  jus t  ask  you befo re  we get  to  tha t  

what  i s  your  –  what  i s  you r  overa l l  background by  way o f  

qua l i f i ca t ions and  by  way o f  exper ience before  you became 20 

invo lved in  Dene l .?  

MR SADIK:   Cha i r  I  am a  qua l i f ied  Char te red Accoun tant .   I  

s tud ied  a t  the  Un ive rs i t y  o f  Nata l  and I  comple ted  my CA 

exams.   I  qua l i f ied  as  a  CA a t  the  –  around 1991 and s ince  

then I  have been main ly  work ing  in  the  co rpo ra te  
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env i ronment  occupy ing  sen ior  f inance ro les  and the  ro le  

tha t  I  had occup ied  fo r  a  t ime a t  Dene l  was the  Group  

CEO.   So I  have over  twenty  years ’ exper ience.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   R igh t  thank  you.   And when  d id  you  

f i rs t  s ta r t  a t  Dene l  as  an  employee? 

MR SADIK:   I  s ta r ted  in  Dene l  as  an  employee in  2006 as  

the  Group CFO in  2006 and then in  September  2018 – 2008 

I  then took ove r  the  ro le  as  the  ac t ing  Group CEO and was 

conf i rmed in  September  2008 as  the  Group CEO of  Dene l .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   And was tha t  be fore  Mr  Sa loo jee  was 10 

appo in ted  as  Group CEO? 

MR SADIK:   That  i s  cor rec t  Cha i r  he  had rep laced me.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   And when was tha t  rep lacement?  

MR SADIK:   He had rep laced me e f fec t i ve  f rom 1  February  

2012.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   R igh t .   So you were  e i the r  ac t ing  o r  

as  the  fu l l y  f ledged as  i t  were  GCEO for  about  four  years  –  

four  o r  f i ve  years ,  i s  tha t  cor rec t?  

MR SADIK:   That  i s  cor rec t  Cha i r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   R igh t .   When you –  d id  you then leave  20 

the  employ  o f  Dene l  when Mr  Sa loo jee  rep laced  you as  

Group CEO? 

MR SADIK:   That  i s  cor rec t  Cha i r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   And were  you then on the  board  o f  

Dene l  as  you le f t  a t  tha t  t ime? 
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MR SADIK:   No  I  was not  on  the  board  o f  Dene l  a t  the 

t ime.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Bu t  you la te r  jo ined the  board  o f  

Dene l ,  i s  tha t  cor rec t?  

MR SADIK:   Tha t  i s  cor rec t .   I  re - jo ined the  board  on  an 

in te r im bas is  in  Apr i l  2018 and i t  was conf i rmed a  month  

la te r.   So I  am now par t  o f  the  cur ren t  board  o f  Dene l .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   And tha t  i s  the  cur ren t  board  o f  Dene l  

under  the  cha i rpe rsonsh ip  o f  Ms H lah la ,  i s  tha t  co r rec t?  

MR SADIK:   That  i s  cor rec t .  10 

ADV KENNEDY SC:   R igh t .   And we have heard  ev idence 

f rom her  and o thers  tha t  the  board  in  fac t  s ta r ted  opera t ing  

fu l l y  f rom about  May 2018.   So you were  there  f rom the  

beg inn ing  o f  the  new board  –  the  cur ren t  board ’s  te rm,  i s  

tha t  cor rec t?  

MR SADIK:   That  i s  cor rec t .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   R igh t .   Now in  add i t ion  to  the  –  sor ry  

were  you execut i ve  or  non-execut i ve  member  o f  the  Dene l  

board  then?  

MR SADIK:   A t  the  t ime I  was a  non-execut ive  d i rec to r  on  20 

the  Dene l  board  and I  was a lso  appo in ted  Cha i r  o f  the  

Aud i t  Commi t tee .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   I s  tha t  the  Aud i t  and R isk  Commi t tee  

–  i s  tha t  i t s  fu l l  t i t l e?  

MR SADIK:   No i t  i s  –  i t  was ca l led  the  Aud i t  Commi t tee .  
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ADV KENNEDY SC:   I  see .   And so  you cha i red  tha t .   What  

i s  your  cur ren t  s i tua t ion  in  re la t ion  to  Dene l?  

MR SADIK:   Cur ren t ly  w i th  the  –  f rom e f fec t i ve  15  August  I  

have appo in ted  as  the  in te r im Group CEO and I  am an ex  

o f f i c io  member  now o f  the  board .   I  am s t i l l  a  member  o f  

the  board .   I  am no longer  the  Cha i rman o f  the  Aud i t  

Commi t tee .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Because you are  now the  ac t ing  or  

in te r im Group CEO,  is  tha t  r igh t?  

MR SADIK:   That  i s  cor rec t .  10 

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Yes.  

MR SADIK:   Cha i r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   So i t  i s  rea l l y  a  ro le  tha t  you 

prev ious l y  served in  Group CEO there  was then  qu i te  a  

gap;  you then came back to  Dene l  in  a  d i f fe ren t  capac i ty  as  

a  non-execut ive  d i rec t ion  and as  Cha i r  o f  the  Aud i t  

Commi t tee .   But  now you back in  the  ho t  seat  as  i t  were  as  

the  in te r  GCEO s ince August  you ment ioned I  th ink  18  

August?   I s  tha t  o f  th is  year?  

MR SADIK:   15  August  f rom 20 –  f rom th is  yea r  ja  2020.  20 

ADV KENNEDY SC:   R igh t .   Thank  you.   Who is  the  cur ren t  

cha i r  o f  the  Aud i t  Commi t tee?  

MR SADIK:   The cur ren t  cha i r  o f  the  Aud i t  Commi t tee  is  Ms 

S iya  To la  she was par t  o f  the  or ig ina l  board  tha t  was 

appo in ted  in  Apr i l  2018 and she  is  now taken over  the  
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cha i rmansh ip  o f  the  Aud i t  Commi t tee .   We have now 

combined i t  w i th  the  R isk  Commi t tee  and i t  i s  now ca l led  

the  Aud i t  and R isk  Commi t tee  o f  the  board .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   R igh t  now in  your  a f f idav i t  we 

obv ious ly  go ing  to  focus on ly  on  some spec i f i c  po in ts  tha t  

appear  to  be  o f  par t i cu la r  concern .  You se t  ou t  a  number  o f  

fac ts  to  appear  to  fa l l  i f  I  am – I  unders tand your  a f f idav i t  

cor rec t l y  and p lease co r rec t  me  i f  I  am wrong in to  two  

ca tegor ies .    

 There  are  some fac ts  and even ts  tha t  you were  10 

persona l l y  invo l ved in .   For  example  you dea l  w i th  cer ta in  

t ransact ions tha t  occur red  wh i le  you were  Group Ch ie f  

Execut ive  Off i ce r,  i s  tha t  cor rec t?  

MR SADIK:   That  i s  cor rec t  Cha i r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   The o the r  ca tegory  re la tes  to  some 

events  tha t  took p lace wh i le  you had no ro le  a t  Dene l .   For  

example  cont rac ts  tha t  were  en te red in to  wh i le  o thers  were  

invo l ved in  management  pa r t i cu la r ly  Mr  Sa loo jee  was in  the  

ro le  o f  Group CEO.   I s  tha t  r igh t?  

MR SADIK:   That  i s  cor rec t  Cha i r.  20 

ADV KENNEDY SC:   And i t  appears  f rom your  a f f idav i t  tha t  

you have dea l t  w i th  those issues even though you  do not  

have persona l  invo l vement  in  them or  persona l  knowledge  

o f  them.   You were  asked by  invest iga tors  because a t  the  

t ime tha t  the  request  was made  you were  s i t t ing  on  the  
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boa rd  and the  cha i rperson o f  the  Aud i t  Commi t tee  to  

address,  i s  tha t  r igh t?  

MR SADIK:   That  i s  cor rec t  Cha i r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   And in  tha t  regard  in  tha t  second 

ca tegory  you have re fe r red  us  to  –  or  the  Cha i r  to  var ious 

repor ts  tha t  were  –  tha t  were  the  product  o f  invest iga t ions 

done by  va r ious –  by  va r ious en t i t ies ,  i s  tha t  r igh t?  

MR SADIK:   That  i s  cor rec t  Cha i r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Now you re fer  a t  page 6  in  your  

a f f idav i t  to  repor ts  tha t  you rece ived f rom var ious en t i t ies .   10 

So 151 re fe rs  t o  a  repor t  f rom – a  dra f t  repor t  f rom 

Dentons tha t  i s  the  20  January  2016 and tha t  dea l t  w i th  the  

acqu is i t ion  o f  DVS prev ious l y  known as Land Systems 

South  A f r i ca  a lso  abbrev ia ted  to  LSSA,  i s  tha t  r igh t?  

MR SADIK:   That  i s  cor rec t  Cha i r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   And then you have co r rec ted  the  word  

f ina l  to  read d ra f t  in  152.   You have –  the  dra f t  –  there  was  

a  dra f t  repor t  p repared by  Nd id i  in  GIDI  bus iness adv i sory  

dea l ing  w i th  the  rev iew o f  the  process re la t ing  to  the  

conc lus ion  o f  the  MOA between Dene l  and VR Laser.   Now 20 

you have ind i ca ted  to  me tha t  –  tha t  i t  was in  fac t  on ly  a  

dra f t  repor t  as  the  cor rec t ion  ind i ca tes  bu t  has there  ever  

been a  f ina l  repor t  submi t ted  by  Nd id i?  

MR SADIK:   No there  has no t  been a  f ina l  repor t .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Do you know why?  
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MR SADIK:   Cha i r  we have made contac t  w i th  them 

because th is  d ra f t  repor t  tha t  we  have does not  conta in  

any annexures a l though the  main  repor t  re fe r red  to  

annexures.   So we have approached them and they have  

ind ica ted  tha t  they d id  –  they no  longer  wanted  to  be  

invo l ved in  the  Dene l  –  in  the  Dene l  –  to  comp le te  the  

ass ignments .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   R igh t .   Now but  have you fu rn i shed to  

the  commiss ion  whatever  you have  rece ived f rom Nd id i?  

MR SADIK:   Yes Cha i r  we have.  10 

ADV KENNEDY SC:   R igh t .   Now to  go  back to  the  Dentons  

dra f t  repor t .   Has there  been a  f ina l  repor t  in  re la t ion  to  

the  Dentons invest iga t ion?  

MR SADIK:   Yes Cha i r  we d id  rece ive  a  f ina l  repor t  wh ich  

was presented to  the  Aud i t  and R isk  Commi t tee  and then 

presented to  the  board  on  Tuesday  th is  past  Tuesday wh ich  

wou ld  have been the  9  November.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   9  November  th is  week.  

MR SADIK:   Yes.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   R igh t  and so  what  i s  the  s ta tus  o f  20 

tha t?   You have rece ived tha t  repor t .   I s  tha t  –  i s  tha t  now 

the  sub jec t  o f  cons idera t ion?  

MR SADIK:   That  board  –  tha t  repor t  Cha i r  was cons ide red 

by  the  board  on  the  Tuesday and i t  was noted by  the  board  

and re fer red  back to  the  Aud i t  and R isk  Commi t tee  fo r  the  
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cons idera t ion  o f  the  remedia l  ac t ion  to  be  taken.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   R igh t  so  does tha t  s t i l l  have to  be  

then cons idered and dec ided upon  any remedia l  ac t ion  tha t  

may be appropr ia te?  

MR SADIK:   That  i s  cor rec t  Cha i r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   R igh t .   Now you have re fer red  then in  

parag raph 153 to  another  repor t  f rom a  d i f fe ren t  en t i t y  

BDOPS Adv isory  we can re fer  to  i t  s imp ly  as  BDO they 

have submi t ted  a  f ina l  d ra f t  repor t  on  an  invest iga t ion  in to  

in te r  a l ia  non-adherence to  po l i c ies  procedures and  10 

leg is la t ion  by  employees o f  Dene l  Corpora te  Off i ce ,  Dene l  

Land Systems,  DLS and LMT as we l l  as  DVS.   Now is  tha t  

s t i l l  a t  the  leve l  o f  f ina l  d ra f t  repor t?   I s  i t  a  d ra f t  o r  i s  i t  a  

f ina l  repor t  o r  i s  i t  a  f ina l  d ra f t?  

MR SADIK:   I t  i s  a  f ina l  d ra f t  repor t  Cha i r  tha t  has been 

approved by  the  board .   The reason why i t  i s  –  i t  remains  a  

dra f t  because o f  the  l im i ta t ion  in  the  in fo rmat ion  tha t  i s  

ava i lab le .   But  i s  has been approved by  the  board .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   R igh t .   And you have a t tached  to  your  

a f f idav i t  as  you say a t  the  top  o f  page 7  a  copy o f  the  BDO 20 

repor t  bu t  no t  the  Dentons and Nd id i  repor ts  because as  

you say you do not  want  to  make what  i s  a l ready a  very  

la rge  vo lume o f  paper  even la rge r  bu t  you have o f fe red  to  

make tha t  ava i lab le  to  the  commiss ion ,  i s  tha t  r igh t?  

MR SADIK:   That  i s  cor rec t  Cha i r.  
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ADV KENNEDY SC:   R igh t .   Now you have a lso  re fe r red  in  

parag raph 1 .9  to  Pr iceWate rHouse PwC ra the r.   What  d id  

they invest iga te?  

MR SADIK:   Cha i r  they had invest iga ted  the  loans tha t  was 

granted to  LMT over  the  recent  years  and we had asked  

them to  invest iga te  the  process and the  approva ls  p rocess  

tha t  was fo l lowed  in  g rant ing  these  loans.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   And you re fer  in  –  a t  the  top  o f  page 8  

in  paragraph 1 .10  to  the  f ina l  repor t  o f  PwC be ing  expected 

th is  i s  the  t ime tha t  –  tha t  you wr i t ing  th is  to  be  de l i vered 10 

a t  the  end o f  January  2020 inc lud ing  recommendat ions.   

Can you g ive  the  Cha i r  –  i s  there  any update  to  be 

repor ted  on  tha t?   Has tha t  –  i s  the  f ina l  vers ion  o f  the i r  

repor t  ac tua l l y  been rece ived?  

MR SADIK:   Cha i r  the  repor t  was rece ived.   I t  was  

cons idered by  the  Aud i t  Commi t tee .   A t  the  t ime I  was the 

cha i rman o f  the  Aud i t  Commi t tee  and the re  were  add i t iona l  

work  tha t  we fe l t  the  PwC shou ld  cont inue w i th  so  they are  

now comple t ing  tha t  exerc ise .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Then you re fer  in  1 .11  to  an  20 

invest iga t ion  by  IT IACT Pty  L im i ted  to  assess the  

capab i l i t ies  o f  Dene l ’s  d iv i s ions to  de termine i f  the  work  

l i s ted  in  a  pa r t i cu la r  paragraph  cou ld  have been done 

in te rna l l y  to  p rov ide  exper t  op in ion .   Now are  they the  

de fence exper t s  tha t  a re  re fer red  to  in  1 .12  o f  your  
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a f f idav i t  

MR SADIK:   That  i s  –  tha t  i s  cor rec t  Cha i r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   R igh t .   Has  –  and you say tha t  was 

expected to  be  de l i vered by  the  end o f  February  2020 we 

now in  November   Can you g i ve  the  Cha i r  p lease an  update  

on  tha t?   Has the  –  have the  De fence exper t s  known as  

IT IACT in  fac t  submi t ted  a  repor t?  

MR SADIK:   Cha i r  they have submi t ted  a  ve ry  h igh  leve l  

d ra f t  repor t  and we have been work ing  th rough tha t .   They  

have not  ye t  f in ished the  exerc i se  and they –  we have  10 

spoken to  them recent ly  to  t ry  and conc lude the  exerc i se  

they have been hav ing  cha l lenges on the i r  s ide  bu t  f rom 

our  s ide  we have a lso  been  exper ienc ing  l iqu id i t y  

cha l lenges and we were  no t  ab le  to  meet  the  payments  tha t  

was due to  them.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   R igh t .   May  I  now dea l  w i th  some o f  

the  spec i f i c  t ransact ions tha t  a re  the  sub jec t  o f  you r  

a f f idav i t .   And we can s tar t  i f  we may p lease a t  page  9  your  

parag raph 2  dea ls  w i th  f inanc ia l  ass i s tance granted  to  LMT 

and th is  i s  I  unders tand i t  f rom your  a f f idav i t  re la tes  to  an 20 

advanced payment  o f  approx imate ly  R12.7  m i l l ion .   I s  tha t  

r igh t?  

MR SADIK:   That  i s  cor rec t  Cha i r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   The fu l l  f igure  the  exact  amoun t  i s  se t  

ou t  in  your  pa rag raph 12 –  sor ry  2 .1 .   Cor rec t?  
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MR SADIK:   That  i s  cor rec t  Cha i r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   And th is  was an advanced payment  

made by  DLS tha t  i s  a  d iv is ion  o f  Dene l ,  i s  tha t  co r rec t?  

MR SADIK:   That  i s  cor rec t .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   To  LMT.   Now we have –  the 

commiss ion  has  heard  ev idence  tha t  LMT was  –  was  

in i t ia l l y  p r iva te l y  owned but  then  a  major i t y  shareho ld ing  

was bought  by  Dene l  and the  ev idence has been tha t  one  

o f  the  ob jec t i ves  was to  acqu i re  the  capac i ty  redact ion  o f  

capac i ty  o f  LMT to  enab le  i t  to  be  w i th in  the  Dene l  g roup  10 

so  tha t  i t  wou ld  have in -house capac i ty  and wou ld  a lso  be  

ab le  to  manage i t .   I s  tha t  your  unders tand ing?  

 MR SADIK:   Tha t  i s  cor rec t  Cha i r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   R igh t .   Now as I  unders tand your  

ev idence the  R12.7  m i l l ion  advanced payment  was made 

before  Dene l  acqu i red  the  51% shareho ld ing  in  LMT.   I s  

tha t  r igh t?  

MR SADIK:   That  i s  cor rec t .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Now when  d id  th is  take  p lace the  

advanced payment  and was i t  dur ing  the  t ime tha t  you were  20 

employed by  Dene l  as  Group CEO? 

MR SADIK:   That  i s  cor rec t  Cha i r  I  was the  Group CEO and 

the  payment  was  –  the  agreement  was made on the  29  

Apr i l  2010.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Thank you.  
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MR SADIK:   And 28 June as  per  c lause 213.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   R igh t  thank you.   Now d id  you as  

Group CEO at  tha t  s tage approve  the  t ransact ion  in  wh ich  

the  R12.7  m i l l ion  was pa id  as  an  advanced payment  to  

LMT? 

MR SADIK:   Cha i r  we had –  we had a  Dene l  Land Systems 

d iv is iona l  board  i n  p lace .   I  was par t  o f  the  board  a t  the  

t ime and we had  rece ived a  presenta t ion  by  management  

and par t  o f  the  board  we had approved th is  t ransac t ion .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   R igh t .   Now essent ia l l y  why was th is  10 

pa id?  The o ther  ev idence tha t  the  Cha i r  has heard  in  the  

ear l ie r  days o f  these hear ings to  do  w i th  Dene l  have 

suggested tha t  i t  was not  s imp ly  pay ing  in  te rms  o f  the  

cont rac tua l  t ime  tab le  fo r  the  prov is ion  o f  the  goods 

concerned by  LMT but  i t  was ac tua l l y  p rov ided as  i t  were  

as  a  benef i t  to  LMT because they were  fac ing  some 

f inanc ia l  d i f f i cu l t ies .   I s  tha t  cor rec t?  

MR SADIK:   Cha i r  they were  a  combinat ion  o f  i ssues 

around LMT and LMT as I  po in t  ou t  in  pa ragraph 2 .14  the  

you know what  caused us  to  go  ahead one o f  the  issues  20 

was the  f inanc ia l  cha l lenges tha t  the  company was  fac ing  

bu t  the  impor tan t  th ing  is  tha t  they were  the  loca l i sed  

par tner  o f  an  in te rnat iona l  OEM ca l led  Pat r ia  and the  – we  

had then p laced  a  cont rac t  on  them ca l led  a  t runn ion  

cont rac t .   And on tha t  cont rac t  we had pa id  25% of  tha t  
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t runn ion  cont rac t  as  an  advanced payment .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Yes.   But  a re  the  o the r  w i tnesses  

cor rec t  to  the  e f fec t  tha t  i f  you  had s imp ly  fo l lowed the  

le t te r  o f  the  cont rac t  be tween DLS and LMT you were  no t  

due to  make tha t  payment  bu t  th is  was as  i t  were  a  

concess ion  to  LMT.   I t  was a  way o f  ass is t ing  them to  ge t  

an  advanced payment  wh ich  they were  no t  cont rac tua l l y  

en t i t led  to  bu t  wh ich  you were  persuaded to  pay in  o rder  

p r imar i l y  to  ass is t  them in  a  s i tua t ion  o f  a  f inanc ia l  

d i f f i cu l t y.  10 

MR SADIK:   Cha i r  we –  when we p lace a  cont rac t  we  

normal ly  w i l l  pay  a  supp l ie r  an  advanced payment  wh ich  i s  

genera l l y  about  25% of  the  cont rac t  va lue .   So i t  i s  on  tha t  

bas is  we made the  –  we –  so  i t  was par t  o f  ou r  normal  

course  o f  bus iness to  make a  po r t ion  o f  the  p re-payment  

espec ia l l y  when a  cont rac t  i s  qu i te  mater ia l .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Now you have  re fer red… 

MR SADIK:   I  am sor ry.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Sor ry  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:   I  take  i t  tha t  you are  say ing  you  d ispute  20 

the  ev idence o f  those w i tnesses who sa id  th is  payment  o f  

R12.7  m i l l ion  was a  way o f  coming to  the  ass is tance in  

te rms o f  i t  be ing  an  advanced payment  g i v ing  ass is tance to  

LMT to  ass i s t  i t  dea l  w i th  i t s  f inanc ia l  d i f f i cu l t ies .  

MR SADIK:   Cor rec t  Cha i r.  
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CHAIRPERSON:   I  take  i t  tha t  you  d ispute  tha t  ev idence? 

MR SADIK:   I  wou ld  say I  wou ld  d ispute  i t  because  i t  was 

based on the  con t rac t  tha t  we have p laced on them and on  

tha t  cont rac t  we had g i ven them 25% of  the  va lue  o f  the 

cont rac t .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Hm.   You d i spute  i t  comple te l y  o r  you say 

tha t  cons idera t ion  was one o f  the  cons ide ra t ions  and not  

necessar i l y  the  on ly  cons idera t ion?  

MR SADIK:   Cha i r  the  la t te r  i s  –  i t  was not  the  on ly  

cons idera t ion  i t  was one o f  the  cons ide ra t ions.  10 

CHAIRPERSON:   To  ass is t  them.  

MR SADIK:   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Hm.   Mr  Kennedy.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Thank you Cha i r.   In  paragraph 218  

you say tha t  the  pre-payment  was not  p rec luded by  any  

law,  t reasury  d i rec t i ve  o r  ins t ruc t ion  or  po l i cy  o f  Dene l  and  

so  you say i t  was there fore  no t  un lawfu l  to  make the  

advanced payment  and not  unusua l  commerc ia l  p rac t ice  a t  

Dene l  and the  indust ry.   You s tand by  tha t  ev idence? 

MR SADIK:   That  i s  cor rec t  Cha i r.  20 

ADV KENNEDY SC:   R igh t .   Then you… 

CHAIRPERSON:   So  –  I  am sor ry.   Ear l ie r  on  you sa id  

someth ing  to  the  e f fec t  tha t  advanced payments  were  

normal  o r  abnormal  a t  Dene l  tha t  i s  where  no rma l  dur ing  

your  t ime.   I f  you  say they were  normal  i t  m igh t  mean tha t  
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they  happened  w i th  a  cer ta in  degree o f  regu lar i t y  

f requency.   They happened w i th  a  cer ta in  degree o f  

f requency.   I t  may mean tha t  –  i s  tha t  what  you in tend to  

convey or  i s  the  pos i t ion  tha t  they were  no t  a  norm but  

they d id  occu r  f rom some t ime to  t ime.  

MR SADIK:   Cha i r  i t  was a  no rm.  

CHAIRPERSON:   They were  norm.  

MR SADIK:   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay.   A l r igh t .    

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Then in  parag raph 219 you say  th is  i s  10 

ord inar i l y  done in  recogn i t ion  tha t  la rge  manufac tu r ing  

cont rac ts  demand a  cash out lay  and f inanc ia l  commi tment  

wh ich  a  manufac ture r  may somet imes not  be  ab le  to  meet  

o r  unwi l l ing  to  ca r ry  a t  fu l l  r i sk .  

MR SADIK:   That  i s  cor rec t  Cha i r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   And in  th is  case were  you sa t is f ied  

tha t  LMT was in  a  f inanc ia l  s i tua t ion  tha t  i t  cou ld  no t  car ry  

the  r i sk  up f ron t  you wou ld  need to  –  you wou ld  need to  

fo l low the  norm.   I t  was jus t i f iab le  to  fo l low the  norm and  

make an advanced payment .  20 

MR SADIK:   That  i s  cor rec t  Cha i r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Now what  seems to  have been s l igh t ly  

d i f fe ren t  about  th is  i s  apparent  f rom paragraph 217.   

Normal l y  Dene l  wou ld  seek advanced payment  guarantee  

f rom a  bank on  beha l f  o f  a  supp l ie r  bu t  due to  weak 
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f inanc ia l  pos i t ion  o f  LMT Dene l  accepted a l te rna t ive  fo rms 

o f  guarantees.   So are  you say ing  tha t  they were  no t  ab le  

to  ge t  a  bank guarantee wh ich  you wou ld  normal ly  expect  

and requ i re?  

MR SADIK:   That  i s  cor rec t  Cha i r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Now you say tha t  you accepted o ther  

fo rms o f  guarantees o the r  than a  bank guarantee.   Can you 

reca l l  what  sor t  o f  guarantees were  prov ided by  LMT? 

MR SADIK:   Cha i r  no t  in  the  exact  de ta i l  bu t  i t  wou ld  have  

been guarantees  ove r  the i r  assets  in  pa r t i cu la r  the i r  10 

debtors ’ book and some o f  the  IP tha t  they wou ld  have 

owned as  we l l .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   R igh t .   And some o f  the  o the r  

w i tnesses have dea l t  in  some deta i l  w i th  tha t .   And you  

conf i rm tha t  a f te r  th is  advanced payment  i t  happened tha t  

LMT’s  majo r i t y  sha reho ld ing  was –  the  major i t y  

shareho ld ing  in  LMT ra ther  was acqu i red  by  Dene l?  

MR SADIK:   Ja  par t  o f  the  ar rangement  to  secure  the  

guarantee Cha i r  we had a  sect ion  to  convert  our  -  wel l ,  

real ly  as securi ty.   So i f  we bel ieve we need to get  c loser  to  20 

the business or i t  is an opt ion for us to convert  that  into an 

equi ty,  which is what we then did.   At  the t ime when we gave 

them the loan. . .   Oh,  sorry,  not  the loan,  the prepayment.    

 We had an opt ion to acqui re 70% of  the company and we 

then brought in another shareholder who came in as a 
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consort ium and we then converted that  opt ion of  70% in to  a 

51% stake in LMT.    

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Was the other ent i ty that  you brought 

into the consort ium Pamodzi? 

MR SADIK :    That  is correct ,  Chai r.   

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Right .   Are you aware that  LMT,  in  fact ,  

wanted to br ing in  a di fferent  ent i ty as a BBBEE partner into 

the consort ium,  a company known as Beryl?  Are you aware 

of  that  and that  Denel  said no,  they wanted rather  to have 

Pamodzi .   Are you aware of  that? 10 

MR SADIK :    No,  Chair  I  am not  aware of  that .  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Right .   Now you then deal  in 

paragraphs 2.3 and 2.4 wi th an advance payment of  

R 5.7 mi l l ion re la t ing to the Malaysian Tarots Contract  in  

2011 and a R 378 mi l l ion loan by Denel  to LMT which was 

the total  of  var ious individual  loans.   In  respect  of  both,  you 

say you have no personal  knowledge of  these? 

MR SADIK :    That  is r ight  Chai r.   I t  happened when I  was not  

part  of  Denel  in any way.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Right .   Now.  Wel l ,  was the Malaysian 20 

t ransact ion not  dur ing your t ime?  I t  says in 2.3 that  that  

took place in July 2011.  

MR SADIK :    Sorry.   Chai r,  yes i t  was dur ing my t ime but  I  

have no knowledge of  that .  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Right .    
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MR SADIK :    Yes.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    And then the big amounts of  loans f rom 

Denel  to LMT.  Was that  af ter your t ime there? 

MR SADIK :    That  is correct .  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Okay.  

MR SADIK :    Yes.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Wel l ,  now let  us get  to the next  

t ransact ion which is deal t  wi th in paragraph 3 f rom page 14 

and that  is the Plat form Hul ls Contract  and as you point  out  

in 3.1.1.   VR Laser  was appointed wi th that  contract  in  2014 10 

to provide Plat form Hul ls.   Now you had al ready lef t  by that  

stage in 2012, correct? 

MR SADIK :    That  is correct ,  Chai r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    So as I  understand i t  Mr Sadik.   You do 

not  have personal  knowledge of  what went on but  what your  

aff idavi t  then goes on and then being requested by the 

invest igators to deal  wi th th is.   I t  goes on to deal  wi th what 

the BDO Report  then invest igated and made f indings on.   

And i t  is your aff idavi t ’s sect ion that  starts here.   A summary 

of  what comes out  of  the BDO Report .  20 

MR SADIK :    That  is correct ,  Chai r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Right .   Now did you say that  the BDO 

Report  has been accepted by the Audi t  Commit tee? 

MR SADIK :    That  is correct ,  Chai r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    And the Board of  Denel? 
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MR SADIK :    That  is also by the Board of  Denel .  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    And did they make certain f indings and 

recommendat ions? 

MR SADIK :    Yes,  Chai r  the report  d id make f ind ings and 

recommendat ions which the board has,  to a large extent ,  

have fol lowed through with  those f indings and 

recommendat ions.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Right .   Now can you indicate just  by 

way of  a br ief  summary because there has been evidence in  

re lat ion to what actual ly happened in th is contract .   And 10 

also,  the BDO Report  is an extensive report  which you have 

at tached.  In fact ,  can I  just  ask you please to look at  

page 61,  the f i rst  annexure to your aff idavi t?  

MR SADIK :    [No audible reply]   

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Is that  the f i rst  page of  the BDP 

Report? 

MR SADIK :    That  is correct ,  Chai r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    R ight .   And that  runs,  i t  seems, to 300 

pages and at tached to the 300 pages,  in turn,  a whole lot  of  

annexures.    20 

MR SADIK :    That  is correct ,  Chai r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Right .   Now can you just  summarise in  

a few sentences please for the Chair ’s assistance what the 

bot tom l ine is  of  the BDO Report ’s  f indings in relat ion to  

whether there was anything improper or unlawful  done in  
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re lat ion to the awarding of  the DLS contract  for Plat form 

Hul ls to VRL? 

MR SADIK :    Sure.   So,  Chair  there were three cont racts or 

three big cont racts that  were entered into wi th VR Laser,  

wi th the VR Laser Group.   One was the Plat form Hul ls 

Contract .    

 The others were two Memorandums of  Understanding.   

One of  the Memorandums of  Understanding was between 

Denel  Land Systems, which was a divis ion of  Denel  and the 

VR Laser Group.    10 

 And the other,  which was the subsidiary of  Denel  cal led 

DVS and there was a Memorandum of  Agreement between 

VR Laser Group and Denel  Vehicle Systems which we 

abbreviate as DVS.   

  So what the invest igat ion found is  that  al l  three of 

those contracts were i rregular.   That  they have not  fo l lowed 

proper process as speci f ied in terms of  Treasury Regulat ions 

and also in terms of  the company pol icy of  Denel .    

 And as a resul t  of  that ,  the report  f rom BDO had 

recommended that  pursue both c iv i l ,  cr iminal  and 20 

discipl inary act ion against  relevant  individuals in the 

company.    

ADV KENNEDY SC :    R ight .   Now when you say there was 

non-compl iance wi th the requirements of  Treasury 

Regulat ions and also Denel ’s own internal  processes,  does 
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that  relate to Supply Chain Management,  procurement 

requi rements of  law or does i t  involve other measures or  

both? 

MR SADIK :    Chai r,  I  th ink i t  probably would have been a 

whole host  of  regulat ions.   One in part icular was around 

Supply Chain non-compl iance.   I  th ink one may say i t  was 

also against  the Const i tut ion of  South Afr ica as wel l .    

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Yes.  

MR SADIK :    So i t  probably was larger than Supply Chain.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Right .   Now you then ment ion that  10 

act ion was recommended to br ing cr iminal  and civ i l  legal  

proceedings as wel l  as internal  discipl inary proceedings 

against  individuals.   Would that  be employees of  Denel? 

MR SADIK :    Chai r,  they were former employees of  Denel  

and there are some current  employees of  Denel  that  has 

been impl icated as wel l .  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Now i f  I  can take you please to page 

24? 

MR SADIK :    [No audible reply]   

ADV KENNEDY SC :    And here we are deal ing wi th the 20 

Hoefyster Plat form Hul ls Cont ract .    

MR SADIK :    Yes.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    We wi l l  get  to the other two contracts 

that  you have ment ioned in a moment.   You appear to be 

summarising f indings f rom the BDO Report  that  the closed 
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tender process and signing off  on the seven year contract  

was non-compl iant  wi th the pol icy stated above and i t  was 

i rregular expendi ture   

 And then you have referred to Mr Burger in part icular  in 

3.6.2.1.   He was the one who actual ly s igned the MOA 

notwithstanding having the knowledge that  the Group SCM 

Execut ive disapproved.    

 And then Mr Saloojee as the ul t imate approver of  the 

appointment  of  VR Laser.   Now has any act ion been taken 

against  these individuals at  the level  of  d iscip l inary act ion? 10 

MR SADIK :    Chai r,  no we have not  taken any discipl inary 

act ion because they no longer in the company.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Did they resign? 

MR SADIK :    Both of  them are. . .   Mr Burger did resign.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Yes.  

MR SADIK :    And I  th ink Mr Saloojee,  his cont ract  would 

have ended at  the t ime.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Yes.   In fact ,  he has given evidence to 

that  effect .   In fact ,  that  was by agreement that  he would 

then leave before the end of  his contract  but  would be paid 20 

out  for the balance of  the cont ract  or a port ion of  the 

balance.   Is that  r ight? 

MR SADIK :    Chai r,  I  have no knowledge of  that .  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Were you not  involved at  the t ime that  

that  was done? 
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MR SADIK :    No,  I  was not .  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Was that  done at  the t ime of  the board 

pr ior to the board on which you served under Ms Hlahla?  

Was i t  the pr ior board headed by Mr Mantsha as 

chairperson? 

MR SADIK :    That  is correct ,  Chai r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Right .   Now you ment ioned a lso the 

recommendat ion by BDO that  cr iminal  and civ i l  legal  act ion 

be taken.   Let  us deal  wi th the cr iminal  act ion f i rst .   3.6.3 

refers to act ion being taken by the current  Chief  Execut ive 10 

Off icer of  Denel .   Who was that  at  the t ime you signed this  

aff idavi t  at  the beginning of  February this year? 

MR SADIK :    I t  was Mr Daniel  du Toi t  who was at  the t ime 

the Group CEO of  Denel .  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    And he has since lef t .   Is that  r ight? 

MR SADIK :    That  is correct ,  Chai r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    And was i t  Mr Du Toi t  that  you then 

had replaced as inter im CEO since August? 

MR SADIK :    That  is correct ,  Chai r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Right .   So Mr Du Toi t ,  based on the 20 

recommendat ions of  the BDO Report ,  you say has taken 

act ion at  the level  of  a cr iminal  complaint  under POCA.  Is 

that  r ight?  The Prevent ion of  Organised Crime Act  in  

re lat ion to th is t ransact ion.   Is that  r ight? 

MR SADIK :    That  is correct ,  Chai r.  
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ADV KENNEDY SC :    Now are you aware of  that  because at  

the t ime the cr iminal  complaint  was la id,  were you then 

chair ing the Audi t  Commit tee of  Denel? 

MR SADIK :    That  is correct ,  Chai r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Right .   And have you in that  capaci ty 

or  s ince then as inter im or act ing Group CEO since 

Mr Du Toi t  lef t ,  are you st i l l  moni tor ing that  process? 

MR SADIK :    Chai r,  we are monitor ing i t ,  yes.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    And can you inform the Chair  f rom your 

own knowledge.  Has there been any progress in the pol ice 10 

invest igat ion and has any prosecut ion in fact  started to your  

knowledge? 

MR SADIK :    Not  to my knowledge but  there was a meet ing 

held between the NPA and the Hawks on this matter.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    And is Denel  cooperat ing wi th the 

Hawks in th is regard? 

MR SADIK :    That  is correct ,  Chai r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Right .  

MR SADIK :    Ja.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Now.  So you refer in 3.6.4 to the fact  20 

that  Burger and Saloojee had both lef t .   So i t  was not  

possible to take discipl inary act ion.   And then you refer in 

3.6.5 to the invest igat ion that  we ment ioned ear l ier.   Apart  

f rom BDO, you a lso have had the invest igat ion undertaken 

by ITI .   They are the defence experts.   Is that  r ight? 
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MR SADIK :    That  is correct ,  Chai r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    And that  report  is st i l l  not  f inal ised.  

MR SADIK :    That  is correct ,  Chai r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    And you indicated that  that  wi l l  

consider whether  or not  Denel  suffered any f inancial  loss 

f rom cont racts f rom VR Laser inc luding the Plat form Hul ls  

Contract .   So is  there invest igat ion current ly  underway.   

Does that  extent  beyond the Plat form Hul ls Cont ract  and 

look also at  the two single source,  s ingle supply contracts 

awarded by DLS and DVS? 10 

MR SADIK :    That  is correct ,  Chai r.   They are looking at  al l  

of  the deal ings between the Denel  Group and VR Laser to  

see whether the work could have been in-house.   And also,  i f  

i t  was outsourced,  you know, that  we pay fai r  market  related 

rates for that .    

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Right .   And then you have indicated 

that  i f  once that  invest igat ion is complete and you get  the 

report  f rom these experts,  ITI ,  that  may be able to establ ish 

whether or  not  you have actual ly suffered losses.   And i f  so,  

what sort  of  amount and wi l l  you take act ion,  potent ia l ly,  20 

based on the outcome of  that  report  once i t  comes? 

MR SADIK :    That  is  correct ,  Chai r.   And that  wi l l  form the 

basis for our civ i l  act ion.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    R ight .   Next  you deal  f rom page 26,  

paragraph 4 wi th another contract  that  you have ment ioned 
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br ief ly in passing ear l ier and that  is the MOA between DLS 

and VR Laser.   You ment ioned also ear l ier a Memorandums 

of  Understanding.    

 The Chai r  has heard evidence and there is  a  lo t  of  

documents before the Commission as wel l  which indicate 

that  in respect  of  that  th is t ransact ion,  there was in i t ia l ly a  

Memorandum of  Understanding and that  was later  converted 

into a Memorandum of  Agreement.   Is that  correct? 

MR SADIK :    That  is correct ,  Chai r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    And has the award and the conclusion 10 

of  that  contract ,  the MOA with VR Laser f rom DLS’ s ide,  has 

that  also been a subject  of  invest igat ion? 

MR SADIK :    That  is correct ,  Chai r.   That  was subject  to the 

BDO Invest igat ion.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    The BDO Invest igat ion? 

MR SADIK :    The BDO. 

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Sorry,  BDO? 

MR SADIK :    Yes.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    I  beg your pardon.   And you refer also 

to ITC Act  also looking at  aspects of  that .   Is that  correct? 20 

MR SADIK :    That  is correct ,  Chai r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Right .   Now this MOA speci f ica l ly was 

a cont ract  in terms of  which VR Laser was appointed as 

single suppl ier by DLS.  Is that  correct?  Is that  your 

understanding? 
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MR SADIK :    Yes,  that  is my understanding based on the 

BDO Report .  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Yes.   Was this for work over and above 

the Plat form Hul ls  Contract? 

MR SADIK :    I  would have assumed i t  is al l  the work that  

would have been required.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Right .  

MR SADIK :    Yes.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Now again,  th is was concluded, I  

bel ieve,  in 2015.   Is that  correct?   10 

MR SADIK :    That  is correct ,  Chai r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    And again,  you were not  involved,  

ei ther at  management or board level  of  Denel  at  that  stage.   

Is that  correct?   

MR SADIK :    That  is correct ,  Chai r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    So you cannot help us wi th facts that  

comes f rom your own personal  knowledge about what  

happened within Denel  wi th VR Laser  in re lat ion to th is  

t ransact ion? 

MR SADIK :    That  is correct ,  Chai r.  20 

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Now again,  is your knowledge of  

informat ion that  you set  out  f rom page 26,  based on what 

you have picked up f rom the BDO Report? 

MR SADIK :    That  is correct ,  Chai r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Right .   Now again,  may I  just  you to 



12 NOVEMBER 2020 – DAY 305 
 

Page 35 of 246 
 

just  in a sentence or two to indicate what your understanding 

is of  the bot tom-l ine of  the BDO Report  in respect  of  th is  

part icular t ransact ion,  the Single Suppl ier  MOA between DLS 

and VR Laser?  What were there overal l  f indings and 

recommendat ions? 

MR SADIK :    Chai r,  th is was a single source arrangement 

when there were other suppl iers that  could form something 

simi lar  in South Afr ica.   I t  was also qui te  a long cont ract  and 

. . . [ intervenes]   

ADV KENNEDY SC :    What was that  per iod? 10 

MR SADIK :    I t  was ten years.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Right .  

MR SADIK :    I  th ink.   Yes.   And the Head of  Supply Chain at  

the t ime, according to the BDO Report  had objected to  

enter ing into a long-term cont ract  wi th th is.   And the 

management at  the t ime went ahead and f inal ised the 

contract .  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Now you refer  on page 29,  paragraph 

4.6.1,  in fact ,  :   

“A passage f rom the BDO Report  which impl icates 20 

Mr Burger,  Mr Wessels and Mr Saloojee in relat ion 

to the recommendat ion and approval  of  the deal  in  

quest ion and this was done i rregular ly in  

contravent ion of  the provision of  the Nat ional  

Treasury Supply Chain Management Guide,  as wel l  
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as the Denel  Supply Chain Management document  

of  2014.    

I t  refers to a total  payment of  R 107 mi l l ion for in  

part icular f inancia l  years being i r regular expendi ture 

as def ined by the PFMA.”  

 So is th is what BDO found? 

MR SADIK :    That  is correct ,  Chai r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    And have you accepted this  part icular  

f inding of  the BDO Report? 

MR SADIK :    Yes,  we have.  10 

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Now in  addi t ion to Mr Burger,  

Mr Wessels and Mr Saloojee being impl icated by BDO in 

their  report  in the passage that  I  have just  quoted f rom.   

 You indicate in the next  paragraph 4.6.2 that  in DD(?)  

report  which we know was never  f inal ised,  has also ident i f ied 

other people who may have been – who are impl icated in  

i r regular i ty.   They too ident i fy Mr  Saloojee and Mr Burger.   

We see that  in 4.6.2.1 and 4.6.2.2.   Correct? 

MR SADIK :    That  is correct ,  Chai r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    And then i t  seems some addi t ional  20 

people that  were not  ident i f ied by BDO but  were ident i f ied in 

DD, the top of  page 31,  Mr Reenen Teubes.   Correct? 

MR SADIK :    That  is correct ,  Chai r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Mr Wessels had al ready been 

ment ioned by BDO but  in 4.6.2.5 in  DD also made f indings in  
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re lat ion to Zulake and Tshepe.  Correct? 

MR SADIK :    That  is correct ,  Chai r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    As wel l  as Mr Denise Govender,  the 

former Chief  Legal  Off icer.  

MR SADIK :    That  is correct ,  Chai r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Is that  r ight? 

MR SADIK :    Yes.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Now did BDO recommend that  Denel 

take any act ion,  such as discipl inary act ion,  cr iminal  

prosecut ion and civ i l  act ion ar is ing f rom the i r regular i t ies 10 

ident i f ied in rela t ion to th is MOA between DLS and VR 

Laser? 

MR SADIK :    Yes,  they did.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Was that  s imi lar  to  what  they had 

recommended in relat ion to the other  cont ract ,  then Plat form 

Hul ls Contract? 

MR SADIK :    That  is correct ,  Chai r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    And have you accepted that  

recommendat ion,  did you? 

MR SADIK :    Yes,  we have and we have acted on i t  by 20 

report ing i t  to the pol ice.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    By the report ing i t  to. . .?  

MR SADIK :    To the South Af r ican Pol ice Service.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    And do you know whether that  is st i l l  

being invest igated,  whether any progress has been made,  
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whether there is any prosecut ion? 

MR SADIK :    Chair,  we are ful ly cooperat ing wi th them.  We 

have a case number and there has been ongoing inquires 

and we have responded to that .  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Yes.   Did BDO also recommended you 

should take discip l inary act ion to the extent  i t  was possible? 

MR SADIK :    Yes,  they have.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    And was i t  in fact  possible  to take 

discipl inary act ion? 

MR SADIK :    We,  at  the moment,  are processing i t  and wi l l  10 

cont inue wi th that .    

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Now you say in 4.6.4 except  for  

Mr Teubes and Mr Douglas Masuku and Nkol is i  Makat in i .   

None of  the presidents referred to the reports are st i l l  in the 

employee of  Denel .   So presumably that  is why you have not  

discipl ined Mr Wessels or  Mr Burger al l  Mr Saloojee because 

they have lef t  the employ.  

MR SADIK :    That  is correct ,  Chai r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Is that  r ight? 

MR SADIK :    [No audible reply]   20 

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Yes.   But  what about  the people who 

are st i l l  in the employ,  Mr Teubes,  for example?  DD 

impl icated Mr Teubes in thei r  Provisional  draf t  repor t  which 

has not  been found the last .   Has any act ion being taken 

against  him thus far and is any act ion possible?  
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MR SADIK :    At  th is stage no act ion has been taken but  

act ion is possible and we intend to do that .   

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Right .   Of  course under the Labour 

law, one is required to br ing discip l inary proceedings qui te  

speedi ly.   I  don 't  want  you to argue any possible object ions 

that  might  be racing that  regard but  can you just  comment on 

why. . .    

 F i rst ly,  when did you receive the BDO report?  And why 

are you st i l l  in the process of  consider ing whether or not  to  

take discipl inary act ion against  Mr Teubes?  10 

MR SADIK :    Chai r,  the individuals that  have been ment ioned 

here refer to in the DD reports which was a draf t  report  and 

we need to,  you know, we were hoping to f inal ise that  report  

before we could take act ion.    In the BDO report ,  they have 

ident i f ied the individuals wi th Denel  but  they did not  speci fy  

these individuals.   

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Yes.    

MR SADIK :    So the reference here is f rom the draf t  in the 

DD Report .    

ADV KENNEDY SC :    I  have no doubt that  the c i t izens out  20 

there who know that  publ ic money is at  stake wi l l  be 

interested in the level  of  accountabi l i ty . . . [ intervenes]   

MR SADIK :    Yes.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    . . .on the par t  of  Denel ’s management  

and i ts board and people such as yoursel f .   are you able to 
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te l l  the Chai r  to what extent  you may be addressing these 

issues that  have ar isen f rom these var ious reports?  

MR SADIK :    We are addressing them to the extent  we can 

and we bel ieve we are making good progress but  these are 

the outstanding individuals that  we need to fol low through.  

With some of  them they were charged or they were 

al legat ions wi th  him on other  matters which we then 

concluded the invest igat ion on.   And some of  those 

individuals were c leared on those other matters.   So we wi l l  

now proceed with the next  stage.   10 

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Right .   You then deal  f rom page 33,  i t  

is qu i te a long sect ion in your paragraph 5 that  is  headed, 

the Armscor/Hoefyster  Cont ract .   and speci f ical ly the 

procurement process fol lowed in contract ing Pat r ia for  the 

usage of  th is Vehicle Plat form for the Hoefyster  vehicle 

var ious.   Was that  also the subject  of  invest igat ion by BDO 

or anyone else?  

MR SADIK :    Chair,  I t  wasn 't  real ly  an invest igat ion as such 

but  i t  is more the factual  s i tuat ion.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Right .   now you have set  out  in some 20 

detai l  the background and what  -  and you were asked 

speci f ic quest ions.   For example,  i f  I  can take you two page 

37,  paragraph 5.5?  Why DLS did not  send personnel  to  

Fin land f rom LMT and/or BAE But instead decided to 

capaci tate personnel,  et  cetera.   That  is the quest ion.   Who 
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ra ised that  quest ion?  Was that  a quest ion f rom the 

invest igators off  the Commission?  

MR SADIK :    From the Commission,  Chai r.   

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Right .   So you were asked to 

speci f ical ly deal  wi th these aspects?  

MR SADIK :    [No audible reply]   

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Now I  don 't  propose unless the chai r  

would di rect  me to.   I  do not  propose to go through this 

sect ion.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja,  i t  is not  real ly necessary because the 10 

report  is there.   

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Thank you,  Chai r.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    May we then turned to what seems to 

requi re some focus at  page 46 and that  is your paragraph 6 

and that  is the Denel ’s acquisi t ion of  al l  LSSA, BAE.  Now 

known as Denel ’s Vehicle Systems, a divis ion of  Denel .    

 Now there is some evidence in  relat ion to  th is  

t ransact ion previously.   as I  understand i t  and please correct  

me i f  I 'm wrong in my summary.   As I  understand i t ,  BAE is  20 

the Br i t ish defence ent i ty.   Correct? 

MR SADIK :    That  is correct ,  Chai r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    and i t  earned a local  ent i ty that  was 

referred to as Land Systems South Afr ica.  

MR SADIK :    That  is correct ,  Chai r.   
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ADV KENNEDY SC :    Because i t  is a South Afr ican 

subsidiary.  

MR SADIK :    That  is correct ,  Chai r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Involved in defence i tem manufacture.   

is that  r ight?  

MR SADIK :    Yes,  that  is correct .  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    And BAE then sold i ts shares in LSSA 

to the Denel  holding company.   Is that  r ight?  

MR SADIK :    That  is correct ,  Chai r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Was that  hearing your  10 year as 10 

Group CEO? 

MR SADIK :    I t  was not  Char.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    When did i t  take place?  

MR SADIK :    I t  took place dur ing 2014 and 2015.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    R ight .   So again,  are you simply 

providing informat ion to the Commission at  i ts invest igators’ 

request  and you do so on the basis of  what you have been 

able to glean f rom the report  of  those who invest igated i t?  

MR SADIK :    That  is correct ,  Chai r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Right .   Now who has been 20 

invest igat ing that?  

MR SADIK :    There was a f i rm cal led Dentons.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Right .    

MR SADIK :    Dentons Forensic Invest igators had 

invest igated that  acquisi t ion.  
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ADV KENNEDY SC :    Now you ment ion Dentons r ight  in the 

beginning offer  evidence when wi l l  refer to the reports  al l  

var ious ent i t ies and you ment ioned that  Dentons had given 

an inter im report  or a draf t  report  and that  that  has now been 

supplanted by f inal  report .   Is that  the Reporter received on 

the Tuesday?  

MR SADIK :    That  is correct ,  Chai r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Right .   So your aff idavi t ,  as I  

understand i t ,  ref lects a summary that  you have made of  the 

broad f indings and recommendat ions of  Dentons in the 10 

inter im draught report .  

MR SADIK :    That  is correct ,  Chai r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Is that  r ight?  

MR SADIK :    Yes.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Now are you wi l l ing to make avai lable 

to the Commission i f  i t  requires i t ,  the f inal  report  of  

Dentons? 

MR SADIK :    Yes,  Chai r.   The Board at  i ts review session on 

Tuesday agreed that  a f inal  report  should be forwarded to 

the Commission.   20 

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Right .   I f  you could please arrange for 

that  to be done i f  i t  hasn 't  been done yet .   

MR SADIK :    [No audible reply]   

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Now we don't  have that  report  in f ront  

of  us now.   I  do not  th ink we necessari ly  have to  because 
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hopeful ly you can assist  the Commission.   have you been 

through that  f inal  report?  

MR SADIK :    Yes,  I  have been through the f inal  report  Chai r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    And had you previously gone through 

the inter im report  which is summarised in your aff idavi t?  

MR SADIK :    That  is correct ,  Chai r.   I  have,  yes.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Right .   We are going to look at  the. .   

We are going to  ask you in a moment for you to summarise 

the broad f indings and recommendat ions f rom the inter im 

report .   Are you able to te l l  the chai r  whether the f ina l  report  10 

in substant ia l  mater ia l  ways di ffers f rom the inter im report?  

MR SADIK :    Chair,  I t  does not .   Probably 95% is what was 

in the f inal  report .   Sorry.   That  was in the draf t .  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Yes.   Is  there anything in the f inal  

report  that  deviates in any mater ia l  way f rom your  summary 

of  the inter im report  in your aff idavi t?  

MR SADIK :    Not  in a mater ia l  way Chai r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Right .   Now can you please summarise 

for the chair  p lease the broad f ind ings and recommendat ions 

that  come out  f rom both the inter im and the f inal  report  of  20 

Dentons?  

MR SADIK :    Chai r,  th is Invest igat ion deal t  wi th the 

acquisi t ion of  Land System South Af r ica by Denel .   the 

shareholding based in Land System South Afr ica was BAE, 

which on the major i ty stake.    
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 And there was a local  consort ium cal led DG BGD 

Technologies that  owned a minori ty stake.   Denel  Acqui red 

this company for about  R 855 mi l l ion.    

 And the f indings f rom the Dentons report  is  that  we have 

not  fu l ly compl ied wi th the approvals that  we have received 

f rom the min ister  in terms of  the condi t ions and in one 

part icular condi t ion related to the funding arrangements off  

the t ransact ions become more onerous wi l l  become onerous 

to Denel .    

 Denel  had to revert  to the minister to inform the minis ter  10 

on the changing of  the funding mechanism And that  did not  

happen.  So the big part  of  the Dentons Report  focused 

around compl iance issues to the PFMA.   

 They also looked at  the st rategic rat ionale of  the  

acquisi t ion and they looked at  the evaluat ion of  the 

business.    Under compl iance a t  the  t ime Min i s te r  Brown 

was the  Pub l ic  Enterp r ises  Min i s te r  and her  v iew –  and  

Min is te r  Nene,  I  th ink  was the  F inance Min is te r  a t  the  t ime  

and the  cond i t ion  tha t  was put  on  is  tha t  we were  –  Dene l  

had acqu i red  Land Systems South  A f r i ca  th rough two loans  20 

tha t  were  ar ranged.    

One was w i th  Nedbank and the  o ther  was w i th  ABSA 

and in  the  or ig ina l  PFMA app l ica t ion  the  PFMA app l ica t ion  

process s ta ted  tha t  the  loan w i th  Nedbank w i l l  be  a  f i ve  

year  loan but  in  fac t  once the  acqu is i t ion  was busy be ing  
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conc luded Nedbank had changed  the  loan te rms  to  f i ve 

months ,  as  a  b r idg ing  f inance.    

So tha t  was qu i te  a  substant ia l  change in  the  

fund ing  ar rangement  and in  te rms o f  the  cond i t ions  tha t  

Dene l  had rece ived in  the  PFMA we had reve r t  to  the  

m in is te rs  on  the  change,  wh ich  we  had not  done.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Now d id  –  i f  I  can  take  you to  page  

59,  parag raph 68.18.   You re fer  in  your  summary o f  the  

Dentons ’ –  the  in te r im Dentons ’ repor t  to  a  f ind ing  by  

Dentons tha t  Mr  Sa loo jee  and Mr  Mhlont l o  were  10 

respons ib le  fo r  these nond isc losu res  and in  par t i cu la r  Mr  

Mhlont lo  as  the  then Group CFO appears  to  have been  

pr imar i l y  respons ib le  fo r  tha t .    

Now has any ac t i on  been taken aga ins t  Mr  Sa loo jee  

or  Mr  Mhlont lo  in  tha t  regard?  

MR SADIK:    So  Cha i r,  now tha t  we have seen –  we have 

noted the  repor t  a t  the  board ,  i t  has  been re fer red  to  aud i t  

and r i sk  commi t tee  fo r  the  remedia l  ac t ion  to  be  taken.   We 

have ins t ruc ted  sen io r  counse l  to  rev iew the  repor t  and to  

adv ise  the  board  accord ing ly.  20 

ADV KENNEDY SC:    They,  o f  course ,  we know have le f t  

the  employ  o f  Dene l  some t ime back a f te r  they were  

charged but  u l t imate ly  no  d isc ip l ined fo r  var ious  o ther  

a l legat ions,  so  they cannot  be  d isc ip l ined now because 

they have long s ince  le f t ,  cor rec t?  
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MR SADIK:    They are  no  longer  in  the  organ isa t ion .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Yes.   You have ment ioned tha t  you 

were  tak ing  sen io r  counse l ’s  adv i ce .    You re fer  a t  page 60  

in  your  pa ragraph 682,  r igh t  a t  the  end o f  your  a f f idav i t ,  

jus t  above where  you s igned i t ,  you  say:  

“The board  has taken lega l  adv ice  about  recovery  o f  

any f inanc ia l  p re jud ice  su f fe red  as  a  resu l t  o f  the  

conduct  o f  the  o ff i c ia ls  ident i f ied .   Dene l  i s  ye t  to  

de termine whether  and i f  so  how much f inanc ia l  

p re jud ice  has been caused to  Dene l .   I t  i s  when i t  i s  10 

de termined what  amounts  are  recoverab le  f rom the  

imp l ica ted  ind i v idua ls  tha t  Dene l  w i l l  ins t i tu te  such 

recovery  lega l  p rocess as  is  appropr ia te . ”  

Now tha t ,  o f  course ,  was your  a f f idav i t  as  a t  the  9  February  

2020.   Has there  been any update  to  repor t  to  the  Cha i r  o f  

th is  Commiss ion  as  to  whether  Dene l  has s ince  determined 

whethe r  you have su f fe red  f inanc ia l  p re jud ice  and  i f  so ,  

how much?  

MR SADIK:    Cha i r,  in  the  f ina l  Dentons ’ repor t  i t  h igh l igh t s  

the  in te res t  d i f fe ren t ia l  dur ing  the  br idg ing  loan dura t ion  so  20 

tha t  has been inc luded in  the  f ina l  repor t  bu t  we are   -  we 

are  go ing  to  be  engag ing  w i th  sen ior  counse l  who r igh t  now 

has been ins t ruc ted  and to  go  th rough –  some o f  i t  has  

been reputa t iona l  damage tha t  Dene l  has su f fe red  

espec ia l l y  w i th  the  bankers  tha t  were  prov id ing  the  loans  
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to  the  company and a lso  the  way we funded the  

t ransact ions  So we w i l l  go  th rough tha t  p rocess,  so  i t  i s  

s t i l l  i n  p rogress.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   My a t ten t ion  is  d i rec ted  to  an  aspect  

wh ich  I  went  th rough qu i te  qu ick ly  to  do  w i th  the  LMT 

prepayment .   I f  I  can  take  you back to  page 11.   What  you 

have sa id  in  your  a f f idav i t  a t  page 11 paragraph 214  is :  

“The dec is ion  to  make an advance  payment  to  LMT 

was made in  recogn i t ion  o f  cash l i qu id i t y  cha l lenges 

tha t  LMT was exper ienc ing  a t  the  t ime and tak ing  10 

in to  account  the  impor tance o f  LMT,  the  loca l i sed  

par tner  o f  Pat r ia ,  the  t imeous de l i very  o f  Hoefys ter  

m i les tones. ”  

I  wou ld  jus t  l i ke  to  c la r i f y,  you used the  te rm ear l ie r  tha t  i t  

was the  norm a t  Dene l  and in  the  indust ry  fo r  advance 

payments  to  be  made such as  th is .   P resumably  i f  i t  was  

t ru ly  a  norm tha t  was un i fo rm ly  app l ied  i t  wou ld  no t  depend  

on whether  LMT had f inanc ia l  cha l lenges whether  you  

might  be  vu lnerab le  i f  they  were  de layed by  anyth ing ,  you 

wou ld  au tomat ica l l y  g ive  them an advance payment .    20 

Am I  r igh t  in  unders tand ing  tha t  i t  happened  

f requent ly,  as  you to ld  the  Cha i r  ear l ie r,  bu t  no t  

au tomat ica l l y?   I s  tha t  r igh t?  

MR SADIK:    I t  genera l l y  wou ld  have happened  

automat ica l l y  because in  the  cond i t ions  one wou ld  say a  
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percentage as  an  advance payment  to  a  cont rac t  and the  

reason why th is  i s  h igh l igh ted  in  the  way i t  i s ,  i s  tha t  we  

had made ava i lab le  the  advance payment  w i thout  a  p roper  

bank guarantee.   That  was outs ide  o f  the  norm.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    R igh t .   And then in  217,  a t  the  foo t  o f  

th is  page:  

“The payment  to  LMT was in tended to  pay i t s  

bus iness cr i t i ca l  c red i to rs  to  ensure  LMT cont inued  

to  opera te  as  a  go ing-concern .   To  tha t  end DLS put  

in  p lace  measures tha t  mon i to red  the  app l i ca t ion  or  10 

use o f  cash by  LMT wi th  a  v iew to  ensur ing  tha t  the  

money was not  app l ied  o ther  than  fo r  the  in tended 

purpose. ”  

I s  tha t  cor rec t?  

MR SADIK:    Tha t  i s  cor rec t .  

CHAIRPERSON:    I  am sor ry,  tha t  seems to  convey to  me  

someth ing  a  l i t t le  d i f fe ren t  f rom what  I  be l ieve  you sa id  

ear l ie r  on .   The payment  to  LMT,  tha t  i s  s t i l l  a  re fe rence to  

the  advance payment ,  i s  i t  no t?   Or  no t?  

MR SADIK:    I t  i s  the  advance payment ,  Cha i r.  20 

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

“ . . .was in tended  to  pay i t s  bus iness c r i t i ca l  

c red i to rs  to  ensure  LMT cont inued to  opera te  as  a  

go ing-concern . ”  

That  seems to  me to  say the  purpose o f  the  advance 



12 NOVEMBER 2020 – DAY 305 
 

Page 50 of 246 
 

payment  was to  enab le  LMT to  address i t s  f inanc ia l  

d i f f i cu l t ies  invo lv ing  i t s  c red i to rs .  

MR SADIK:    Cha i r  i t  was on the  back o f  a  cont rac t  tha t  we 

had entered in to  w i th  LMT and we had pa id  them a  25%.   

What  we used to  –  what  we d id  no t  do ,  Cha i r,  i s  we d id  no t  

spec i fy  when we  gave a  company  a  cont rac t  to  use i t  fo r  

the  par t i cu la r  cont rac t .   So genera l l y  the  funds  o f  the  

supp l ie r  wou ld  have been poo led  in to  the  overa l l  cash  

resources.  

CHAIRPERSON:    When you say what  you have jus t  sa id  10 

now,  a re  you ta l k ing  in  genera l  tha t  whenever  you made 

advance payments  to  any supp l ie r  i t  was not  spec i f ied  in  

the  cont rac t  fo r  what  purpose tha t  payment  was to  be  

made?  

MR SADIK:    Tha t  i s  cor rec t ,  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    That  i s  what  you  say?  

MR SADIK:    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Which  in  one way a t  one leve l  cou ld  be  

in te rpre ted  as  mean ing  tha t  the  supp l ie r  was f ree  to  use i t  

in  whatever  way.   I s  tha t  a  fa i r  in te rpre ta t ion?  Cou ld  tha t  20 

be  a  fa i r  in te rp re ta t ion?  

MR SADIK:    Tha t  i s  cor rec t ,  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Now tha t  i s  ra ther  s t range to  me  

because whenever  one ta l ks  o f  an  advance payment  in  the  

contex t  o f  two pa r t ies  do ing  bus iness such as  wou ld  be  the  
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case,  I  wou ld  imag ine ,  w i th  an  SOE and a  supp l ie r,  I  have  

a lways thought  tha t  the  advance payment  –  the  purpose o f  

the  advance payment  i s  to  ass is t  the  supp l ie r  in  car ry ing  

ou t  o r  honour ing  i t s  ob l iga t ions under  the  cont rac t .    

An example ,  the  supp l ie r  under takes in  te rms o f  the  

cont rac t  i t  conc ludes w i th  Dene l  to  de l i ve r  a  cer ta in  

p roduct  to  acqu i re  and de l i ver  cer ta in  p roduct  to  Dene l  by  

a  cer ta in  da te .   That  p roduct  i s  very  expens ive  and 

there fo re  i t  i s  ag reed between Dene l  and the  supp l ie r  tha t  

a t  leas t  g ive  me so  much in  advance,  an  advance payment ,  10 

no t  the  who le  amount ,  bu t  i t  i s  go ing  to  – the  in ten t ion  is  to  

ass is t  i t ,  the  supp l ie r,  in  buy ing  the  product  o r  mak ing  the  

product ,  i f  they  are  supposed to  manufac ture  a  product ,  i t  

i s  no t  supposed to  –  tha t  advance payment  i s  no t  meant  to  

be  used by  the  supp l ie r  fo r  o the r  th ings and then fa i l  to  

de l i ver  in  te rms o f  the  cont rac t  so  tha t  tha t  wou ld  be  my – 

tha t  i s  my unders tand ing  o f  what  the  purpose  o f  an  

advance payment  i s  in  those  cases where  i t  takes p lace  

but  f rom what  you say,  w i th  Dene l ,  w i th  regard  to  the  

advance payments  tha t  i t  used to  be  invo l ved in  tha t ,  tha t  20 

was not  necessar i l y  the  purpose,  i s  tha t  cor rec t?  

MR SADIK:    That  i s  co r rec t ,  Cha i r,  and jus t  to  expand o f  

tha t .   I t  was a  s im i la r  po l i cy  w i th  the  advance payments  

tha t  we rece ived  f rom our  customers  where  we had put  i t  

in to  a  poo l  account  and then we w i l l  dec ide  how to  use the  
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cash and tha t  has been one o f  the  lessons we have now 

learn t ,  you know,  because i f  you l ook a t  where  Dene l  f inds  

i t se l f  today,  we have used advance payments  tha t  we have  

rece ived f rom our  customers  fo r  o ther  pu rposes as  we l l  to  

fund our  genera l  work ing  cap i ta l  o r  to  fund acqu is i t ions ,  

e tce te ra .  

 So,  fo r  ins tance,  i f  you  look  a t  the  LSSA 

acqu is i t ion ,  there  we had used an advanced payment  under  

Hoefys ter  p ro jec t  to  fund tha t  t ransact ion ,  to  repay the  

loan tha t  the  bank had p rov ided.   So tha t  i s  the  lessons 10 

learn t  in  te rms o f  the  tu rnaround tha t  we are  busy w i th  

r igh t  now,  i s  to  pu t  in  more  s t ronger  measures a round tha t .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Wel l ,  i t  seems to  –  and you must  te l l  me 

whethe r  you do not  agree,  i t  seems to  me tha t  i t  shou ld  be  

i l l eg i t imate  to  make and advance payment  on  the  

unders tand ing  tha t  the  supp l ie r  can use tha t  money fo r  

whatever  they l i ke .  

MR SADIK:    Ja .  

CHAIRPERSON:    I f  I  am go ing  –  i f  you  are  Dene l  and we  

enter  i n to  cont rac t ,  I  must  manufac tu re  someth ing  fo r  you 20 

and you g ive  me an advance payment  and I  go  and buy a  

n ice  Porsche or  BMW wi th  tha t  money,  does not  look  

leg i t imate .  

MR SADIK:    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Wou ld  you agree?  Why must  I  –  I  must  



12 NOVEMBER 2020 – DAY 305 
 

Page 53 of 246 
 

wa i t  and work  fo r  my money,  ge t  pa id ,  then I  can buy my  

Porsche or  whatever.  

MR SADIK:    Ja ,  I  abso lu te ly  ag ree w i th  you,  Cha i r.   I  

s tand to  be  cor rec ted  but  I  th ink  leg is la t i ve l y  we p robab ly  

need to  t igh ten  tha t  up  a  b i t  more .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.   Because imag ine  i f  you  take  

taxpayers ’ money  and g ive  me and  advance payment  and I  

do  exact ly  tha t ,  go  and buy a  Porsche or  whatever  

expens ive  ca r,  the  next  th ing ,  when I  am supposed to  

de l i ver,  in  te rms o f  the  cont rac t  I  cannot  de l i ver  because I  10 

do  not  have money anymore  or  tha t  k ind  o f  –  and ye t  you 

had g iven me advance payment .   You unders tand? 

MR SADIK:    I  fu l l y  agree w i th  you,  Cha i r,  and th is  i s  one 

o f  the  issues tha t  our  cur ren t  board  has.  

CHAIRPERSON:    yes .  

MR SADIK:    You know,  in  te rms  o f  tu rn ing  around.   I t  i s  

no t  on ly  advance payments  tha t  we rece ive ,  Cha i r,  o r  

make,  i t  i s  a lso  payments  tha t  we rece ived f rom our  cuss  

r igh t  now.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  20 

MR SADIK:    So  what  we have recent ly  done,  Cha i r,  i s  that  

we have sa id  -  fo r  ins tance,  one o f  our  –  an  essent ia l  

serv i ce  we prov ide  is  to  the  a i r  fo rce .   So the  a i r  fo rce  

pays us  on  a  regu lar  bas i s .   So we have now r i ng  fenced  

the  cash tha t  we have rece ived f rom the  a i r  fo rce  to  use i t  
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o r  resources tha t  i s  requ i red  to  execute  the  a i r  fo rce ’s  

cont rac t .   Unt i l  recent ly  we d id  no t  do  tha t .   We were  

poo l ing  the  funds.   So now we are  a l so  –  we a re  go ing  

fu r ther  than jus t  advance payments ,  i t  i s  a lso  regu lar  

payments  tha t  we rece ived f rom our  customers  to  ensure  

tha t  they are  be ing  used fo r  the  cont rac t  o f  tha t  cus tomer.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  okay.   Mr  Kennedy?  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Thank you,  Cha i r.   I f   I  may,  Mr  

Sad ik ,  conc lude your  ev idence by  ra is ing  an  issue wh ich  is  

no t  dea l  w i th  in  your  a f f idav i t ,  i t  was on ly  ra ised in  the  10 

a f f idav i t s  o f  o thers ,  in  par t i cu la r  Mr  Burger  and  he has  

re fer red  to  the  fac t  tha t  you par t i c ipa ted  in  te lev is ion  

in te rv iews I  be l ieve  on two occas ions,  i s  tha t  cor rec t?  

MR SADIK:    Tha t  i s  cor rec t ,  Cha i r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Jus t  ident i f y  fo r  the  Cha i r  p lease  

what  the  two TV s ta t ions were?  

MR SADIK:    One was on eNCA and the  o ther  was  on the  

SABC Morn ing  L ive .   On the  eNCA i t  was a  programme 

ca l led  The F i x .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    The F i x ,  i s  tha t  w i th  the  j ourna l i s t  20 

Kar ima Brown? 

MR SADIK:    Tha t  i s  cor rec t ,  Cha i r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Now Mr  Burger  has compla ined about  

those in te rv iews and pa r t i cu la r ly  t he  one on the  f i x .   Jus t  

te l l  the  Cha i r  p lease how i t  came about  tha t  you were  
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in te rv iewed?  

MR SADIK:   Cha i r,  we had  made a  pa r l iamentary  

presenta t ion  p rov id ing  an  update  on  a l l  o f  the  

invest iga t ions tha t  we were  busy w i th  and th is  in  pa r t i cu la r  

dea l t  w i th  the  crea t ion  o f  Dene l  As ia  and  the  VR Laser  

Group as  we l l .   

ADV KENNEDY SC:    D id  you so l i c i t  the  in te rv iew or  d id  

the  TV s ta t ions contac t  you?  

MR SADIK:    We were  contac ted  by  the  med ia .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    R igh t ,  now what  essent ia l l y  d id  you 10 

say on  eNCA?   

MR SADIK:    On eNCA,  Cha i r,  the  focus o f  the  d i scuss ions  

was around the  t ransact ions w i th  the  VR Laser  Group and  

Dene l  As ia  and the  po in t  we had s ta ted  as  tha t  based on  

the  invest iga t ions we had comple ted  wh ich  was the  BDO 

invest iga t ion .   Those cont rac ts  w i th  Dene l  were  found to  be  

i r regu lar  and the  recommendat ion  f rom BDO,  one o f  i t  was  

to  pursue –  a  coup le ,  was to  pursue c i v i l  and cr im ina l  

ac t ions aga ins t  the  ind iv idua ls  and tha t  i s  wha t  I  had 

s ta ted  in  tha t  in te rv iew and then the  o ther  quest ion  I  was 20 

asked la te r  on  in  the  in te rv iew was who was on the  board  

o f  Dene l  As ia  and on the  board  o f  Dene l  As ia  I  made the  

comment  tha t  there  were  f rom the  Dene l  s ide  i t  was Mr  

Burger  and Mr  N tshepe.   A t  the  t ime Mr  Burger  was the  

CEO of  DLS and  Mr  Ntshepe was  the  Group CEO at  the  



12 NOVEMBER 2020 – DAY 305 
 

Page 56 of 246 
 

t ime and on the  Dene l  As ia  s ide  represent ing  the  o the r  

shareho lder  in  Dene l  As ia  i t  was Mr  van der  Merwe and Mr  

S ingha la .    

I  made the  po in t  tha t  Mr  van de r  Merwe was –  I  was  

not  sure  whether  he  was s t i l l  the  cur ren t  o r  fo rmer  lega l  

adv iser  o f  the  Gupta  fami ly  and I  had a lso  s ta ted  in  tha t  

in te rv iew tha t  the  o ther  sha reho lder  in  Dene l  As ia  was a  

company ca l led  VR Laser  As ia  and these were  Hong Kong  

based compan ies  and the  hundred  percent  sha reho lder  o f  

VR Laser  As ia  was Mr  Sa l im Essa.  10 

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Now Mr  Burger  has in  two sec t ions o f  

h is  a f f idav i t  a l leged tha t  you  were  m is lead ing  and  

defamatory  in  what  you sa id  in  these in te rv iews,  tha t  i t  was 

unt rue .   He has exp la ined a t  some length  in  h is  a f f idav i t  

and he i s  go ing  to  be  g iv ing  ev idence as  our  next  w i tness,  

so  we w i l l  be  dea l ing  w i th  tha t ,  bu t  he  has g iven h is  

vers ion  as  to  why  he says the  var ious t ransact ions dea l ing  

w i th  VR Laser  bo th  loca l l y  in  the  DLS agreements  and a lso  

the  VR Laser  As ia  and the  Dene l  As ia  venture ,  why a l l  o f  

those were  above board  and lawfu l .   But  what  he  has a id  20 

is ,  no t  on ly  tha t  you were  de faming h im by say ing  tha t  he  

had improper l y  and un lawfu l l y,  tha t  one o f  the  main  po in ts  

he  seems to  make is  th is .   I  am not  go ing  to  take  you to  

the  a f f idav i t ,  I  am jus t  go ing  to  read out  a  few words tha t  

he  uses,  tha t  he  says these a l legat ions –  he  cons iders  
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these a l legat ions  to  be  de famatory  m is lead ing  a lbe i t  par t  

o f  a  popu la r  and  ye t  i r respons ib le  nar ra t i ve  in  wh ich  i t  is  

suggested tha t  Dene l  was the  sub jec t  o f  s ta te  captu re .   I f  I  

may jus t  have a  moment ,  Cha i r?    

Jus t  fo r  the  reco rd  may I  jus t  p lace  on record  tha t  

a l legat ion  is  made in  Mr  Burger ’s  a f f idav i t  in  Dene l  bund le ,  

vo lume 10,  page 611,  pa ragraph 11 and la te r  in  h is  

a f f idav i t  a t  page 642 o f  the  same bund le ,  Mr  Burger  says 

aga in :  

“ I  have p rev ious l y  aver ted  to  the  s ta tement  made by  10 

Mr  Sad ik…”  

And tha t ,  in  i t s  contex t ,  i s  the  s ta tement  you made  in  the 

te lev is ion  in te rv iews.  

“…that  Dene l  has dec ided to  law  cr im ina l  cha rges  

aga ins t  cer ta in  i nd iv idua ls  and w i l l  a lso  ins t i tu te  

c iv i l  ac t ion  in  o rder  to…”  

Sor ry,  reco rd ,  i t  says ,  p resumably  means recover.  

“…monies  and losses su f fe red  by  Dene l . ”  

And th is  i s  the  po in t  I  want  to  ra ise  fo r  you r  a t ten t ion  and 

rep l y  p lease,  Mr  Sad ik .    He says:  20 

“ I t  i s  no  smal l  co inc idence tha t  Mr  Sa loo jee  was not  

ment ioned by  name dur ing  the  i n te rv iew wi th  Ms 

Kar ima Brown on  the  te lev is ion  p rogramme The F ix  

on  the  4  August  2019.   Th is  i s ,  o f  course ,  because  

Sa loo jee  t rumpets  the  popu lar  na r ra t i ve . ”  
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Now,  Mr  Sad ik ,  I  am go ing  to  ask  you to  comment  on  tha t  

bu t  be fore  I  g ive  you tha t  oppor tun i ty  I  jus t  want  to  ind ica te  

to  the  overa l l  th read o f  Mr  Burger ’s  a f f idav i t  in  th is  regard ,  

as  we unders tand i t .   He e f fec t i ve ly  i s  say ing  to  the  Cha i r  

o f  th is  Commiss ion  tha t  the  a l legat ions o f  s ta te  capture  

re la t ing  to  Dene l  Land Systems in  wh ich  he  was CEO and 

he a l so  had some ro le  in  re la t i on  to  DVS,  to  a  l im i ted 

ex ten t  as  we l l ,  bu t  a l l  o f  these a l legat ions tha t  had been  

ra ised about  i r regu la r i t y  have got  no th ing  to  do  w i th  s ta te  

capture ,  i t  has  no th ing  to  do  w i th  any improper  re la t ionsh ip  10 

between VR Laser  and the  Guptas  and improper  

re la t ionsh ip  be tween them and anybody a t  Dene l ,  inc lud ing  

h imse l f ,  and in  fac t ,  as  I  unders tand h is  ev idence –  and we 

w i l l  be  ask ing  h im quest ions about  th is  –  he  seems to  be  

suggest ing  th is ,  tha t  the  a l legat ions o f  s ta te  capture  are  

ra ised as  a  s t ra tagem,  as  a  ruse,  as  a  pre tex t  to  t ry  and 

def lec t  a t ten t ion  f rom the  rea l  reasons fo r  Dene l  be ing  in            

such a  se r ious opera t iona l  and f inanc ia l  c r i s is  and tha t  was  

bad dec i s ion -mak ing  and bad management  o f  Dene l  by  

those respons ib le  o ther  than Mr  Burger  and tha t  peop le  are  20 

t ry ing  to  avo id  respons ib i l i t y,  peop le  such as  Mr  Sa loo jee  

h imse l f .    

So  he say ing  tha t  when you made these s ta tements  

on  te lev is ion  in  the  in te rv iews and re fer red  pa r t i cu la r ly  to  

the  Gupta  connect ion  tha t  you were  par t  o f  a  campaign by  
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peop le  a t  Dene l  to  t ry  wrong ly  to  b lame the  prob lems be ing  

faced by  Dene l  re la t ing  to  non-comple t ion  o f  p ro jec ts  such 

as  Hoefys te r,  ser ious f inanc ia l  p rob lems in  wh ich  you have  

been,  and s t i l l  a re ,  seek ing  ba i lou ts  f rom government ,  tha t  

a l l  o f  th is  i s  jus t  a  p re tex t  and i t  seems tha t  he  is  

suggest ing  tha t  you are  a  par t  o f  th is  and suggest ing  in  

par t i cu la r  tha t  you are  pro tec t ing  Mr  Sa loo jee  by  the  fac t  

tha t  you d id  no t  re fe r  to  h im by name but  you re fe r red  to  

o thers .    

Now tha t  i s  fa i r l y  long quest ion  bu t  I  th ink  you  10 

unders tand i t  was necessary  fo r  me to  pu t  tha t  in  contex t .   

Can you p lease te l l  the  Cha i r  whe ther  the  cr i t i c i sm  o f  you 

is  va l id  o r  no t?  

MR SADIK:    Ja .   I  th ink ,  Cha i r,  i t  i s  rea l l y  un for tunate  to  

hear  these po in t  be ing  made by  a  sen ior  execut ive  o f  the 

company.   I  mean,  qu i te  c lear ly,  look ing  a t  the 

thoroughness o f  the  BDO repor t ,  wh ich  we regard  as  be ing  

very  thorough and you wou ld  see there  was a  b la tan t  

d is regard ,  no t  on ly  the  company po l i c ies  w i th in  Dene l  bu t  

fo r  the  broader  South  A f r i can leg is la t i ve  env i ronment  as  20 

we l l .   And,  as  a  s ta te  owned company,  we shou ld  have  

been fa r  more  respons ib le .   So i t  i s  rea l l y  very  un for tunate  

and i t  i s  rea l l y  sad to  be  hear ing  these sor t  o f  comments ,  

you know,  because when one is  in  a  leadersh ip  pos i t ion  

you ac tua l l y  need to  take  accountab i l i t y  fo r  you r  ac t ions 



12 NOVEMBER 2020 – DAY 305 
 

Page 60 of 246 
 

a round tha t .  

 And,  as  you know,  Cha i r,  I  mean the  p l igh t  o f  Dene l  

r igh t  now i s  very  pub l i c ,  you know,  we are  l os ing  a  lo t  o f  

sk i l l s  in  the  company and i t  i s  because o f  the  f inanc ia l  

cha l lenges we f ind  ourse lves and rea l l y,  i t  i s  the  f inanc ia l l y  

cha l lenges tha t  as  a  resu l t  o f  the  poor  leadersh ip  tha t  we  

have had in  p lace ,  tha t  we are  no t  s t rong enough.    

 S ta te  capture  de f in i te ly  made a  cont r ibu t ion ,  a  

s ign i f i can t  cont r ibu t ion  to  the  reputa t ion  issues tha t  we are  

su f fe r i ng ,  no t  on l y  loca l l y  bu t  g loba l l y  as  we l l  because we 10 

opera te  in  many  count r ies  ac ross the  g lobe.   And a lso  

loca l l y  w i th  ou r  lenders  because  i t  has  made them ve ry  

nervous to  be  assoc ia ted  w i th  Dene l  and to  be  prov id ing  

fund ing  as  one s takeho lde r.   There  has been a  range o f  

s takeho lders .    

 So coming back  to  the  in te rv iew on eNCA,  the  

quest ion  tha t  I  was asked a t  the  beg inn ing  is  tha t  can I  

name ind iv idua ls  and a t  tha t  s tage because i t  was in  a 

pub l i c  p la t fo rm and these repor ts  were  s t i l l  i n  p rocess,  we 

d id  no t  d isc lose  any names and I  d id  no t .   But  the  d i rec t  20 

quest ion  I  was asked,  Cha i r,  i s  tha t  who was on the  board  

o f  Dene l  As ia  a t  the  t ime and tha t  i s  a  c lear  b lack  and  

wh i te  answer,  so  –  and one cou ld  see who was on the  

board  o f  the  company and tha t  was the  response I  gave 

and our  v iew a round the  crea t ion  o f  Dene l  As ia  i s  tha t  i t  
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was i l l ega l  because i t  was pr io r  to  rece iv ing  a l l  o f  the  

m in is te r i a l  approva ls .   A par tne r  tha t  Dene l  chose to 

par tner  w i th  had no exper ience and th is  comes out  f rom the  

BDO repor t  in  the  As ian  market ,  in  par t i cu la r  w i th  Ind ia .    

 The person tha t  was on the  board  o f  Dene l  As ia  

rep resent ing  VR Laser,  one was a  Mr  van de r  Merwe,  who 

was a  South  A f r i can c i t i zen ,  a  lawyer  by  pro fess ion  and we  

had anothe r  ind iv idua l  named Mr  S ingha la  and he was – a t  

the  t ime he was about  a  22  year  ind iv idua l .   So he had no 

cred ib i l i t y  in  the  Ind ian  market  wh ich  is  where  they were  10 

a im ing to  go  in to .   That  was the  one.  

 The o the r,  i s  tha t  dur ing  th is  e ra  o f  s ta te  capture ,  

we had a l so  –  there  were  some oppor tun i t ies  we were  busy 

w i th  e lsewhere  in  the  broader  market  o f  As ia  and w i th  s ta te  

capture  we were  then –  we were  a f fec t ing  the  re la t ionsh ips  

we have w i th  some o f  our  adv i se rs  in  those markets ,  we  

were  send ing  confus ing  messages to  our  cus tomer  base.   

Jus t  fo r  the  sens i t i v i t y  o f  those count r ies  I  wou ld  no t  

ment ion  the  names here ,  Cha i r.    So I  do  no t  know whethe r  

I  answer  your  quest ion .  20 

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Thank you,  Mr  Sad ik ,  i s  there  

anyth ing  e lse  tha t  you want  to  ra i se  w i th  the  Cha i rperson  

tha t  a r ises  f rom your  a f f idav i t  o r  the  las t  i ssue tha t  you  

want  to  add or  a re  you happy w i th  comple t i ng  your  

ev idence a t  th is  s tage?  
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MR SADIK:    I  th ink ,  Cha i r,  the  one p in t  tha t  was ra ised by  

your  lega l  adv iser  was around the  in te rv iew on Morn ing  

L ive  on  the  SABC and tha t  was w i th  Leanne Manas a t  the  

Morn ing  L ive  show and the  purpose o f  tha t  in te rv iew was to 

d iscuss the  con t rac t  tha t  Dene l  en tered in to  w i th  the  

government  o f  Chad wh ich  was to  supp ly  veh ic les  tha t  

were  go ing  to  be  used fo r  peacekeep ing  serv ices  and 

Dene l  a t  the  t ime had rece ived R100 mi l l ion  and  we had 

not  executed on the  cont rac t .   So we were  –  there  were  

med ia  repor t s  over  the  weekend and then based on  tha t  we  10 

were  then inv i ted  to  be  on  the  in te rv iew and I ,  as  Cha i rman 

o f  the  aud i t  commi t tee ,  I  then  a t tended –  I  led  tha t  

in te rv iew and the  po in t  we had made in  tha t  in te rv iew i s  

tha t  we,  a t  the  t ime,  the  cur ren t  board ,  wh ich  I  was  par t  o f ,  

was tha t  i t  was a  s ign i f i can t ly  loss -mak ing  cont rac t  and 

a lso  the  t ime l ine  to  execute  tha t  cont rac t  was reduced by  

50%.   So as  a  resu l t  o f  those two –  and Dene l  d id  no t  have  

the  f inanc ia l  resources to  comple te  the  pro jec t  w i th in  tha t  

spec i f ied  t ime and the  management  a t  the  t ime had ac ted  

cont rary  to  the  mandate  tha t  was prov ided by  the  d iv is iona l  20 

management  wou ld  have respons ib le  to  execu te  that  

cont rac t .   So tha t  was the  purpose o f  tha t  in te rv iew.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Thank you ,  Mr  Sad ik ,  we have no 

fu r ther  quest ions o f  th is  w i tness.   Thank you,  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Thank you ve ry  much,  Mr  Sad ik ,  fo r  
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mak ing  yourse l f  ava i lab le  to  g ive  ev idence.   We apprec ia te  

i t  and i f  we need you to  come back ,  we w i l l  ask  you.   Thank 

you ve ry  much.  

MR SADIK:    Thank you,  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    You are  now excused.  

MR SADIK:    Thank you.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Cha i r,  I  see  tha t  we have exceeded 

the  normal  t ime before  the  tea  ad journment .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Our  next  w i tness I  assume is  p resent  10 

and ready to  take  the  w i tness box.   May I  sugges t  tha t  i t  

may be appropr ia te  to  take  a  br ie f  ad journment  now? 

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  le t  us  take  the  tea  ad jou rnment  

now,  i t  i s  twenty  f i ve  past  e leven,  le t  us  resume a t  twenty  

to  twe lve .    

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Twenty  to  twe lve .   Thank you,  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Thank you,  we ad jou rn .  

INQUIRY ADJOURNS 

INQUIRY RESUMES 

CHAIRPERSON:    A re  you ready Mr  Kennedy?  20 

ADV KENNEDY SC:    We are  thank you Cha i r,  and w i th  

your  leave may  we now ca l l  as  our  next  w i tness Mr  

Abraham Stephanus Burger.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  thank you ,  p lease admin is te r  the  

oa th  or  a f f i rmat ion .  



12 NOVEMBER 2020 – DAY 305 
 

Page 64 of 246 
 

REGISTRAR:   Please s ta te  your  fu l l  names fo r  the  record .  

MR BURGER:   Abraham Stephanus Burger.  

REGISTRAR:   Do you have any ob jec t ion  to  tak ing  the  

prescr ibed a f f i rmat ion?  

MR BURGER:   I  do  no t  have any prob lem.  

REGISTRAR:   Do you so lemn a f f i rm tha t  the  ev idence you 

w i l l  g ive  sha l l  be  the  t ru th ,  the  who le  t ru th  and noth ing  

e lse  bu t  the  t ru th ,  i f  so  p lease ra ise  your  r igh t  hand and  

say I  t ru ly  a f f i rm.  

ABRAHAMS STEPHANUS BURGER:   [Af f i rmed]  10 

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Thank you  Cha i r.   Before  I  ask  

quest ions o f  th is  w i tness may I  jus t  ment ion  someth ing ,  

jus t  fo r  the  record  and fo r  your  reassurance.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    In  re la t ion  to  the  las t  w i tness,  Mr  

Sad ik ’s  ev idence ,  he  ind ica ted  tha t  he  was w i l l i ng  to  

p rov ide  to  the  Commiss ion  a  copy o f  the  f ina l  Denton ’s  

repor t  tha t  they rece ived on Tuesday.   H is  a t to rney,  Mr  

P i l lay,  who ’s  jus t  le f t  has,  aga in ,  k ind ly  ass is ted  us ,  and  

jus t  made ava i lab le  a  copy,  a l ready,  o f  tha t  f ina l  repor t .   20 

So,  i t  now a l ready in  our  hands  and we w i l l  make the  

necessary  ar rangements  to  have i t  done th rough the  fo rmal  

channe ls  to  b r ing  i t  be fore  you Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay,  no  tha t ’s  f ine .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Good morn ing  Mr  Burger,  thank you 
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fo r  coming to  ass is t  the  Commiss ion .  

MR BURGER:   Good morn ing  Mr  Kennedy,  good  morn ing  

Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Good morn ing  Mr  Burger.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Cha i r,  Mr  Burger ’s  a f f idav i t  appears  

in  Dene l  Bund le  10  f rom page 607.   Mr  Burger  you shou ld  

have tha t  Bund le ,  hopefu l l y,  in  f ron t  o f  you and i f  I  can  ask 

you p lease,  you w i l l  know by now the  re fe rences to  page  

numbers  i s  a  re ference to  the  top  le f t  in  b lack  ink  ra the r  

than the  red  tha t  you see on the  r igh t  and I ’m not  go ing  to  10 

g ive  you the  fu l l  number,  i t ’s  qu i t e  long,  I ’m  jus t  go ing  to  

re fer  to  the  las t  th ree  d ig i t s ,  so  i t ’s  607 i s  the  beg inn ing  o f  

your  a f f idav i t ,  i s  tha t  co r rec t?  

MR BURGER:    I ’ve  go t  i t  thank you,  Cha i r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    R igh t ,  now,  th is  i s  your  main  a f f idav i t  

you ’ve  a lso  prov ided a  supp lementary  a f f idav i t ,  i s  tha t  

r igh t?  

MR BURGER:    That ’s  cor rec t  Cha i r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    R igh t ,   le t ’s  dea l  w i th  the  main  one 

f i rs t .   I f  I  can  ask  you,  p lease to  turn  to  the  s ignature  page 20 

on page 744.  

MR BURGER:    Sor ry  page?  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Page 744.  

MR BURGER:    744,  yes  Cha i r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    I s  tha t  your  s ignatu re  a t  the  foo t?  
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MR BURGER:    I  con f i rm tha t ’s  my s ignature .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    And you swore  th is  a f f idav i t ,  o r  

a f f i rmed th is  a f f idav i t ,  ra ther,  in  f ron t  o f  a  Commiss ioner  

whose deta i l s  and s ignature  appear  on  the  fo l low ing page 

745?  

MR BURGER:    That  i s  co r rec t .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    R igh t ,  now,  Mr  Burger  you ’ve  

ment ioned to  me in  consu l ta t ion  and aga in  th is  morn ing  

tha t  there  are  some typograph ica l  e r ro rs  i n  you r  a f f idav i t .   

As  I  unders tand i t ,  they  are  mere ly  t ypo er rors ,  there ’s  no  10 

d i f fe rence in  subs tance,  i s  tha t  cor rec t?  

MR BURGER:    That  i s  abso lu te ly  cor rec t ,  Cha i r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    R igh t ,  so  you ’ve  ind ica ted  to  me you  

don ’ t  th ink  i t ’s  necessary  fo r  you to  take  the  Cha i r  th rough  

every  typo er ror  and i t  seems to  us  tha t ,  tha t  makes sense,  

un less  the  Cha i r  wants  o therwise .  

MR BURGER:    That  i s  co r rec t ,  Cha i r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Now,  have you been th rough th i s  

a f f idav i t ,  a re  you fami l ia r  w i th  i t s  contents?  

MR BURGER:    I  am fami l ia r  w i th  i t ,  Cha i r.  20 

ADV KENNEDY SC:    And a re  you ab le ,  under  the  

a f f i rmat ion  tha t  you have now taken,  to  conf i rm tha t  the  

contents  th i s  a f f idav i t  a re  t rue  and  cor rec t?  

MR BURGER:    I  con f i rm tha t  i t  i s  t rue  and cor rec t .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Thank you.   We’ l l  take  you,  in  a  



12 NOVEMBER 2020 – DAY 305 
 

Page 67 of 246 
 

moment  to  some o f  the  po in ts  tha t  you ra ise  in  your  

a f f idav i t  bu t  jus t  fo r  comple teness,  may I  take  you to  the  

supp lementary  a f f idav i t  tha t  you have prov ided us .   Of  

course ,  the  main  a f f idav i t ,  we ’ve  seen was s igned some 

t ime ago,  I  th ink  i t  was in  February,  i s  tha t  r igh t?  

MR BURGER:    That ’s  cor rec t ,  Cha i r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    And s ince  then,  i s  i t  cor rec t  tha t  the  

invest iga to rs  o f  the  Commiss ion  have asked you to  respond  

to  cer ta in  ques t ions and in  response to  tha t  you ’ve  

prov ided a  supp lementa ry  a f f idav i t?  10 

MR BURGER:    No,  Cha i r,  I  d id  respond to  cer ta in  

quest ions in  my  or ig ina l  a f f idav i t ,  the  second a f f idav i t  i s  to  

answer  o r  to  respond to  cer ta in  Ru le  3 .3  tha t  I  p resent .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    R igh t ,  and i f  I  can  ask you p lease to  

tu rn  to  page 746.  

MR BURGER:    I ’m  there ,  Cha i r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    I s  tha t  the  f i rs t  page o f  your  

supp lementary  a f f idav i t?  

MR BURGER:    Cor rec t  Cha i r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    And i f  I  can  ask  you p lease ,  to  tu rn 20 

to  the  s ignature  page,  788?  

MR BURGER:    I ’m  there ,  Cha i r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    I s  tha t  your  s ignatu re?  

MR BURGER:    That  i s  my s ignatu re .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    And is  i t  cor rec t  tha t  you took the  
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a f f i rmat ion  be fore  a  Commiss ioner  o f  Oaths  as  appears  on  

page 789?  

MR BURGER:    That  i s  co r rec t .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    And tha t  was  a  very  recent ly  supp l ied  

a f f idav i t  and we thank you fo r  you r  ass is tance,  tha t ’s  da ted  

the  4 t h  o f  November  2020,  i s  tha t  cor rec t?  

MR BURGER:    That  i s  co r rec t ,  Cha i r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Cha i r  a t  th is  s tage,  may I  jus t  

apo log i se  fo r  a  l apse on my par t  o f  p ro fess iona l  e t iquet te  

and tha t  i s ,  Mr  Burger,  in  fac t ,  is  ass is ted  by  h is  lega l  10 

rep resenta t i ve ,  Mr  Rud i  K rause and I  do  apo log ise  to  Mr  

Krause and Mr  Burger  fo r  my fa i lu re  to  ment ion  to  you,  h is  

p resence,  I  shou ld  have done i t  a t  the  ou tse t ,  I  beg your  

pardon.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  no  tha t ’s  f ine ,  le t  h im jus t  p lace  

h imse l f  on  record  proper ly.  

MR KRAUSE:    Thank you,  Mr  Cha i rman.   My in i t ia ls  a re  

R.C and my su rname is  Krause and no apo logy necessary.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Thank you very  much.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Thank you Cha i r.   Mr  Burger  the  20 

supp lementary  a f f idav i t ,  the  same quest ion  the re ,  a re  you 

fami l ia r  w i th  i t s  contents?  

MR BURGER:    I ’m  fami l ia r  w i th  i t  Cha i r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    And you conf i rm the  cor rec tness o f  

those contents?  
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MR BURGER:    I  conf i rm the  co r rec tness.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    A l r igh t ,  Cha i r,  may we then ask  your  

leave p lease to  have,  fo rmal ly  admi t ted ,  in to the  ev idence  

o f  the  Commiss ion ,  the  two a f f idav i t s .   The one s tar ts  a t  

page 607 and we wou ld  ask  tha t ,  tha t  be  admi t ted  as  

Exh ib i t  W25.1 .  

CHAIRPERSON:    The a f f idav i t  o f  Mr  Abraham Stephanus  

Burger  s ta r t ing  a t  page 607 is  admi t ted  as  Exh ib i t  W25.1 .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Thank you  Cha i r,  and may  we ask  

tha t  the  supp lementary  a f f idav i t  tha t  s ta r ts  a t  page 746 o f  10 

Bund le  10  be admi t ted  as  Exh ib i t  W25.2 .  

CHAIRPERSON:    The supp lementa ry  a f f idav i t  o f  Mr  

Abraham Stephanus Burger  s ta r t ing  a t  page 746 is  

admi t ted  as  Exh ib i t  W25.2 .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Thank you  Cha i r.   Mr  Burger  your  

a f f idav i t  –  your  main  a f f idav i t ,  par t i cu la r ly  g i ves  a  very  

de ta i led  account  o f  your  ve rs ion .   I ’m  obv ious ly  go ing  to  

focus on ly  on  some aspects  tha t  appear  to  requ i re  

par t i cu la r  a t ten t ion  bu t  you can have the  assurance tha t  

the  Cha i rperson has the  fu l l  a f f idav i t  and the  20 

supp lementary  a f f idav i t  be fore  h im and i t  w i l l ,  in  i t s  

en t i re ty  and in  i t s  fu l l  de ta i l  be  taken in to  accoun t .   Your 

background,  I  be l ieve  is  summar ised in  your  a f f idav i t  a t  

page 618,  i s  tha t  r igh t?  

MR BURGER:   That  i s  cor rec t .   
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ADV KENNEDY SC:    Wi th  your  leave,  Cha i r,  may I  lead 

h im on what  appears  to  be  uncont rovers ia l  aspects?  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Thank you .   You have a  degree in  

Mechan ica l  Eng ineer ing ,  co r rec t?  

MR BURGER:    That ’s  cor rec t .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    And then you jo ined –  a f te r  you r  

academic  educa t ion  you jo ined  a  company,  Lyt te l ton  

Eng ineer ing  Works ,  in  Pre tor ia ,  as  an  Eng ineer,  wh ich  was 

a  subs id ia ry  o f  A rmscor  and tha t  la te r  became known as  10 

Dene l ,  i s  tha t  cor rec t?  

MR BURGER:    That ’s  cor rec t ,  Cha i r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    So ,  when d id  you f i rs t  s ta r t ,  in  Dene l  

under  i t s  p rev ious name? 

MR BURGER:    As  i t ’s  s ta ted  there ,  Cha i r,  L IW was Dene l  

Land Systems as  we know i t  today.   So,  my very  f i rs t  work  

was a t  Dene l  Lands Systems and I ’ ve  spent  my ent i re  

caree r  there .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Yes,  I ’m ask ing  when d id  tha t  

ac tua l l y  s ta r t?  20 

MR BURGER:  In  1981.     

ADV KENNEDY SC:    1981…[ in te rvenes] .  

MR BURGER:    The beg inn ing  o f  1981.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    So ,  your  en t i re  caree r  has been 

spent  a t  Dene l  under  i t s  p rev ious  name and then under  i t s  
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cur ren t  name? 

MR BURGER:    Cor rec t .    

ADV KENNEDY SC:    And when d id  you leave Dene l?  

MR BURGER:    I  le f t  Dene l  a t  the  la t te r  par t  o f  March  

2018.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    And you were ,  a t  tha t  s tage,  the  

Ch ie f  Execut ive  Off i cer  o f  a  d iv i s ion  o f  Dene l ,  known as  

Dene l  Land Systems or  DLS,  i s  tha t  r igh t?  

MR BURGER:    That  i s  co r rec t ,  Cha i r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    And you ind ica te  tha t  you he ld  tha t  10 

pos i t ion  fo r  about  13  years  be fo re  your  res ignat ion .  

MR BURGER:    That  i s  co r rec t ,  Cha i r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    R igh t ,  now,  the  a f f idav i t  dea ls  w i th  a 

number  o f  t ransact ions tha t  have  been o f  in te res t  to  the  

Commiss ion  and  we ’ re  go ing  to  ge t  to  some o f  those  

t ransact ions in  a  moment  and pa r t i cu la r ly  you r  own ro le  in  

re la t ion  to  tha t .   Now,  I ’d  l i ke  you s ta r t  p lease,  though,  

w i th  the  genera l  theme,  as  I  unders tand i t  o f  your  a f f idav i t .   

I  assume you were  present  ea r l ie r  when Mr  Sad ik  gave 

ev idence,  you got  here  n i ce  and ea r ly.  20 

MR BURGER:    I  was he re ,  Cha i r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    R igh t ,  and  you heard  tha t  I  pu t  my  

unders tand ing  o f  the  overa l l  theme o f  your  a f f idav i t  to  Mr  

Sad ik  bu t  I ’d  l i ke  you to  pu t  the  overa l l  theme in  your  own 

words to  the  Cha i rperson,  i f  you  wou ld  p lease,  as  to  your  
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concern  ra i sed in  the  a f f idav i t  tha t  Dene l  has prob lems but  

the i r  p rob lems had been mis represented,  as  i t  were ,  as  i f  

they ’ re  a l l  due to  –  or  p r imar i l y  due to  cor rup t ion  and the  

invo l vement  o f  the  Guptas  w i th  VR Laser  and the  cont rac ts  

tha t  you were  invo lved in  a t  DLS wi th  VR Laser.   Can I  le t  

you p lease,  exp ress in  your  own te rms,  your  overa l l  

fee l ing?  

MR BURGER:    Cha i r,  I ’ ve  go t  a  ve ry  proud h i s to ry  a t  

Dene l  Land Systems.   I  was in  var ious pos i t ions  as  the  

years  went  by  bu t  in  p r inc ip le ,  in  the  13  years  I  was the  10 

CEO at  Dene l  Land Systems I  inhe r i ted  a  bus iness tha t  

was bankrupt  a t  th is  s tage,  i t  was approx imate l y  

R280mi l l ion  tu rnover  and i t  had a  huge overdra f t  and  i t  had 

very  l i t t le  o rder  cover.   I  –  we went  th rough a  process o f  

re focus ing  the  company,  the  in ten t  o f  LMT had a  ro le  to  

p lay  i n  re focus ing  the  company,  I ’m  sure  we ’ re  go ing  to  ge t  

to  tha t  po in t  as  we l l  bu t  in  p r inc ip le  year  on  year,  g rowth  

was seen th rough a l l  those years .  To  a  po in t  tha t  in  2016 

and 2017 the  tu rnover  o f  tha t  bus iness was jus t  under  

R3b i l l i on  pe r  yea r  and i t  was pro f i tab le  every  year.   Now,  20 

tha t  per fo rmance ,  in  my op in ion ,  i s  unprecedented,  tha t  

per fo rmance does not  happen by  i t se l f ,  i t  happens th rough  

peop le  tha t  a re  ex t remely  ded ica ted ,  tha t  a re  no t  a f ra id  to  

take  dec i s ions,  tha t  th ink  ou t  o f  the  box and th ink  l i ke  

bus iness peop le .   Hopefu l l y  –  tha t  was t rue  fo r  me but  I  
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want  to  s ta te  i t  ca tegor ica l l y  tha t  the  who le  team a t  Dene l  

Land Systems were  in  my mind  bus inessmen and when 

they go t  to  Dene l  in  the  morn ings they d id  no t  go  to  work  

they went  to  the i r  bus iness.   So,  w i th  tha t  as  a  background 

I  pass ionate ly  fe l t  tha t  the  dec is ion  to  g i ve  a  con t rac t  to  

VR Laser  was the  r igh t  dec is ion  because I  fe l t ,  a t  the  t ime,  

i t  was the  best  company to  do  the  job .   S im i la r ly  when a  

dec is ion  was taken to  go  fo r  a  s ing le  source  ag reement ,  

a l though tha t  was not  my idea or  my proposa l ,  I  suppor ted  

tha t  because as  I  s ta te ,  e lsewhere  in  the  a f f idav i t ,  the  b ig  10 

gurus o f  the  wor ld  tha t  unders tand qua l i t y  i ssues o f  

complex  fabr i ca t i on  l i ke   Benn ie  sa id  the  best  way to  

ensure  reduct ion  in  to ta l  cos t  i s  to  fo rm s ing le  source  

supp ly  agreements  w i th  supp l ie rs  ra ther  than go out  on  

tender.   So,  when th is  p roposa l  was made to  me,  I  on ly  

saw the  benef i t  in  tha t ,  and I  suppor ted  i t  pass ionate ly.  

 The po in t  –  o r  the  theme o f  th is  document  i s  tha t  i f  

there  were  peop le  tha t  benef i ted  f rom i r regu lar i t ies  

because o f  my suppor t  fo r  those ac t ions,  I  cannot  s tand in  

fo r  tha t .   I  took  a  bus iness dec is ion  and so  the  overa l l  20 

theme o f  these repor ts  were ,  I  w i l l  no t  deny i f  I  somet imes 

fe l l  over  my own fee t  in  app ly ing  po l i c ies  and I  s tand to  be 

cor rec ted  and I  w i l l  take  the  accountab i l i t y  fo r  tha t  bu t  

those th ings were  a l l  done w i th  the  best  in te res t  o f  the 

d iv is ion  a t  hear t ,  f i rs t l y  and second ly  the  best  in te res t  o f  
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Dene l  a t  hear t .   So,  when anybody comes and says those 

dec is ions were  made because o f  S ta te  Capture  or  t o  

enhance S ta te  Capture  I  rea l l y,  rea l l y  ge t  upset  about  i t .  

So ,  the  overa l l  th read o f  th is  i s ,  we t r ied  to  make good  

bus iness dec i s ions,  we t r ied  to  cont inue the  growth  o f  the  

bus iness and the  pro f i tab i l i t y  o f  the  bus iness and  to  the  

benef i t  o f  Dene l .   So,  i f  those dec is ions  m isrepresented to  

say they were  because o f  S ta te  Capture ,  then I  don ’ t  th ink  

i t  i s  fa i r,  Cha i r.   So,  tha t  i s  more  or  less  the  theme o f  the 

document .  10 

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Thank you.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja ,  be fore   Mr  Kennedy p roceeds there ’s  

a  pa r t  tha t  I  d idn ’ t  hear  we l l  in  your  remarks ,  Mr  Burger.   

You sa id ,  i f  there  were  peop le  who benef i ted  f rom 

dec is ions you made and then you sa id  someth ing ,  I  don ’ t  

know whether  you sa id  you can ’ t  s tand tha t ,  bu t  I  d idn ’ t  

hear  what  you sa id .  

MR BURGER:    No…[ in tervenes] .  

CHAIRPERSON:    You sa id  i f  there  were  peop le  who  

benef i ted  e i the r  f rom dec is ions you made o r  f rom 20 

i r regu lar i t ies  or  someth ing  and then you sa id  someth ing ,  

then I  d idn ’ t  hear  tha t  par t .  

MR BURGER:    Yes…[ in tervenes] .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Have you fo rgo t ten  what  you sa id?  

MR BURGER:    I  cannot  remember  verbat im what  I  sa id  bu t  
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what  I  meant  to  say was,  I  suppor ted  bus iness dec is ions.   

I f  those bus iness  dec is ions were  in  l ine  w i th  ob jec t i ves  –  

w i th  ob jec t i ves  peop le  had tha t  were  no t  bus iness 

dec is ions  I  cannot  s tand in  fo r  tha t ,  I  was unaware  o f  

anyth ing  o f  tha t  na ture .   So,  I ’m  jus t  t ry ing  to  say tha t  the 

dec is ions we made were  pure ly,  pure ly  made on the  

grounds on what  i s  best  fo r  the  company and what ’s  the  

best  fo r  the  bus iness.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Wel l ,  I  know you are  go ing  to  g i ve  your  

ev idence and some o f  the  th ings w i l l  come up as  you  10 

proceed but  I  want  to  ra ise  someth ing  up f ron t .   One,  the  

Commiss ion  doesn ’ t  opera te  on  the  bas is  tha t  we want  on ly  

ev idence tha t  m ight  show tha t  there  was S ta te  Capture  and  

we don ’ t  want  ev idence tha t  m ight  show tha t  there  was no 

S ta te  Capture ,  we want  a l l  ev idence tha t  may tend to  show 

tha t  there  was S ta te  Capture  and ev idence tha t  m ight  tend  

to  show tha t  there  was no S ta te  Capture .    

So,  as  a  resu l t  we want  to  hear  f rom wi tnesses who 

have d i f fe ren t  perspect ives  about  tha t ,  we want  to  hear  –  

to  benef i t  f rom a l l  those perspect ives .   So tha t ’s  t he  f i rs t  20 

po in t  bu t  I  want  to  say to  you,  in  re la t ion  to  S ta te  Capture  

and what  you sa id  in  you r  remarks ,  when I  was hear ing  

ev idence re la t ing  to  the  suspens ions a t  Eskom a few weeks 

ago,  one o f  the  th ings I  sa id  to  some o f  the  w i tnesses was,  

tha t ,  i t  i s  poss ib le  tha t  when the  Board  o f  Eskom made the  
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dec is ions tha t  i t  made,  I  don ’ t  know how much might  have 

fo l lowed tha t  ev idence,  you might  no t  have okay I  won ’ t  go  

in to  i t  bu t  when the  Board  o f  Eskom made the  dec i s ion  tha t  

i t  made on the  11 t h  o f  March 2015,  wh ich  were  to  dec ide  

tha t  there  shou ld  be  an enqu i ry  in to  the  a f fa i rs  o f  Eskom 

and tha t  cer ta in  Execut ives  a t  Eskom shou ld  be  

suspended.   I  sa id ,  i t  i s  poss ib le  tha t  o ther  peop le  ou ts ide  

o f  Eskom had made the  dec is ion  tha t  the  Board  shou ld  

make these two dec i s ions,  shou ld  appo in t  –  o r  es tab l i sh  an  

enqu i ry  and shou ld  suspend ce r ta in  Execut ives .   I  sa id  10 

tha t ,  in  par t ,  because accord ing  to  the  ev idence I  heard ,  in  

a  meet ing  tha t  happened pr io r  to  the  Board  meet ing ,  and a  

meet ing  tha t  was not  a  Board  meet ing ,  in  Durban where  the  

Cha i rperson o f  the  Board  was inv i ted  to  tha t  mee t ing ,  the 

issue o f  an  enqu i ry  a t  Eskom and the  suspens ion  o f  

Execut ives  was ra ised there  w i th  the  –  in  the  presence o f  

the  Cha i rperson o f  the  Board  o f  Eskom and then I  heard  

ev idence tha t  somebody who was  not  par t  o f  Eskom and  

was not  pa r t  o f  Government ,  Mr  Sa l im Essa appears  t o ,  

acco rd ing  to  some ev idence tha t  I ’ ve  heard ,  appears  to  20 

have known about  the  Execut ives  who were  go ing  to  be  

suspended a l ready on the  10 t h  o f  March wh ich  was before  

the  da te  o f  the  meet ing  and i f  the  ev idence I ’ ve  heard  to  

the  e f fec t  tha t ,  he  knew and he to ld  one or  more  o f  Eskom 

employees,  the  names,  he  go t  i t  r igh t .  Those were  the  
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peop le  who were  suspended the  fo l low ing day.    

I  sa id ,  we l l  i t  i s  poss ib le  tha t  in  the  Board  o f  Eskom 

at  tha t  t ime,  there  may have been  peop le  who might  have  

known about  some agenda dec ided  upon,  ou ts ide  o f  Eskom 

invo lv ing  the  suspens ion ,  the  Execut ives  bu t  i t  i s  poss ib le  

tha t  some members  o f  the  Board ,  in  mak ing  these  

dec is ions,  knew noth ing  about  any such agenda and s imp ly  

made dec i s ions and cont r ibu ted  in  the  bone f ide  be l ie f  tha t  

they thought  these were  the  dec is ions tha t  were  in  the  

in te res ts  o f  Eskom and then some might  have opposed 10 

these dec i s ions,  no t  because they  knew o f  any agenda by  

peop le  ou ts ide  o f  Eskom but  because on the  fac ts  they  

d idn ’ t  th ink  the  dec i s ions were  the  r igh t  dec i s ions.   So,  I ’m 

mak ing  th i s  example  o f  someth ing  I ’ ve  a l ready sa id  be fore ,  

to  say to  you,  even w i th in  Dene l ,  i t  may be poss ib le  tha t  

some peop le  –  i f  there  was some agenda f rom peop le  

ou ts ide  o f  Dene l ,  maybe some peop le  w i th in  Dene l  knew,  i t  

may be tha t  some o ther  peop le  d idn ’ t  know but  be l ieve  tha t  

they were  mak ing  dec is ions tha t  were  in  the  in te res t  o f  

Dene l  bu t  i t  i s  poss ib le  tha t  unbeknown to  them the re  were  20 

peop le  ou ts ide  o f  Dene l  who may have been push ing  a  

cer ta in  agenda tha t  m ight  no t  have been known to  some 

peop le  w i th in  Dene l .   They make cer ta in  dec i s ions bu t  

there  a re  peop le  who a re  push ing  a  ce r ta in  agenda and  

they be l ieve  they are  jus t  mak ing  bus iness dec i s ion  bu t  
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ac tua l l y  there  is  an  agenda tha t  they m ight  no t  be  aware  o f  

and tha t  agenda  may we l l  be ,  S ta te  Capture .   So,  I  jus t  

thought  I ’d  ment ion  th is ,  I  don ’ t  know i f  you wou ld  l ike  to  

comment  about  th is  ana lys is?  

MR BURGER:    Cha i r  o ther  than I  fu l l y  accept  you r  po in t ,  

yes ,  I  take  your  po in t .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay,  Mr  Kennedy?  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Thank you Cha i r.   Now,  you ind ica ted  

ear l ie r  tha t  you a re  qu i te  p repared  to  accept  accountab i l i t y  

i f  you ’ve  done someth ing  tha t  may have been wrong,  as  10 

you put  i t ,  I  th ink  you sa id ,  i f  you  t r ipped yourse l f  up  or  fe l l  

over  your  own fee t ,  I  th ink  i s  the  express ion  you used,  then 

you ’ re  qu i te  happy to  acknowledge  tha t  and be accountab le  

fo r  tha t  bu t  i t ’s  un fa i r  to  ta r  you  w i th  a  brush o f  be ing  

assoc ia ted  w i th  S ta te  Capture  or  cor rup t ion  or  any th ing ,  i f  

I  unders tand you cor rec t l y,  tha t ’s  your  po in t?  

MR BURGER:    One hundred pe rcent ,  Cha i r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    R igh t ,  now you have a lso  c r i t i c i sed,  

and I  don ’ t  wan t  to  go  in to  th is  in  any de ta i l ,  you ’ve  

cr i t i c i sed the  med ia  fo r  p lay ing  a long to  an  agenda o f  20 

t ry ing  to  a t tach  S ta te  Capture  co r rup t ion  type a l legat ions  

to  what  may be leg i t imate ly  exp la ined in  anothe r  way.   I ’d  

l i ke  you to  jus t  touch on an aspect  tha t  I  ra ised a t  the  tab le 

end o f  Mr  Sad ik ’s  ev idence when  you were  present ,  and 

tha t  i s  tha t  he  appeared on two te lev i s ion  in te rv iews and  
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he  s ta ted  tha t  cer ta in  ac t ions taken were  un lawfu l  w i th in  

Dene l  and tha t  c r im ina l  charges and c iv i l  c la ims were  be ing  

brought  aga ins t  cer ta in  ind i v idua ls .  Now,  you have  

cr i t i c i sed h im fo r  tha t  as  de faming you and p lay ing  a long 

w i th  th is  overa l l  wrong,  as  you wou ld  see i t ,  o f  t ry ing  to  

d ress  up  someth ing  tha t  you say can,  leg i t ima te ly,  be  

exp la ined as  i f  i t  were  co r rup t ion ,  do  you s tand  by  tha t  

accusat ion?  

MR BURGER:    I  do ,  Cha i r,  to  g ive  contex t ,  tha t  op in ion  

cannot  be  seen on i t s  own mer i t .   I  a t tach  a  med ia  ar t i c le  10 

in  my second a f f idav i t  tha t  was wr i t ten  in  2016,  s ta t ing  

var ious th ings tha t  I ’ ve  to ld  co l leagues wh ich  were  

b la tan t ly,  b la tan t ly  un t rue  and I  t ru ly  be l ieve  tha t  i s  where  

th is  image s ta r ted  and as  a  mat te r  o f  fac t ,  many w i tnesses  

used tha t  as  a  depar tu re  po in t  fo r  the i r  op in ion  about  me 

and Cha i r,  I  don ’ t  know i f  we ’ re  go ing  to  ge t  back to  tha t  

a r t i c le  bu t  the  fac t  o f  the  mat te r  i s ,  i f  one takes cogn isance 

o f  Dene l  As ia  and the  BDO repor t ,  the  accusat ion  aga ins t  

me was tha t  I  –  the  Board  o f  Dene l  on ly  approved the  

concept  o f  Dene l  As ia ,  I  don ’ t  know when i t  was,  bu t  le t ’s  20 

say in  December  o f  2015 and we  – I  s ta r ted  in te rac t ing  

w i th  po ten t ia l  c l i en ts  o r  po ten t ia l  par tners  in  Sep tember.  

That  i s  t rue ,  I  d id  bu t  I  had no way o f  knowing what  

dec is ions were  taken in  the  Board  and whether,  indeed,  the  

Board  took a  reso lu t ion  or  no t .  I  was g iven an ins t ruc t ion  
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tha t  the  Board  d id  dec ide  to  en te r  in to  th is  oppor tun i ty,  and 

we shou ld  s ta r t  to  see i f  the re  were  any bus iness  

oppor tun i t ies .   So -  and based on tha t  i t  is recommended 

that  cr iminal  and civ i l  act ion is  taken against  me.  I t  sounds 

unfai r  to me Chai r  I  – i t  just  does not  make sense to me in 

any way or terms.   So that  is  the reason for  when i t  was then 

put  to the – into the news that  I  was on the board that  

cr iminal  c iv i l  act ion should be taken against  me.   I  just  

thought i t  was unfai r.   And that  is the long and the short  of  i t  

Chai r.  10 

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Right  thank you.   Of course as the 

Chairperson has indicated he is  keen as the Chairperson to 

hear evidence both as to whether  there was state capture 

which would include al legat ions of  corrupt ion and 

wrongdoing and a lso evidence whether there was not  state 

capture and corrupt ion and part icular ly in relat ion to yoursel f  

and your own role and that  is why we have asked you to 

come and give evidence.    

F i rst ly to assist  the Chai rperson so that  he can have 

al l  the facts before him before he wri tes his report  and 20 

makes his f indings and recommendat ions and submits them 

to the State President .    

 But  secondly also to give you a chance as a matter of  

fa i rness to be able to put  your version out  and as I  have 

indicated you have put  in – you have helped the commission 
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wi th a very detai led and thorough main aff idavi t  as wel l  as a 

detai led supplementary aff idavi t  and al l  of  that  wi l l  be taken 

into account.  

 The purpose of  the hearing today is to hear you 

further in addi t ion to what is down in wri t ing so that  you can 

give your own perspect ive and answer quest ions just  as we 

have done in relat ion to the other wi tnesses.  

MR BURGER:   Thank you Chai r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Now Mr Burger.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Maybe I  can just  add this Mr Burger.   I  am 10 

part icular ly interested in hearing al l  those against  whom 

there are ser ious al legat ions of  involvement in state capture 

and corrupt ion.    

 F i rst ly because my decisions and my f indings would 

be much bet ter i f  they were informed by al l  s ides.   But  two to 

give them an opportuni ty to put  the ir  s ide of  the story openly 

in a forum l ike this.  

 Even the Gupta’s  i f  they were wi l l ing I  would have 

wanted to hear thei r  s ide of  the story.   Indeed when I  gave 

my judgment last  year in thei r  appl icat ion for leave to cross-20 

examine certain  wi tnesses I  made i t  c lear that  i f  they were to  

come back into the count ry I  would give – I  would have no 

hesi tat ion in giv ing them an opportuni ty to cross-examine i f  

they meet the requirements of  the rules wi tnesses and to 

hear their  s ide of  the story.  
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 So I  just  want  to  emphasise that  throughout the idea 

has been we must hear al l  s ides.   But  i f  there are ser ious 

al legat ions of  corrupt ion or involvement in state capture 

against  you;  against  certain  people I  part icular ly  want to 

hear their  s ide of  the story.  

 So that  appl ies to you.  

MR BURGER:   Thank you Chai r.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Thank you.   Chair  may we just  touch on 

an issue to get  that  out  of  the way.   L ikewise before we deal  10 

wi th the meat of  the – of  these speci f ic t ransact ions and so 

forth.   Mr Burger  you have – you have raised your concern 

about the media.    

You have also ra ised your  concern about  some of  the 

wi tnesses as distort ing the facts and playing to an overal l  

agenda of  t ry ing to dress up problems as i f  they were al l  

at t r ibutable to state capture and corrupt ion whereas in fact  

there were legi t imate reasons.   

We have deal t  wi th that  and the Chai rperson has 

given you the assurance that  he wants to hear your  evidence 20 

and i t  is important  that  he does to hear everything.    

You have a lso cr i t ic ised the invest igat ing team of  the 

commission and part icular ly an individual  invest igator and 

you have al leged that  you have a – had – or  have a 

percept ion that  there was not  a complete neut ral i ty  on the 
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part  of  the invest igator and you fel t  that  he acted 

inappropriately and in an int imidat ing way.  

Now what I  am going to suggest  to you but  subject  to  

the guidance of  the Chai r  is th is.  The Chai r  has al ready 

requested he has conveyed to me that  the invest igator  

concerned provide a proper aff idavi t  to deal  properly and 

ser iously wi th al l  the al legat ions that  you have made against  

him personal ly and we are st i l l  awai t ing the aff idavi t .   We 

have been told i t  is on the way.  

I  do not  have anything though to put  to you at  th is  10 

stage as to his  – his version but  may I  say this subject  to the 

Chair ’s  guidance because ul t imately i t  is – i t  is  for his  

decision as to how this – this  sort  of  matter  as wi th 

everything needs to be handled.  

What I  can give you is an undertaking as the legal  

team subject  to the di rect ion of  the Chair  is that  once that  

aff idavi t  comes to hand that  wi l l  be furnished to you and your  

legal  team and you wi l l  then have an opportuni ty to respond 

to that  by way of  aff idavi t  and i f  the Chair  considers i t  

appropriate in the interest  of  fa i rness and t ransparency to  20 

hold – to give you a further opportuni ty to give oral  evidence 

in that  regard and that  is also for  the invest igator to g ive oral  

evidence.   That  wi l l  be something that  the Chai r  wi l l  consider 

and decide once that  process of  aff idavi ts has been 

undertaken.   
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MR BURGER:   Thank you Chai r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Would you be comfortable wi th that  

approach? 

MR BURGER:   Very comfortable.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Thank you Chai r.  

CHAIRPERSON:   And I  do want to say Mr Burger there is 

nothing wrong you have done by ra is ing your concerns about 

a member of  the invest igat ion team in terms of  how you fel t  

t reated.   So we wi l l  look into those concerns.  

MR BURGER:   Thank you Chai r.  10 

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   May I  a lso in  case there is  any quest ion 

mark about i t  may I  a lso on behal f  of  our  legal  team deal ing 

wi th the Denel  st ream just  convey to you our assurance that  

we have been appointed and in fact  have taken an oath 

before the Deputy Chief  Just ice to act  impart ia l ly and 

honest ly  and lawful ly and we have no agenda in th is  matter  

at  a l l  and we are also concerned just  as the learned 

Chairperson has indicated that  he is concerned we are 

concerned that  everybody gets a fai r  opportuni ty to be heard 20 

and give their  perspect ive.  

 That  is why we have been – we have asked you to  

come today and have al located some considerable t ime for  

you in the – in  the midst  of  a very busy schedule wi th many 

wi tnesses to  g ive you that  opportuni ty which you are ful ly  
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ent i t led to use now.  

MR BURGER:   I  t ru ly appreciate Chai r  thank you very much.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Are you happy to  proceed on that  

basis? 

MR BURGER:   Happy to proceed.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Right  thank you very much.  Now you 

have referred in your aff idavi t  part icular ly f rom page 618 to 

what you cal l  a general  background and I  would l ike to just  

pick up a thread which you touched on ear l ier and that  is the 

– the achievements that  you made whi le at  Denel  part icular ly 10 

and DLS.   

The success as you see i t  of  DLS and then you deal  

on f rom page 619 with the present  status of  Denel  as a 

business and you have referred to  your perspect ive as to  

why Denel  – as to  what extent  Denel  is  suffer ing – has been 

suffer ing ser ious f inancial  and other  issues and what you 

at t r ibute that  to.  

 Would you just  in  br ief  terms please summarise your  

overal l  evidence in that  regard? 

MR BURGER:   Yes Chai r.   The – the problems with Denel  20 

started in the ear ly 2000 and i t  star ted af ter also Denel  Land 

Systems were very successful  in promot ing an art i l lery 

system in India.  

 I t  went  through three i terat ions of  demonst rat ion and 

wi th each i terat ion the gun had to be upgraded and modif ied 
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because i t  was a unique system for  Ind ia.  

 The negot iat ing a deal  in India is ext raordinary 

di ff icul t  as one might  imagine.   We got  to the point  where 

this deal  was negot iated,  agreed,  the contract  was signed by 

South Afr ica – on South Af r ican side and i t  was for  280 

art i l lery systems.   Today art i l lery systems costs about 5.5 

mi l l ion Dol lars.   So wi th al l  the support ,  equipment i t  is – in 

today’s rand value about R30 bi l l ion.   The biggest  contract  

one can imagine.  

 A s ingle newspaper art ic le appeared around 2003 I  10 

think i t  was thereabouts – maybe 2 where – where Denel  in 

South Afr ica – where Denel  was accused of  wrongdoing and 

i l legal ly using technical  advisors.  

 Now I  am cognisant  of  the t ime but  th is is – i t  is 

extremely important  point  because at  that  – at  that  t ime India 

was in the middle of  genera l  e lect ions.   Sonia Gandhi  was 

about to be the new Prime Minister  of  India and there was a 

Minister of  Defence his name was George Fernandes and 

when that  art ic le appeared in the papers i t  was l ike throwing 

petrol  on a pol i t ical  t ime bomb.  And that  was used as part  of  20 

var ious al legat ions against  Mr George Fernandes because 

he was opposing Ms Sonia Gandhi  in her campaign to wi th 

the cont ract  – to win the elect ions.  

 She subsequent ly  was – became the Prime Minister  

and Denel  was label led as corrupt .   I t  was t reated as being 
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b lackl isted.   I t  never by the way was proven that  there black 

– wel l  they were never off ic ia l ly  blackl isted but  they were 

t reated the whole t ime and nothing was ever proven.   There 

was no wrongdoing found and here 12/13 years later the ban 

is l i f ted.  

 That  – that  s ing le newspaper art ic le in my mind 

almost  broke Denel .   I t  was necessary for government to 

give a bai lout  and then i t  started to rebui ld i tsel f .  

 But  in pr inciple that  was the biggest  f inancial  b low 

because we had cont racts ammunit ion and ant i -mater ia l  10 

weapon contracts which were cancel led and R30 bi l l ion 

worth of  business never mater ia l ised – i t  never happened.  

 So that  is in my mind where the problems started wi th  

Denel .   I  – i f  I  can then cont inue to – when af ter  that  

happened the – the idea was to save Denel  by decent ra l is ing 

the business.   Gett ing equi ty partners f rom abroad and 

cont inue thei r  [00:13:31] .   And I  personal ly fe l t  that  was the 

way to go for Denel  and that  is when the RDN deal  happened 

with Rheinmetal l  buying into the ammunit ion plant  and that  is 

when VAE systems the very same VAE systems which we 20 

talk later on about  also made an offer to purchase DLS. 

 And I  can later get  to that  point .   But  what I  thought 

was that  was the r ight  di rect ion for  Denel  to go.   And Denel  

on the back of  that  st ructure Denel  started going forward and 

started bui ld ing the foundat ion for  a good business.  Gett ing 
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the accountabi l i t ies at  the r ight  posi t ion,  get t ing quick 

decision making and moving forward.  

 And that  was for  me the foundat ion of  the growth 

everybody talks about in 2015/16 that  happened 14.   That  is  

when the foundat ions happened.  Later on in the t imeframe 

of  when Mr Saloojee jo ined Denel  that  st rategy was stopped.  

The idea of  sel l ing equi ty,  the idea of  having decent ra l ised 

decision making,  decentral ised accountabi l i ty and more 

central ised decision making were taken and I  go into my 

aff idavi t  about  the problems with decent r. . .  – wi th central ised 10 

decision making.  

 Now I  was never real ly in favour of  cent ral ised 

decision making because of  how complex and how vast ly  

di fferent  the processes,  the c l ients,  the technologies and so 

on of  the d i fferent  div is ions were.  

 There were certain div is ions that  were simi lar and I  

said those divis ions should be put  together.   But  I  was 

always a supporter of  decent ra l ised accountabi l i ty and 

decision making.  

 But  I  have also said that  i f  you want to central ise the 20 

business no problem.  Central ise the business.   Central ise 

decision making but  then please also central ise 

accountabi l i ty.   You cannot have central ised decision making 

and decentral ised accountabi l i ty.  

 And I  ta lk about  that  process and that  is – that  was 
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my concern then wi th the di rect ion the management was 

going.   I t  is very interest ing and I  l istened to Mr Sadik th is 

morning.   I t  is very interest ing to note that  what I  have now 

said throughout  th is aff idavi t  a year  ago is exact ly what  

Denel  decided to do.   Is now to go wi th decentral ised 

decision making,  decent ral ised accountabi l i ty.   Decentral ised 

cash f low management even.   And I  bel ieve that  is the only 

way.   I t  is a l i t t le bi t  late for them to make that  decis ion but 

that  I  bel ieve was the r ight  decision.   That  was for  me the 

whole decentral ised – decentral isat ion model .  10 

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Sorry before you move on f rom that .   I  

am sorry to interrupt  but  i t  seems to be relevant  for  me to 

ra ise this.   I  can understand your f rust rat ion wi th an 

approach that  did  not  equate wi th what you saw as the best  

business model .   The best  business model  in your  v iew was 

decent ral isat ion.   In other words there would be a strong 

level  of  independence as i t  were of  you as the Head of  DLS 

to be able to  take decisions and so forth wi thout  having to be 

– to get  approval  f rom head off ice or  be overr idden by them. 

 Is that  r ight? That  was [00:17:27]  20 

MR BURGER:   Correct  Chai r.   But  i t  was not  an ego thing.   I t  

was – Denel  Land Systems were export ing 80% of  i ts 

business.   I t  was compet ing against  other suppl iers that  

were in the pr ivate industry but  which had very strong 

governmental  support  in terms of  market ing and f inancial ly.  
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 And we had to compete wi th them and we had to 

export  –  or we were export ing about  80% of  our  revenue.  So 

to compete in that  arena.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Yes.  

MR BURGER:   You have got  to be quick on your  feet .   You 

cannot have a big bureaucracy which takes forever  to take 

decisions and a b ig cent ral ised model  does unfortunately do 

that .   But  that  was not  my cr i t ic ism.   

 My cr i t ic ism real ly  was about i f  you want to cent ral ise 

then also take the accountabi l i ty.  10 

ADV KENNEDY SC:   I  understand your approach and I  

understand your point  that  – that  you fel t  that  there was a lot  

of  advantage to decent ral ise so that  you can be nimble and 

quick and so forth .  

MR BURGER:   Correct .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   What  I  just  want to ask you though is  

th is.   You say that  your understanding and Mr Sadik’s  

evidence suggests that  Denel  have actual ly eventual ly af ter  

you went – af ter you lef t  have come round to your  way of  

th inking to decent ra l ise.    20 

What I  just  want  you to conf i rm though is that  the 

t ime that  you were at  DLS as a CEO part icu lar ly around 2014 

to 2016 when many of  these t ransact ions took place i t  was 

st i l l  re lat ively central ised and you – and in terms of  the 

company pol ic ies,  the group pol ic ies and so forth  you st i l l  
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had to get  approval .   You were -  f ind that  f rustrat ing not  so?  

But  you st i l l  d id – you were st i l l  subject  to a pol icy and rules 

and regulat ions and processes,  correct? 

MR BURGER:   Correct .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   And you were f rust rated by that? 

MR BURGER:   I  was? 

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Yes.  

MR BURGER:   I  was but  those were the rules and we played 

by those ru les.    No problem.  

o problem.  10 

ADV KENNEDY SC:   That  – so I  – we going to deal  later wi th 

whether you did p lay by the ru les and i f  you did not  play by 

the rules whether  you accept  accountabi l i ty for that  and so 

forth.   We wi l l  g ive you a ful l  opportuni ty on that .  

MR BURGER:   Sure.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   But  are we in  agreement  then that  you 

accepted that  the more central ised model  was then enforced 

and that  appl ied to you whether you l iked i t  or not .  

MR BURGER:   Correct .   And I  was not  ignoring the model .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Yes.  20 

MR BURGER:   Not  in – Chai r  sorry I  just  need to add.   This 

central isat ion did not  happen in  one go f rom one day to  the 

next .   I t  was a gradual  process that  started in 2013 that  were 

running at  a fa i r ly  eff ic ient  way in about – in 2015 and f rom 

2015 to 2018 when I  lef t  – when I  lef t  i t  just  was at  a point  
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where no decisions were my decisions anymore.  And I  

recorded that  i t  was untenable.    

I  went  through a per iod of  eight  months of  saying I  

cannot work under those condi t ions and I  lef t  the company – 

I  resigned under the auspices of  a construct ive dismissal   I t  

was for me impossible to operate in – and be held 

accountable and that  is the reason.   And i t  was a process of  

eight  months f rom where I  started to say i t  is impossible to  

work l ike this to where I  eventual ly just  lef t .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Thank you I  apologised ear l ier for  10 

having interrupted you because I  thought i t  was an important  

quest ion I  had to ra ise.   Is  there anything e lse that  you want 

to add? 

MR BURGER:   Sorry,  sorry,  sorry on the problems? 

ADV KENNEDY SC:   On the overal l  problems. 

MR BURGER:   Yes there is just….  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Can I  ask you please i f  you would – i f  

you would just  please be very br ief  because obviously the 

commission’s t ime is l imi ted and i t  needs to focus on in  

considerable deta i l  later.  20 

MR BURGER:   Okay.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   On some of  the ind ividual  t ransact ions.  

MR BURGER:   I  w i l l  do that .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Thank you.  

MR BURGER:   Okay I  am not  going to  go into the very 
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conservat ive and lack of  decision making which just  st i f led 

the program is  the whole – the whole bundle on that .   I  just  

want to – I  just  want to ment ion the LSASA deal  which I  – 

which probably is  not  such a big issue Chair  but  i t  is  the 

proverbia l  st raw that  in  my mind broke the camel ’s back f rom 

a cash f low perspect ive.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Again wi th apologies to interrupt  your 

f low but  page 629 is where you deal  wi th what you refer to 

the disaster of  the LSSA acquisi t ion.  

MR BURGER:   Correct .  10 

ADV KENNEDY SC:   A lr ight  just  summarise very br ie f ly why 

you cal l  i t  a disaster and why you feel  i t  was signi f icant? 

MR BURGER:   Chai r  in my mind I  was part  of  the acquisi t ion 

– the proposed acquisi t ion of  BAE want ing the buy Denel  

Land Systems.  Denel  Land Systems at  the t ime had very 

st rong,  very huge – big opportuni t ies but  i t  lacked orders.   I t  

d id not  have orders a couple of  100 mi l l ion probably and I  

was part  of  the team that  negot iated wi th BAE and they were 

very hard negot iators and they said you know you cannot  

expect  us to pay anything for th is  company for a major i ty 20 

share i f  you have not  got  orders.    

Orders determine the value of  the company and they 

quoted the phrase ‘a business wi thout  any business is not  a  

business. ’  And they offered more or less nothing for that  

business but  what  they offered was we going to give you new 
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business st ructures,  we going to put  people in p lace that  can 

make this place prof i table and we wi l l  make sure you wi l l  get  

orders.   We wi l l  turn the company around. The decis ion was 

taken not  to go there because the – I  th ink the pol i t ical  

appet i te at  that  stage for se l l ing shares stopped.  

 However when Denel  approached BAE Systems for  

the acquisi t ion of  LSSA I  was part  of  that  in [00:24:08] .   I  

thought they had no orders.  Then why would you pay 

anything unless i t  is for st rategic value for a company with  

no orders or they had a R100 odd mi l l ion orders and they 10 

needed about a b i l l ion per year to sustain.  

 So my proposal  was in recol lect ion of  what happened 

in the past  wi th BAE Systems offer them very l i t t le.   I  – i t  

then so happened that  I  was not  part  of  the team and i t  was 

bought for R855 mi l l ion.   In  my view i t  was too much.  In  my 

personal  v iew one can do due di l igences,  they evaluate the 

st rategic va lue of  the IP whatever the case may be but  i t  d id 

not  have orders.   And I  thought i t  was too much.  

 Ms Mart ie Janse van Rensburg gave evidence that  

said but  they had a plan to sel l  hal f  of  those shares for R450 20 

mi l l ion and they were far progressed with get t ing potent ia l  

partners in.   Now at  the end of  the day the best  potent ia l  

partner there was was for R224 mi l l ion for hal f  of  the 

company.   And for  that  reason I  say they paid f i rst ly too 

much for the business.   I t  could have at  best  been double 
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the 224 the value of  the company. 

 Secondly Denel  d id not  have money and I  only found 

out  when I  read Mr Sadik’s aff idavi t  that  the Hoefyster pre-

payments were used to f inance th is deal .   And no wonder 

were suffer ing so much at  the t ime to make ends meet.    

So Chair  not  to go in too deep into this I  thought i t  

was the t iming was wrong to buy this – the place for –  f rom a 

f inancial  perspect ive the amount that  was paid was too much 

and i t  turned in my opinion i t  was a disaster  and i t  broke the 

camel ’s back in terms of  cash f low management.    10 

And f rom that  point  onwards real ly nothing happened 

in Denel  anymore because al l  we were doing is speak to  

suppl iers to beg them please stay wi th us we cannot pay 

you.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Now I  would l ike you to – I  would l ike to  

take you back to a remark you made earl ier which was to say 

i t  is wrong and unfair  to cr i t ic ise you for any involvement in 

state capture and state capture was not  the real  th ing – the 

real  reason for the d i ff icul t ies and that  you can be held 

accountable i f  you have sl ipped – t r ipped yoursel f  up in 20 

re lat ion to compl iance and so for th.   You prepared to be 

accountable on that  but  not  to be accountable i f  you had to 

be cr i t ic ised for  being involved in  anything corrupt  or 

anything involved in state capture.  

MR BURGER:   Correct  Chai r.  
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ADV KENNEDY SC:   Now the f i rst  part  of  that  I  would l ike to 

peruse wi th you.   To your credi t  you say you wi l l  be prepared 

to be accountable for anything that  may have done wrongly i f  

you had t r ipped yoursel f  up in re lat ion to compl iance of  

processes.  

 As I  understand i t  though your overa l l  points that  is  

apparent  f rom the aff idavi t  is that  that  was done with the 

best  – i f  there was anyth ing done at  al l  that  may have been 

not  incompl iance wi th  processes throughout you had a 

genuine and good fai th intent  to advance the interests of  10 

Denel ’s business and nobody else.  

MR BURGER:   Correct  Chai r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Right .   Now you have been fo l lowing 

the evidence as one would expect  of  the commission in fact  

you ment ioned to me when we greeted this morning that  you 

l ike we had been up t i l l  fa i r ly late last  night .   You had seen 

in the media coverage of  the proceedings that  we f in ished 

around about 9:30 last  night  you ment ioned that  and – so 

that  is to your credi t  that  you have been fol lowing wi th 

interest  the evidence of  other wi tnesses.  20 

 You no doubt have heard Mr Burger and you have 

also been sent  these Rule 3.3 Not ices to indicate that  the 

commission wanted you to give your answer to some of  the 

things that  had been said about you and the processes by 

other wi tnesses.  
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 You no doubt are aware that  other  wi tnesses not  al l  

some have defended you but  others have cr i t ic ised you or 

your  processes.   You are aware that  there has been 

evidence in the spot l ight  before the commission that  

processes were not  a lways fol lowed correct ly.  

 Now I  want  you before we look at  the detai l  o f  

individual  t ransact ions just  to ind icate so we can know up 

f ront  what your overal l  at t i tude is.   Do  you in fact  say to the 

Chairperson of  the commission now that  everything you did 

in relat ion to every process for  every t ransact ion was 10 

actual ly compl iant  wi th every rule and requirement and 

regulat ion or do you say at  least  wi th the benef i t  of  h indsight  

I  acknowledge that  I  may have or I  d id breach any part icu lar  

– some part icular  rule or whatever  and I  can expla in how 

that  came about.   Which one is i t?  

MR BURGER:   The second one Chair.    

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Right .  

MR BURGER:   But  I  want to add the at  the t ime we took the 

decision,  I  was not  aware that  I  was t ransgressing any pol icy 

or  Nat ional  Treasury Regulat ion.   As t ime went on,  I  got  to  20 

real ise:   Oeps ,  we might  have done something wrong here in  

terms of  processes.    

 But  at  the t ime, i t  was not  purposeful ly done to 

ci rcumvent the process.   I t  was done in good fai th  at  the 

t ime and. . .    
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 But  your second point ,  that  I  do acknowledge, having 

l istened to everybody that  th ings should have been done 

di fferent ly.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Yes.   Could you just  ident i fy i f  you are 

able to,  wi thout  going into detai l ,  what  speci f ical ly  you – 

what t ransact ion you speci f ical ly acknowledge was not  done 

correct ly?   

 And I  accept  your  point ,  the qual i f icat ion that  you have 

added that  i f  you breached anything,  you did not  do i t  

intent ional ly.    10 

 Now that  is a separate quest ion the Commission may or  

may not  want to deal  wi th that  and make f indings on that .   

But  what is your own version as to what you may 

unintent ional ly have breached?  For which t ransact ions are 

we talk ing? 

MR BURGER :    I  th ink . . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    Or maybe, le t  me add this to what  

Mr Kennedy says.   I f  you are able to,  you might  deal  wi th 

th is l ike in two or three categories.   You might  say,  having 

heard some of  the ev idence that  has been led before the 20 

Commission and maybe having read some invest igat ion 

reports about  th ings that  happened at  Denel .  

 I  have been able to ident i fy the fol lowing t ransact ions in  

which I  was involved where I  accept  that  we did not  do 

things correct ly or  I  was,  I  d id not  do th ings correct ly.  
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 I t  is th is one.   I t  is that  one.   I t  is that  one.   And this  is  

where I  th ink we went wrong.   Then there may be a category 

where you are not  sure.    

 To say,  there are these – there is category of  

t ransact ions where I  accept  that  we may have been wrong 

but  I  have not  reached a point  where I  say we were wrong or 

I  was wrong.  

 And then there may be a thi rd category where you say.   

On these ones,  my posi t ion is c lear  that  I  say those were in 

order.   I  d id  not  do anyth ing wrong.   We did not do anything 10 

wrong.  

 So i f  you are able to do them l ike that ,  that  would be 

very helpful  but  I  accept  that  might  not  be possible,  in which 

case,  you just  do the best  that  you can.  

MR BURGER :    Let  me t ry and play i t  as i t  goes Chai r,  i f  you 

do not  mind? 

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes-no,  that  is f ine.   Ja.  

MR BURGER :    Let  me start  off  wi th the f i rst  one and that  

was the whole deal  and I  hope we can get  to the reason 

behind the whole deal  Chai r.   But  at  that  t ime, I . . .  20 

CHAIRPERSON :    Which is that  one now? 

MR BURGER :    The hul l  deal ,  the Hoefyster Hul ls.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Oh,  yes.   Oh, yes.  

MR BURGER :    The Hoefyster Hul ls in 2014.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja.  
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ADV KENNEDY SC :    I  am sorry to interrupt  you.   That  is the 

Plat form Hul ls? 

MR BURGER :    The Plat form Hul ls,  yes.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    For the armoured vehicles? 

MR BURGER :    Correct ,  Chai r.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes,  yes,  yes.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Was that  not  always cal led a badger,  is 

that  r ight? 

MR BURGER :    I t  is a badger.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Right .  10 

MR BURGER :    Or the product  name, Hoefyster.   I t  was the 

project  name.   

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Right .  

MR BURGER :    So i t  is the same thing.   At  the t ime we went  

out  into mult i  tender.   The al legat ion today is,  we should 

have gone out  to  open tender.   Chai r,  I  st i l l  mainta in today 

that  in the defence industry wi th conf ident ia l i ty issues,  wi th  

the IT issues and so on.    

 I t  is very di ff icul t ,  ext remely d i ff icul t ,  i f  not  impossible,  

to take something l ike that  to the open market  and publ ish i t  20 

and says,  there is  a drawing.   Anybody wants to quote,  quote 

on that .    

 How i t  worked is,  we had something what we cal led LIW-

100.  So i f  you are – and for you to be able to tender on 

something,  you f i rst  have to be an accepted potent ia l  
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suppl ier,  you have to sign these LIW-100’s.   I t  is a whole lot  

of  conf ident ia l i ty agreements and so.  

 And then you – then only can you get  the drawings and 

you get  s ign i t .   So I  . . . [ intervenes]   

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Mr Burger,  I  am sorry to interrupt .   And 

again,  I  do not  mean to be rude.   May I  suggest ,  so we can 

just  br ing some sort  of  st ructure to  the evidence and interest  

of  t ime and focus that  you start  wi th you ident i fy ing for each 

of  the t ransact ions,  whether you say,  fo l lowing the 

Chairperson’s guidance as to which category i t  is.    10 

 For example,  when you deal  wi th the whole contract  that  

was awarded by DLS to VR Laser,  you say that  nothing was 

done wrong or that  you acknowledge that  something was 

done wrong or do you say in the middle category,  I  am not 

sure? 

 Can we just  ident i fy t ransact ion by t ransact ion?  And 

then we can go into detai l .   Because may I  just  suggest  to  

you why i t  may be in the interest  of  yoursel f ,  avoiding 

lengthy evidence and quest ion ing f rom me and so forth.  

 I f  at  the end of  a  long sect ion that  you may say,  at  the 20 

end,  to the Chairperson,  in fact ,  I  acknowledge that  th is was 

wrong.   Then I  do not  need to go through the long process of  

put t ing to you var ious documents and saying is th is correct  

or not .  

 I f  you say,  I  agree and I  accept  that  unintent ional ly I  d id  
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something,  then at  least  we know that .   I f ,  on the other hand,  

you say that  part icular cont ract  was awarded.  Absolutely,  i t  

was squeaky clean.   There is  nothing to accept  was 

i rregular.   Then we know that  that  may requi re a bi t  more 

detai l .  

 I f  there is something in  the middle category,  then we 

know that  too.   So i f  you do not  mind,  subject  to the 

guidance of  the Chai r,  I  would l ike to start  wi th that  and then 

we are going to go into deal  wi th each cont ract  to the extent  

that  we need to.  10 

MR BURGER :    Okay.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Was there in  relat ion to the Hoefyster  

Plat form Hul ls Contract  – what is the bot tom-l ine there?  Do 

you accept  that  there was anything wrong about i t  or that  

there was nothing wrong about i t  or you are not  sure? 

MR BURGER :    I  wi l l  g ive a l i t t le  bi t  more detai l .   I  th ink 

when i t  came to the whole evaluat ion,  my opinion was the 

fact  that  we went out  on mult i - tender and not  open tender,  I  

do not  th ink there was anything wrong with that .   I  could not  

see any other way of  doing that .    20 

ADV KENNEDY SC :    So that  is for the request  for off ice?  

The three suppl iers being asked to . . . [ intervenes]   

MR BURGER :    The three . . . [ intervenes]   

ADV KENNEDY SC :    . . . to submit  b ids.  

MR BURGER :    The three suppl iers . . . [ intervenes]   
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ADV KENNEDY SC :    Instead of  asking the ent i re nat ion,  an 

advert isement in the . . . [ intervenes]   

MR BURGER :    Exact ly.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Right .   So that  was acceptable,  you 

say? 

MR BURGER :    That  I  th ink was correct .   Through that  

process – you are going to get  there – but  I  d id informed VR 

Laser that  their  pr ice is r id icu lous.   They are not  ser ious 

about business,  you know.   

 And they did submit  an unsol ic i ted offer,  at  the t ime I  d id  10 

not  have group approval .   I t  was – i t  went  through the 

process.   I t  was decided but  I  thought at  the t ime, that  is the 

only way to reduce the pr ice but  I  do accept  that  that  should 

not  have been done.  

 But  i f  I  d id not  do that ,  the pr ice would not  have been 

acceptable.   I  am sure of  that .   So I  accept  that  that  was 

wrong.  

 When i t  comes the Single Source Agreement.   I ,  and I  

hope,  just  to state,  that  I  – as t ime went on,  I  started 

real is ing the process given the new legislat ion and the new 20 

pol ic ies at  Denel ,  the process was not  hundred percent  

correct .    

 Only recent ly,  I  s tarted real is ing that  there could have 

even been a leg is lat ive issue but  at  the t ime, I  d id not  know 

that  at  a l l .   So those were the only two,  I  th ink,  were real ly 
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substant ia l  to ta lk  about .  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    The Denel  Asia Project  and 

t ransact ion? 

MR BURGER :    I  do not  know.  I  was not  involved Chair  in 

the decision,  in the mot ivat ion thereof ,  in the logic  thereof  

and in the f inal  appl icat ion.   My legal  person did support  

head off ice to wri te papers but  I  was not  int imately involved 

in that .   So I  do not  know.  I  do not  know.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    A l r ight .   Let  us – and there are some 

other t ransact ion we may have to come back to but  I  agree 10 

that  these are the pr imary area of  focus as wi l l  be apparent  

f rom the evidence that  the Chai r  and you have al ready heard 

f rom other wi tnesses.  

 So let  us go back to the P lat form Hul ls deal .   That  

re lated to 217 or perhaps a few less than of  these part icular  

armoured vehicles and that  was a contract  suppl ied by. . .  

 Sorry,  those were products to be suppl ied by VR Laser  

to DLS.  Is that  correct? 

MR BURGER :    That  is correct ,  Chai r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Right .   And you have ind icated that  20 

you fee l  that  there was nothing i r regular about  go ing out  for  

s imple three bidders rather than going out  into the open 

marketplace.   And you have sa id that  you have expla ined the 

reason that  the defence indust ry is  not  appropriate to go out  

wi th th is sort  of  product  in an open tender process.   Now 
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. . . [ intervenes]   

MR BURGER :    That  is correct ,  Chai r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Now there are di fferent  schools of  

thought about  that  and there could be a debate about that  

f rom a legal  point  of  v iew.  I  am not  going to spend any t ime 

on that  wi th you.    

CHAIRPERSON :    Sorry,  Mr Kennedy.   But  I  do want him to 

enl ighten me on h is th inking wi th regard to what he has sa id,  

namely in the defence industry you cannot invi te the whole 

world.    10 

 Is the quest ion not  whether the Supply Chain Pol icy,  the 

procurement pol icy,  whether i t  a l lows you to do that  or  not?  

 In other words,  i f  the procurement pol icy does not  do 

what you think is the way this th ing should be done, you are 

not  f ree to do th ings your own way.   You must  comply wi th 

the rules.  

 So,  is the quest ion not  whether i t  was permit ted to do i t  

that  way,  namely just  go for certain quotat ions f rom certain  

ident i f ied suppl iers or whether i t  was not  permit ted? 

MR BURGER :    Point  taken,  Chai r.  20 

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

MR BURGER :    You are r ight .   But  in my mind,  the Denel  

Procurement Pol ic ies al lowed for mult i - tender and not  for  

open tender.   So in my mind,  i t  was al lowed.  Whether that  

was const i tut ional ly correct ,  that  is another matter.  
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CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

MR BURGER :    And I  cannot comment on that .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes,  yes.  

MR BURGER :    But  in  my mind,  i t  was f rom a Denel  

perspect ive a l lowed.   

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay.   I  take i t  that  you – that  must  mean 

you did have – you have had a look at  Denel ’s  pol icy and 

there is something there that  made you think i t  is al lowed.  

So in other words,  you can point  me to speci f ic areas in the 

pol icy to say,  th is  is what made me think this was al lowed.  10 

Or are you basing i t  on pract ise?   

 Because I  just  need to know whether your view that  i t  

was al lowed is based on you having appl ied your mind to the 

pol icy and seen something that  you interpreted as al lowing 

this.  

 Or  whether i t  is because you know of  a  certain pract ise 

at  Denel  that  th ings were done in th is way and that  gave you 

the impression that  i t  was a l lowed, which may not  

necessari ly be what the pol icy said.  

MR BURGER :    Chai r,  I  d id not  study the pol icy to that  effect  20 

to be an expert  on exact ly what i t  says.   I t  was my 

percept ion based on how things were done and who 

complaint  and who did not  complain.   So that  was my opinion 

at  the t ime. 

CHAIRPERSON :    With regard to that  answer.   I t  a lso 
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becomes important  to establ ish whether there was a pract ise 

in which this is – th ings were done this way and that  is part  

of  what may have inf luenced your view.  

 Or whether there was no pract ise of  doing things that  

way but  in your own thinking,  maybe because this  was the 

defence indust ry and i t  has certain dynamics.  

 Based on your own thinking you though there should be 

nothing wrong with doing things this way.   Which one is i t?  

MR BURGER :    Chai r,  I  based my opinion,  then and now,  on 

the fact  that  we should have gone out  on mult i - tenders.   10 

Whenever we went out  on mult i - tender,  i t  was accepted by 

al l .    

 And i f  we do not  go out  on mult i - tender and went for  

s ingle source,  there needed to be very compel l ing reasons 

and/or a sing le source agreement or whatever the case may 

be.  

 But  that  is f rom my perspect ive and speaking for mysel f ,  

was inf luenced by how i t  was done and the advice I  was 

given and not  s i t t ing down and studying the pol icy mysel f .   

That  I  d id not  do.  20 

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay al r ight .   Thank you.    

ADV KENNEDY SC :    I f  I  can take you Mr Burger to the 

actual  SCM Pol icy of  Denel .   Just  put  aside for a moment the 

f i le that  contains your aff idavi t .   And i f  you just  refer  to the 

box behind you of  volumes?  I f  you can please look for Denel  
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Bundle 1? 

MR BURGER :    [Speaker away f rom microphone – unclear]  

CHAIRPERSON :    Mr Kennedy,  I  do not  know whether i t  

might  be a good idea to adjourn and you di rect  him to 

whatever you want him to read.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Thank you.  

CHAIRPERSON :    And then he can read i t  dur ing the lunch 

break.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Thank you,  Chai r.  

CHAIRPERSON :    And when we come back,  he knows 10 

exact ly.   Is that  f ine? 

ADV KENNEDY SC :    I  am happy to  do that  Chai r.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Then let  us do i t  that  way.   I t  is about  hal f  

a minute to one.   So we wi l l  resume at  two.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Thank you,  Chai r.  

CHAIRPERSON :    We adjourn.  

INQUIRY ADJOURNS 

INQUIRY RESUMES  

CHAIRPERSON:    Le t  us  cont inue.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Thank you,  Cha i r.   Cha i r,  du r ing  the  20 

lunch ad journment  I  d rew the  a t ten t ion  o f  Mr  Burger  to  two 

vers ions o f  the  procurement  po l i cy  o f  Dene l .   Mr  Burger,  do  

you have ava i lab le  there  the  f i rs t  bund le ,  bund le  1?  

MR BURGER:    I  do  have,  Cha i r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    I  re fe r red  you f i rs t  to  page 735.  
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MR BURGER:    I  have got  i t ,  Cha i r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    And tha t  i s  the  company po l i cy  on  

procu rement  o f  -  the  e f fec t i ve  da te  you w i l l  see  on page 

735,  the  25  August  2008 and the  o ther  one tha t  I  d rew your  

a t ten t ion  to  i s  a t  page –  in  the  same bund le ,  page 827.  

MR BURGER:    I  have got  i t ,  Cha i r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    That  seems to  be  the  next  ve rs ion  o f  

the  supp ly  cha in  management  po l i cy  tha t  became – tha t  

was e f fec t i ve  f rom 19 November  2014.  

MR BURGER:    That  i s  co r rec t ,  Cha i r.  10 

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Now,  I  as  I  unders tand i t ,  the  second  

po l i cy  coming in to  e f fec t  on ly  in  November  2014 d id  no t  

app ly  to  the  procurement  o f  the  p la t fo rm hu l l s  tha t  took 

p lace ea r l ie r  in  2014,  i s  tha t  co r rec t?  

MR BURGER:    That  i s  co r rec t ,  Cha i r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    So  i f  we go back to  page  735 i t  

seems to  me tha t  there  was no th ing  to  spec i f i c  as  to  

whethe r  i t  shou ld  be  a  pub l i c  t ender,  an  open  tender  

adver t i sed in  the  med ia  fo r  anybody and eve rybody to  

tender  …[ in tervenes]  20 

CHAIRPERSON:    One second,  Mr  Kennedy,  I  have not  go t  

ye t  where  you are .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Page 735,  bund le  1 .  

CHAIRPERSON:    I s  i t  in  another  bund le ,  no t  the  one tha t  

has go t  …[ in tervenes]  
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ADV KENNEDY SC:    I  am sor ry,  Cha i r,  I  ind ica ted  i t  i s  

bund le  1 .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Perhaps your  reg is t ra r  has no t  –  

does not  have i t .   I t  looks  l i ke  he  is  s t i l l  t ry ing  to  f ind  i t .   I  

beg your  pa rdon,  Cha i r,  I  d id  no t  no t ice .  

CHAIRPERSON:    No,  tha t  i s  f ine .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    So ,  Mr  Burger,  a re  we agreed tha t  

the  po l i cy  a t  page 735 is  the  one tha t  app l ied  a t  the  t ime? 

MR BURGER:    That  i s  co r rec t ,  Cha i r.  10 

ADV KENNEDY SC:    That  i s  a t  the  t ime o f  the  p la t fo rm  

hu l l  cont rac t  and  i t  appears  to  us  tha t  there  was noth ing  

spec i f i c  to  say whethe r  you had  to  go  ou t  on  a  pub l i c ly  

adver t i sed tender,  an  open tender  o r  whethe r  th ree  quotes  

in  an  RFQ process was requ i red .  

MR BURGER:    That  i s  co r rec t ,  Cha i r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    R igh t .   Now you made an impor tan t  

po in t  …[ in te rvenes]  

CHAIRPERSON:    A re  you ab le  to  te l l  me wh ich  pa r t i cu la r  

c lause or  c lauses  appear  to  be  the  re levant  ones?  20 

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Wi th  respect ,  there  does no t  appear  

to  be  anyth ing  tha t  dea ls  w i th  …[ in tervenes]  

CHAIRPERSON:    Oh,  i s  there  no th ing  tha t  ta lks  about  how 

tenders  are  supposed to  be  hand led?  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    No,  no t  in  th is  …[ in tervenes]  
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CHAIRPERSON:    Not  on  th is  one.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    No.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Oh.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    In  the  l a te r  vers ion  the re  is  bu t  tha t  

was not  app l i cab le  a t  the  t ime.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Oh,  okay.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Now Mr  Burger  you made an 

impor tan t  po in t  ear l ie r  tha t ,  o f  course ,  you cannot  say  

whethe r  th is  par t i cu la r  po l i cy  o r  any o f  the  po l i c ies  o f  

Dene l  necessar i l y,  as  you put  i t ,  compl ied  w i th  the  10 

Const i tu t ion  and presumably  a lso  you mean wi th  the  PFMA 

and the  Treasury  regu la t ions,  i s  tha t  r igh t?  

MR BURGER:    That  i s  r igh t ,  Cha i r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    That  i s  no t  your  a rea o f  exper t i se ,  

you have areas o f  exper t i se  e lsewhere  and p resumably  you  

wou ld  re ly  on  your  co l leagues a t  Dene l  to  ensure  your  

supp ly  cha in  management  co l leagues and your  f inance  

co l leagues,  e tce tera ,  to  dea l  w i th  tha t .  

MR BURGER:    I f  I  may add,  Cha i r,  we a lso  had our  own  

lega l  depar tment  and these were  co l lec t i ve  dec is ions.  20 

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Sor ry,  these were?  

MR BURGER:    Co l lec t i ve  dec is ions.   

ADV KENNEDY SC:    R igh t .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Wel l ,  you  see,  my expecta t ion  is  tha t  

peop le  who occupy pos i t ions  w i th in  the  pub l i c  serv i ce ,  
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SOEs,  government  depar tments ,  f rom a  cer ta in  leve l  o f  

sen ior i t y  they wou ld  a t  leas t  have  an idea o f  what  k ind  o f  

leg is la t ion  or  regu la t ions app ly  to  the i r  bus iness or  to  what  

they have to  do .   They might  no t  be  exper ts  o r  spec ia l i s ts  

bu t  they wou ld  have some idea and wou ld  know who to  

consu l t  i f  they  were  no t  sure  or  i f  they  wanted to  know 

what  the  pos i t ion  is .   That  i s ,  to  consu l t  somebody some  

peop le  l i ke  those  who a re  in  the  supp ly  cha in  management  

depar tment  in  the  organ isa t ion  o r  the  lega l  depar tment  in  

the  organ isa t ion  or  even outs ide ,  lawyers ,  you know,  where  10 

i t  i s  deemed necessary.  

 Now I  wou ld  have expected  tha t  somebody  

occupy ing  the  pos i t ion  o f  CEO in  DLS,  such as  yourse l f ,  

wou ld  have an  idea tha t  we l l ,  PFMA or  maybe even 

Treasury  ins t ruc t ions,  you know,  th is  i s  what  i t  says  bu t  

whethe r  i t  –  how and  when i t  app l ies  in  cer ta in  s i t ua t ions 

you might  need adv i ce  f rom the  exper t s  o r  spec ia l i s t  bu t  I  

wou ld  expect  tha t  you wou ld  have an idea.   I s  tha t  an  

un fa i r  expecta t ion?  

MR BURGER:    Cha i r,  i t  i s  no t  an  un fa i r  expecta t ion  a t  a l l .   20 

I  th ink  you a re  r i gh t .   The prob lem here ,  however,  was tha t  

th is  was in  a  t rans i t ion  pe r iod ,  th ings –  the  Nat iona l  

Treasury  and i t s  re la t ions  changed and we were  runn ing  a t  

300 k i lomet res  an  hour  and in  a l l  honesty,  tha t  was  not  the  

focus o f  a  person l i ke  me but  your  po in t  tha t  a  person 
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work ing  in  an  SOC shou ld  have a  fa i r  op in ion ,  I  have got  

no  argument  about  tha t ,  I  th ink  i t  is  a  fa i r  comment .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.   And I  wou ld  th ink  tha t  by,  you 

know,  2010,  2014  tha t  wou ld  have  been a  pe r iod  by  wh ich  

par t i cu la r  peop le  a t  cer ta in  sen ior  pos i t ions  in  SOEs wou ld  

know tha t  there  are  a lways issues about  compl iance w i th  

PFMA and procu rement  po l i c ies  and so  on  in  regard  to  

government  depar tments  and SOEs so  tha t  they wou ld  be ,  I  

wou ld  th ink ,  much more  care fu l  to  say,  you know,  we do not  

want  to  do  anyth ing  wrong,  there fore ,  i f  we are  no t  sure ,  10 

le t  us  ca l l  in  supp ly  cha in  management  peop le  o r  lega l  

depar tment ,  te l l  us ,  a re  we go ing  the  r igh t  d i rec t ion ,  a re  

we are  no t  go ing  to  be  in  b reach o f  anyth ing?  That  wou ld  

be  a l so  anothe r  expecta t ion  I  wou ld  have.   What  wou ld  you  

say about  tha t  pa r t  o f  the  expecta t ion?  

MR BURGER:    Cha i r,  I  repeat ,  your  comments  a re  va l id  

bu t  we were  runn ing  not  a  depar tment ,  we a re  runn ing  a  

bus iness.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

MR BURGER:    And in  a l l  honesty,  the  f i res  …[ in tervenes]  20 

CHAIRPERSON:    The focus was …[ in tervenes]  

MR BURGER:    Ja ,  the  focus was on d i f fe ren t  a reas .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

MR BURGER:    Try  to  de l i ver  the  –  to  ge t  an  order,  to  keep 

the  c l ien t  sa t is f ied  and so  on .  
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CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

MR BURGER:    Those were  the  issues tha t  kept  me awake 

a t  n igh t .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.   Yes,  yes .  

MR BURGER:    I t  was not  p rocurement  po l i cy.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  ja .  

MR BURGER:    And I  unders tand  i t  i s  wrong,  I  unders tand 

tha t .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  yes .  

MR BURGER:    Bu t  tha t  was not  my focus.  10 

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja .   Okay,  a l r igh t .   Thank you.   Mr 

Kennedy?  Swi tch  on  your  m ic ,  Mr  Kennedy.   Ja .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    I  am sor ry,  Cha i r.   I  unders tand your  

concern  tha t  th ings were  go ing  -  were  hav ing  to  move fas t  

and one o f  your  ob jec t i ves  f rom a  bus iness po in t  o f  v iew to  

deve lop  the  bus iness o f  Dene l  and advance the  in te res ts  o f  

i t s  shareho lde r  was to  ach ieve bus iness oppor tun i t ies  no t  

lose  them and no t  ge t  bogged down.   But  wou ld  you  accept  

tha t  i t  s t i l l  had to  be  done lawfu l l y?  

MR BURGER:    I  do ,  Cha i r.  20 

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Yes.   

MR BURGER:    I  do .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Now –  so ,  i f  I  may,  I  wou ld  l i ke  to  

move away f rom the  issue as  to  whether  i t  was appropr ia te  

fo r  you to  go  ou t  fo r  more  than jus t  the  th ree  b ids  tha t  
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were  inv i ted .   You ind i ca ted  tha t  you fee l  w i th  the  benef i t  

o f  h inds igh t  and  hav ing  hear  the  o ther  w i tnesses  tha t  i t  

was inappropr ia te  fo r  you to  have conducted negot ia t ions  

w i th  VR Laser  a f te r  i t  submi t ted  i t s  p r ice  to  negot ia te  a  

reduct ion  in  the  p r ice ,  i s  tha t  co r rec t?    

MR BURGER:    I  accept  tha t  under  ru les  i t  was inco r rec t .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Yes.   Now have you heard  the  

ev idence and seen the  documents  tha t  show tha t  when the  

RFQ process was fo l lowed and the  quota t ions  or  the  b ids  

were  rece ived f rom the  th ree  ent i t ies ,  the  two o f  par t i cu la r  10 

re levance,  be ing  VR Laser  and LMT,  were  very  fa r  apar t .   

The cost  o f  the  i tems in  quest ion  tha t  LMT was b idd ing  fo r  

wou ld  have invo lved approx imate ly  150 mi l l ion ,  is  tha t  

cor rec t?   

MR BURGER:    I  cannot  reca l l ,  I  thought  i t  was a  l i t t le  b i t  

h igher  than 150,  bu t  I  w i l l  no t  a rgue.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    And the  amount  fo r  VR Laser  was 

approx imate l y  260 mi l l ion .  

MR BURGER:    Cor rec t ,  Cha i r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Yes.   And we w i l l  look  a t ,  in  a 20 

moment ,  a t  the  memorandums tha t  came f rom Ms 

Malah le la ’s  o f f i ce  bu t  what  was then dec ided,  as  I  

unders tand i t ,  by  your  management  commi t tee  a t  the 

reg iona l  leve l ,  the  DLS leve l ,  was tha t  you  shou ld  

approach VR Laser  to  negot ia te  a  reduct ion  in  p r ice ,  i s  that  
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r igh t?  

MR BURGER:    Not  exact ly  cor rec t ,  Cha i r.   What  happened 

was –  and I  accept  by  say ing  th is  tha t  we are  go ing  to  ge t  

to  the  po in t  why  I  was so  adamant  about  VR Laser  bu t  

accept ing  tha t  fo r  a  moment ,  I  was  approached by  bo th  Mr  

Reenen Teubes and Ms Malah le la  to  say –  and a t  tha t  t ime 

both  o f  them suppor ted  VR Laser.   They however  sa id  tha t  

the  pr ice  i s  a  rea l  p rob lem for  the  budget .   My quest ion  

was,  d id  they w in  the  compet i t ion  fa i r l y  and square ly  

regard less  o f  the  pr ice  and they sa id  yes and I  sa id  we l l ,  10 

leave i t  to  me,  I  w i l l  see  what  I  can do.  

So i t  was not  an  in i t ia t i ve  tha t  came f rom me,  i t  was  

an in i t ia t i ve  tha t  sa id  th is  i s  the  pre fer red  supp l ie r,  the  

pr ice  i s  h igh  and  what  I  then d id  i s  I  d id  no t  ge t  in  my car  

take  peop le  and  drove there  and go  and s i t  down and 

negot ia te .   Or ig ina l l y  i t  was so  un impor tan t  tha t  I  d id  no t  

even rea l l y  remembered i t  bu t  hear ing  a l l  the  ev idence,  I  

reco l lec t  tha t  I  phoned VR Laser  and I  cannot  remember  

my words bu t  I  sa id  someth ing  to  the  e f fec t  o f  you are  

obv ious ly  no t  ser ious about  do ing  bus iness w i th  us ,  I  20 

mean,  your  p r i ce  i s  r id icu lous,  goodbye.   

That  was the  ex ten t  o f  my negot ia t ion .   So I  was  

hop ing ,  I  must  be  honest  w i th  you,  I  was hop ing  tha t  they  

w i l l  see  the  l igh t  and do someth ing  p roper  and get  –  and 

what  subsequent l y  happened was they d id  so l i c i t  another  



12 NOVEMBER 2020 – DAY 305 
 

Page 117 of 246 
 

p roposa l .  

Cha i r,  a t  the  t ime I  was conv inced i f  I  d id  no t  take  

the  oppor tun i ty  t hen and i f  I  wa i ted  un t i l  a f te r  the  process 

was comple ted  and eve rybody tha t  was invo lved sa id  no ,  i t  

i s  okay,  le t  us  cont rac t  VR Laser,  tha t  they wou ld  have 

known about  tha t  long before  i t .   I t  i s  jus t  how peop le  ta lk  

too  much.   And I  wou ld  have had no bas is  o f  negot ia t ing  a  

proper  p r ice .   The pr ice  was unacceptab le .  

So the  po l i cy  –  and I  d id  no t  know i t  then because 

what  I  thought  a t  the  t ime was  because they were  the  10 

number  one supp l ie r,  I  had the  r i gh t  -  and I  thought  they 

were  go ing  to  w in  and I  had the  r igh t ,  they  were  the  

recommended one,  to  negot ia te  w i th  them.   But  I  d id  no t  

negot ia te ,  I  jus t  sa id  your  p r i ce  i s  r id icu lous and tha t  

fo rmed the  bas is  to  negot ia te  la te r  on .   I  had -  as  a  mat te r  

o f  fac t ,  i t  i s  no t  tha t  I  even argued  w i th  Ms Malah le la  about  

no t  pu t t ing  tha t ,  I  suppor ted  i t ,  to  no t  in  the  mot iva t ion  pu t  

the  reduced p r ice  in .   But  i f  we d id  no t  do  tha t ,  Cha i r,  there  

wou ld  no t  have been an oppor tun i ty  to  reduce the  pr ice .   

Why wou ld  they i f  they  knew tha t  they were  go ing  to  ge t  20 

the  work?    

So tha t  was the  reason ing  but  I  accept  tha t  po l i cy  

s ta tes  f i rs t  award ,  then negot ia te ,  I  unders tand tha t .  

CHAIRPERSON:    So  wou ld  i t  be  cor rec t  to  say you accept  

tha t  you may have or  you d id  do  someth ing  tha t  was not  
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app ropr ia te  bu t  you be l ieve  tha t  u l t imate ly  you were  do ing  

i t  fo r  the  good o f  Dene l?  

MR BURGER:    We saved mi l l ions  o f  tha t  s ing le  phone ca l l ,  

Cha i r.   So I  t ru ly  be l ieve  tha t .   I  s t i l l  be l ieve  tha t  i f  I  d id  

no t  do  tha t ,  the  pr ice  wou ld  have  been much more .   So I  

honest ly  be l ieved  i t  was fo r  the  best  o f  Dene l .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Wel l ,  o f  course  the  who le  f ramework ,  i f  

one uses the  procurement  p rocesses,  they are  meant  to  

u l t imate ly  ach ieve what  i s  in  the  i n te res ts  o f  the  company,  

work ing  w i th in  the  f ramework and not  ou ts ide .   And not  10 

ou ts ide ,  so  you accept  tha t?  

MR BURGER:    I  unders tood.   I  unders tood,  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  yes .  

MR BURGER:    I  am not  a rgu ing .  

CHAIRPERSON:    And tha t  there  i s  a  reason fo r,  so  to  

speak,  bann ing  any ou ts ide  ro le  o ther  than w i th in  the  

f ramework .   In  o ther  words,  the  f ramework ,  what  d id  the  

company expect?   I s  tha t  a l l  ro le  p laye rs  w i l l  work  w i th in  

the  f ramework  and not  ou ts ide  and i t  wou ld  d i scourage  

anybody f rom go ing  outs ide  to  say whatever  your  20 

susp ic ions or  whatever,  work  w i th in  the  f ramework because 

those who have put  the  f ramework together  be l ieve  tha t  

tha t  i s  the  best  way o f  hand l ing  these mat te rs .   You wou ld  

accept  tha t?  

MR BURGER:    I  w i l l  accept  tha t ,  Cha i r.  
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CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

MR BURGER:    Bu t  I  want  to  add tha t  when we had tha t  

d iscuss ion  –  and  I  sa id  le t  me do  someth ing  about  th is ,  I  

w i l l  t ry  ou ts ide  the  procurement  po l i cy,  nobody sa id  o i ,  you  

cannot  do  th is .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

MR BURGER:    Th is  i s  a  p rob lem.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

MR BURGER:    Everybody around tha t  tab le  wanted  to  see 

the  pr i ce  reduced ,  so  and -  bu t  your  po in t  i s  taken,  Cha i r,  10 

one hundred percent ,  no  argument .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  Mr  Kennedy?  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Thank you,  Cha i r.   I  want  to  go  back  

to  a  po in t  tha t  the  learned Cha i r  ra ised w i th  you ea r l ie r  and  

tha t  i s  what  i s  expected o f  a  CEO such as  yourse l f  a t  DLS.   

Le t  us  accept  fo r  a  moment  tha t  you r  co l leagues a l so  

wanted VR Laser  and le t  us  accept  fo r  a  moment  tha t  

nobody ra ised any ob jec t ion  to  your  go ing  to  negot ia te  and  

le t  us  accept  fo r  a  moment  tha t  you were  s imp ly  genu ine ly  

want ing  to  benef i t  Dene l  by  ge t t ing  a  reduct ion  i n  p r i ce ,  20 

sure ly  as  par t  o f  your  funct ions and  respons ib i l i t i es  and 

dut ies  as  CEO,  was not  s imp ly  to  ge t  the  best  p r ice  fo r  

Dene l  bu t  a lso  to  comply  w i th  the  ru les ,  the  law and the  

ru les  in te rna l l y  w i th in  Dene l  as  to  how pr ices  wou ld  be  

ach ieved and they were  to  be  ach ieved in  terms o f  
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p rescr ibe  procedure .   Now whether  you l i ked  the  ru les  or  

no t ,  you were  bound by  those procedures,  no t  so?  

MR BURGER:    Cha i r,  I  have conceded to  th is  po in t ,  yes .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Yes,  yes .   I t  jus t  seems to  me,  Mr  

Burger,  i s  tha t  i t  may have been i r respons ib le  o f  you not  to  

go  –  sor ry,  to  go  ahead and nego t ia te  w i th  them when in  

fac t  the  ru les  d id  no t  permi t  i t ,  as  you now acknow ledge.   

Why d id  you no t  take  the  t roub le  to  f ind  ou t  the  ru les  

be forehand or  ask  peop le  who might  have had a  b i t  more  

exper t i se ,  fo r  example  Ms Malah le la  o r  Mr  Mlambo a t  head  10 

o f f i ce  leve l?  

MR BURGER:    I  repeat ,  Ms Malah le la  was in  tha t  meet ing .  

When I  made tha t  phone ca l l  I  d id  no t  be l ieve  tha t  I  was  

t ransgress ing  a t  the  t ime.   I  can now see by  the  –  bu t  a t  

the  t ime… 

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Yes.  

MR BURGER:    And,  Cha i r,  yes ,  I  have conceded  to  tha t  

po in t ,  I  shou ld  have taken the  t roub le .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  yes .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Now one o f  the  prob lems was tha t  20 

you had a  l im i ted  budget  fo r  these i tems,  no t  so?  

MR BURGER:    Cor rec t ,  Cha i r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Can you reca l l  what  tha t  budget  was?  

MR BURGER:    I  cannot  reca l l  exact ly,  i t  was around a  

m i l l ion  rand per  hu l l .  
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ADV KENNEDY SC:   A m i l l ion  rand  per  hu l l  and there  were  

about  200 o f  them,  so  i t  was abou t  200 mi l l ion .   In  fac t  tha t  

i s  rough ly  the  f igure  as  we have seen in  ear l ie r  ev idence.   

MR BURGER:    Cor rec t .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Now was the re  no t  a lso  another  i ssue 

tha t  you had to  cons ide r  and tha t  i s  in  te rms  o f  the  

de legat ion  o f  au thor i t y,  you on ly  had author i t y  up  to  a  

cer ta in  po in t ,  no t  so?  

MR BURGER:    Cor rec t ,  Cha i r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    A t  d iv is iona l  leve l .   You may have  10 

wanted a  lo t  more  because o f  the  decent ra l i sa t ion  

advantages tha t  you have argued fo r  ear l ie r  be fore  the  

Cha i r  bu t  you had to  l i ve  w i th  the  fac t  tha t  the  de legat ion  

o f  au thor i t y  then l im i ted  your  au tho r i t y,  no t  so?  

MR BURGER:    Cor rec t ,  Cha i r,  bu t  I  d id  no t  have a  p rob lem 

wi th  the  de legat ions a t  tha t  po in t .   I  was not  compla in ing  

about  the  de legat ion .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Okay,  jus t  hear  me out ,  i f  you  wou ld?   

Now,  as  i t  happens,  the  l im i t  o f  au thor i t y  in  re la t ion  to  a  

cont rac t  o f  th is  sor t  o f  o rde r,  in  fac t  there  was a  d i f fe rence  20 

between cont rac ts  under  200 mi l l ion  and cont rac t s  o f  o r  

above 200 mi l l ion  and in  the  case o f  cont rac ts  above 200 

mi l l ion  you wou ld  have requ i red  the  fu l l  board  o f  Dene l  

head o f f i ce  to  approve th is ,  no t  so?  

MR BURGER:    Cor rec t ,  Cha i r.  
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ADV KENNEDY SC:    Anyth ing  above a  cer ta in  l im i t  bu t  

be low 200 mi l l ion  wou ld  be  sub jec t  to  approva l  by  the  

GCEO,  the  Group  CEO.  

MR BURGER:    Cor rec t ,  Cha i r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Was the  negot ia t ion  to  b r ing  down 

the  pr i ce ,  d id  tha t  have anyth ing  to  do  w i th  any a t tempt  to  

t ry  and avo id  hav ing  to  pu t  the  mat te r  be fo re  the  who le  

board ,  perhaps in  the  in te res t  o f  be ing  qu ick  so  you  d id  no t  

have to  wa i t  fo r  the  next  board  or  whatever?  

MR BURGER:    Cha i r,  I  want  to  re jec t  tha t  no t ion  to ta l l y.   10 

That  was not  even remote ly  in  ou r  m inds a t  the  t ime.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Were  you  even aware  o f  the  200  

mi l l ion  l im i t?  

MR BURGER:    Probab ly.   P robab ly  a t  the  t ime,  Cha i r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Do you accept  now tha t  a t  leas t  w i th  

the  benef i t  o f  h inds igh t  tha t  i f  you  are  go ing  to  fo l low some 

sor t  o f  compet i t ive  process as  you d id  here  to  a  l im i ted  

ex ten t  by  inv i t ing  th ree  b ids  and whethe r  tha t  was  enough  

or  whethe r  you wanted -   a  fu l l  tender  we have  a l ready  

dea l t  w i th ,  I  am not  go ing  to  go  back on  tha t ,  bu t  do  you 20 

now accept  w i th  benef i t  o f  h inds igh t  tha t  i f  a  p rocess is  in  

fac t  compet i t i ve  such as  a  th ree  ent i t y  b idder  p rocess  

where  you go out  w i th  a  reques t  fo r  quotes  f rom three  

b idders ,  do  you accept  tha t  you have to  be  fa i r  as  be tween 

a l l  th ree  b idders?  
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MR BURGER:    Abso lu te ly,  Cha i r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Yes.   Now what  happened here  was 

tha t  you o r  you r  s ta f f  went  ou t  w i th  an  RFQ,  p resumably  

no t  you,  you d id  no t  i ssue i t  you rse l f ,  i s  tha t  r igh t?  

MR BURGER:    Cor rec t ,  Cha i r.   

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Bu t  you were  aware  o f  the  process,  

no t  so ,  tha t  i t  went  ou t  on  an  RFQ to  th ree  b idders .    

MR BURGER:    I  was aware ,  Cha i r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    And each o f  them submi t ted  b ids?  

MR BURGER:    I  was aware  o f  i t ,  Cha i r.  10 

ADV KENNEDY SC:    And you are  aware  tha t  i t  was about  

160 mi l l ion  fo r  LMT,  a  l i t t le  b i t  less ,  in  fac t ,  and a round 260 

mi l l ion  f rom VR Laser?  

MR BURGER:    Cor rec t ,  Cha i r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    We have a l ready dea l t  w i th  tha t .   

Now was i t  no t  –  do  you accept  now the  w isdom and the  

need to  –  i f  you  are  go ing  to  a l low any pa r ty  to  rev ise  i t s  

p r ice ,  i f  you  are  a l lowed to  do  tha t  a t  a l l ,  you  cannot  se lec t  

one pa r ty  to  have  tha t  oppor tun i ty  where  the  o thers  are  no t  

se lec ted ,  no t  so?  20 

MR BURGER:    Cha i r,  the  reason ing  a t  the  t ime was ,  in  our  

m inds they fa i r l y  won the  compet i t ion  a t  the i r  o r ig ina l  

p r ice .   That  and fo r  tha t  reason a lone d id  I  have the  gu ts  o r  

the  inc l i na t ion  to  contac t  them.   I f  they  d id  no t  w in  and i f  

they  were  second in  the  sca le ,  there  wou ld  have  been no  
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way tha t  I  wou ld  have phoned jus t  them to  t ry  and get  them 

a t  number  one and tha t  was the  reason why we –  why I  d id  

no t  even argue -  as  a  mat te r  fac t  I  suppor ted  the  fac t  tha t  

we cannot  use those improved pr ices  as  pa r t  o f  the  

eva lua t ion .   My  th ink ing  a t  the  t ime was there  was a  

recommendat ion ,  there  was a  mul t id isc ip l inary  team tha t  

was par t  o f  tha t  recommendat ion .   They came up to  an  

answer,  they came to  me and I  was fa i r l y  cer ta in  tha t  tha t  

recommendat ion  wou ld  be  approved by  Dene l  so  I  took  tha t  

oppor tun i ty  to  say can we not  squeeze the  fo r  a  be t te r  10 

pr ice .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    My quest ion  –  I  am so r ry,  have you  

f in ished?  

MR BURGER:    No,  I  th ink  I  have f in ished.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    My quest ion  is  –  and we w i l l  come 

back to  the  jus t i f i ca t ion  fo r  go ing  to  VR Laser  to  ge t  a  

p r ice  and I  unders tand your  po in t  tha t  you were  a im ing to  

ge t  a  be t te r  p r i ce  so  tha t  Dene l  wou ld  land up pay ing  less  

and  you wou ld  t hen  ach ieve the  ob jec t i ve  o f  ge t t ing  an  

acceptab le  product  a t  an  acceptab le  pr i ce  bu t  a t  the  20 

moment  I  am dea l ing  w i th  someth ing  d i f fe ren t  and tha t  i s  

th is .   There  is  a  compet i t ion  on  the  go  in  th is  RFQ p rocess,  

no t  so?  

MR BURGER:    Cor rec t ,  Cha i r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Yes and Dene l  has to  under take the  
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dec is ion  a t  the  end o f  tha t  compet i t ion  process by  

compar ing  the  th ree  quotes ,  no t  so? 

MR BURGER:    Cor rec t ,  Cha i r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Yes.   Now you d id  i n  fac t  a l low VR 

Laser  to  change i t s  p r ice  and i t  went  down f rom about  260  

mi l l ion  to  195 mi l l ion ,  cor rec t?  

MR BURGER:    Cor rec t ,  Cha i r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    And tha t  was  ach ieved,  you say,  jus t  

th rough a  phone ca l l .   

MR BURGER:    Cor rec t ,  Cha i r.  10 

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Wel l ,  e i ther  you have the  most  

remarkab le  ab i l i t y  to  be  persuas ive  in  a  phone ca l l  o r  the  

o ther  poss ib i l i t y  i s  tha t  VR Laser  had jus t  pu t  in  the i r  260-

odd mi l l ion  tender  reck less ly  and very  casua l l y  because  

they thought  th i s  i s  go ing  to  be  easy,  le t  us  make fa t  

p ro f i t s  ou t  o f  Dene l .   Which  one is  i t  o r  i s  there  a  

[ ind is t inc t ]  27 .12   tha t  I  have missed?  

MR BURGER:    I  w i l l  be  specu la t ing  on  the i r  beha l f  i f  I  

wou ld  g ive  an  op in ion  bu t  what  I  th ink  happened was tha t  

there  was a  f i rs t  round in  2012,  I  th ink  i t  was,  and  in  tha t  20 

f i rs t  round i t  was  fa i r l y  c lear  tha t  VR Laser  was the  most  

compet i t i ve  one.   

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Most  compet i t i ve  in  what  sense?  

MR BURGER:    In  te rms o f  p r i ce .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    In  te rms o f  p r ice?  
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MR BURGER:    The pr ice ,  yes .   And I  th ink  they were  

probab ly  a  l i t t le  b i t  res t ing  on  the i r  laure ls  in  te rms o f  

p r ice .   I  th ink  they thought  we have got  th is  in  the  bag.   I  

th ink .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Mr  Burger,  I  am not  t ry ing  to  be  

d i f f i cu l t  o r  to  ca tch  you out ,  I  am jus t  t ry ing  to  unders tand  

your  ev idence.   I  unders tand tha t  there  was an  ear l ie r  

p rocess in  wh ich  they were  asked to  g ive  some sor t  o f  

ind ica t ive  pr i ces  bu t  tha t  d id  no t  lead to  an  ac tua l  award ,  

i s  tha t  what  you a re  say ing?  10 

MR BURGER:    No,  i t  d id  no t .   No,  i t  d id  no t .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    I t  d id  no t  lead to  tha t .   And you say  

you th ink  tha t  they knew tha t  they were  probab ly  go ing  to  

ge t  i t  and you th ink  they then exp lo i ted  tha t  by  push ing  up 

the  pr i ce .   How wou ld  they have  thought  tha t  they were  

probab ly  go ing  to  ge t  an  award  o f  a  cont rac t  tha t  on ly  took  

p lace two years  la te r?   And how –  where  wou ld  they have 

got  tha t  in fo rmat ion  f rom? 

MR BURGER:    I  do  no t  know,  I  do  no t  know and I  say  

aga in ,  I  am specu la t ing ,  I  do  no t  know tha t  happened.   I  20 

know I  gave a  ve ry  angry  ca l l  to  VR Laser  and yes,  I  th ink 

they had to  sharpen the i r  penc i l s .  

CHAIRPERSON:    D id  you say lengthy  ca l l?  

MR BURGER:    Angry  ca l l ,  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Oh,  angry  ca l l .  
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MR BURGER:    Angry  ca l l .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja .   

ADV KENNEDY SC:    So  you were  angry  tha t  they had  

abused the i r  s i tua t ion  and come in  w i th  a  ra ther  cheeky  

h igh  p r ice?  

MR BURGER:    I  thought  the  pr ice  was too  h igh ,  Cha i r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Yes.   Now I  jus t  want  to  go  back as  

to  your  specu la t ion .   Obv ious l y  you are  no t  s ta t ing  th is  a  s  

a  mat te r  o f  fac t  and I  apprec ia te  tha t .  

MR BURGER:    Ja ,  I  do  no t  know.  10 

ADV KENNEDY SC:    You do not  have fac ts  to  back th is  

up .   

MR BURGER:    No.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Bu t ,  you see,  I  th ink  –  bu t  do  you 

apprec ia te  tha t  when Dene l  i s  an  en t i t y  tha t  was in  some 

f inanc ia l  d i f f i cu l ty  tha t  requ i red  ba i lou ts  f rom government  

to  ge t  i t  ou t  o f  i t s  f inanc ia l  d i f f i cu l t ies ,  where  you are  

dea l ing  w i th  vast  amounts  o f  pub l i c  money and where  there  

may have been,  even on your  own admiss ion ,  some 

breaches o f  the  law o f  p rocurement  po l i c i es  wh ich  a re  20 

b ind ing ,  and where  as  i t  happens la te r  i t  tu rns  ou t  tha t  one  

o f  the  –  tha t  the  supp l ie r  in  quest ion  ac tua l l y  has 

cont rovers ia l  l i nks .   Do you accept  tha t  i t  i s  appropr ia te  fo r  

the  pub l i c  and fo r  th is  Commiss ion  to  be  en t i t led  to  look  

in to  how i t  comes  about  tha t  a  supp l ie r  ge ts  bus iness?  
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MR BURGER:    No argument  Cha i r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    R igh t ,  so  when we look a t  th is  i t  i s  

impor tan t  to  unders tand  whether  th is  was  a  genu ine ly  f a i r  

and lega l  and honest  compet i t i ve  process,  no t  one in  wh ich  

there  may have been funny bus iness.  

 Now I  am not  say ing  tha t  there  was funny bus iness 

here ,  i t  i s  fo r  the  Cha i rperson to  dec ide  a t  a  la te r  s tage 

whethe r  there  was and to  what  ex ten t  bu t  the  Cha i r  i s  

en t i t led  to  look  in to  whether  then –  whethe r  there  is  a  

p roper  jus t i f i ca t ion  fo r  bus iness dec is ions.  10 

 Now there  is  a  cont roversy  tha t  i s  rag ing  in  the  

med ia  and in  the  pub l i c  debate  and so  fo r th ,  as  to  whethe r  

VR Laser  was ge t t ing  th is  and a  number  o f  o ther  l ucra t i ve  

cont rac ts  tha t  we  w i l l  dea l  w i th  in  a  moment ,  a t  leas t  the  

DLS cont rac t  you know about  and the  DVS cont rac t  tha t  

you were  no t  d i rec t l y  invo lved in .  

 There  is  concern  as  to  we l l  how was th is  jus t i f ied?   

Now i f  there  is  a  p roper  jus t i f i ca t ion  then one may be  

sa t is f ied  bu t  as  you have suggested ea r l ie r  the  Gup ta  l ink ,  

the  S ta te  Captu re  a l legat ions tha t  ac tua l l y  had no th ing  to  20 

do  w i th  i t .   As  you sa id  th is  was a  genu ine  bona f ide  lawfu l  

up  to  a  po in t  t ransact ion .  

MR BURGER:    Cor rec t  Cha i r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    And i f  i t  was  un lawfu l  tha t  was bona 

f ide  i t  was an overs igh t  i t  was  not  in tended to  favour  



12 NOVEMBER 2020 – DAY 305 
 

Page 129 of 246 
 

anybody.   Do you  unders tand where  we…[ in tervene]    

MR BURGER:    I  unders tand.   

ADV KENNEDY SC:    …what  the  grav i t y  o f  th is  and the  

ob jec t i ve  i s .   Now i t  jus t  seems to  me and in  fac t  some o f  

the  o ther  w i tnesses such as  Mr  M lambo have commented  

on th is ,  i t  jus t  seems to  me as an  outs ide r  a l though Mr  

Mlambo was an  ins ider  w i th  exper t i se  in  supp ly  cha in  

management  in  the  Dene l  contex t .    

He exp ressed rea l  concern  as  to  whether  in  fac t  th is   

was a  genu ine  t ransact ion  a t  a l l  and one o f  the  po in ts  tha t  10 

he  ra ised in  h is  ev idence before  the  lea rned Cha i r  was can 

one take ser ious ly  a  supp ly  tha t  comes in  w i th  R260 odd 

mi l l ion  as  i t s  in i t ia l  p r i ce  and then a f te r  a  negot ia t ion  

process happ i ly  b r ings i t  down or  maybe fee ls  tha t  i t  

shou ld  do  but  i t  u l t imate ly  vo lun ta r i l y  b r ings i t s  p r i ce  down 

to  a  R195mi l l ion .    

Now you te l l  us  tha t  took a  br ie f  conversa t ion  

admi t ted l y  one in  wh ich  you exp ressed a  tone o f  anger  bu t  

i t  jus t  seems to  me tha t  when you ta lk ing  about  such a  

mass ive  d i f fe rence in  p r i ce  someth ing  looks wrong,  20 

someth ing  smel l s  a  b i t  f i shy.   Do you unders tand the  

prob lem?         

MR BURGER:    Cha i r  i f  you  l ook  a t  the  f i rs t  i te ra t ion  o f  

p r ices  the  LMT p r ice  was doub le  the  one they quoted so  we  

were  use to  a  l i t t le  b i t  o f  f luc tua t ions in  the  pr i ce  tha t  i s  
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so .   I t  i s  –  tha t  was a  substant ia l  sav ing  and I  was very  

happy.   So I  th ink  the  supp l ie r  were  push ing  the  enve lope,  

I  th ink  so .   I  th ink  tha t  R260mi l l ion  was not  war ran ted.    

The issue here  fo r  me is  wha t  d id  we use to  

eva lua te  them and in  my mind tha t  was post  the  eva lua t ion 

they d id  come out  number  one and there fo re  I  had to  do  

someth ing  to  ge t  the  pr i ce  down.   But  Cha i r  tha t  i s  what  

happened and the  in ten t ion  was to  he lp  Dene l  –  o therwise  

why wou ld  I  want  to  ge t  the  pr ice  down,  what  o ther  reason  

can there  be  to  ge t  the  pr ice  down.    10 

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Wel l  tha t  i s  the  prob lem i f  I  may 

in te r rup t  and I  apo log ise  fo r  do ing  so  I  do  no t  mean to  be  

rude.   I s  tha t  no t  the  prob lem?   

The pub l i c  and the  Commiss ion  need rea l l y  to  know 

whethe r  th is  was a  genu ine  reduct i on  in  p r ice  no t  on ly  your  

own bona f ide ’s  bu t  whether  VR Laser  were  ac t ing  bona 

f ide  o r  whether  your  co l leagues in  Dene l  were  and so  even  

i f  one accepts  t ha t  you were  in  good fa i th  and  s imp ly  

ac t ing  in  the  in te res t  o f  Dene l ’s  t ry ing  to  b r ing  down the  

pr ice .   20 

Do you not  agree  tha t  th is  i s  a  d is tu rb ing  fea ture  o f   

those events  tha t  VR Laser  came in  w i th  what  you have 

sa id  i s  an  unacceptab ly  h igh  p r ice  and then magica l l y  jus t  

f rom a  shor t  o r  be  i t  angry  conversa t ion  you managed to  

cause them to  br i ng  down the i r  p r i ce  mass ive ly.       
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MR BURGER:    Cha i r  I  was under  the  impress ion  tha t  they 

a f te r  my d iscuss ion  w i th  them tha t  they were  no t  go ing  to  

ge t  the  bus iness and I  th ink  they wanted to  make  

sure…[ in te rvene]  

CHAIRPERSON:    That  they were  no t?  

MR BURGER:    That  they were  no t  go ing  to  ge t  the  

bus iness.   

CHAIRPERSON:    Oh,  yes .   

MR BURGER:    And tha t  i s  why the  reason why I  thought  

they came down substant ia l l y.   10 

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Yes,  now you have ment ioned tha t  

they were  c lear ly  so  su i ted  and they had been eva lua ted 

on the  bas i s  tha t  they were  be t te r  than LMT.   

MR BURGER:    Cor rec t ,  Cha i r.   

ADV KENNEDY SC:    A re  you aware  tha t  the  scor ing  tha t  

was done not  by  you but  an  eva lua t ion  team tha t  was 

appo in ted  in  te rms o f  the  Dene l  po l i cy  eva lua t ion  team 

assessed the  techn ica l  s ide  the  BBBEE s ide  and the  p r ice  

and LMT came w i th in  a  wh isker  in  te rms o f  sco r ing  o f  the  

scor ing  g iven by  the  eva lua t ion  team to  VR Laser.   I t  was 20 

less  than one percent  i t  was  about  zero  po in t  s ix  

percent…[ in tervene]    

MR BURGER:    Zero  po in t  seven percent .   

ADV KENNEDY SC:    …in  the  sco r ing .   

MR BURGER:    I  am aware  o f  i t  Cha i r.   
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ADV KENNEDY SC:    Yes,  and one o f  the  main  reasons 

why LMT d id  so  we l l  in  re la t ion  to  tha t  i ssue was because 

the i r  p r ice  was so  much bet te r,  cor rec t?  

MR BURGER:    Cor rec t  Cha i r.   

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Yes,  now why d id… 

CHAIRPERSON:    Wel l…[ in te rvene ]  

MR BURGER:    Sor ry  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay cont inue.  

MR BURGER:    Why d id  you then  not  take  th is  approach?   

I f  you  were  look ing  a t  th is  w i th  your  co l leagues  and a  10 

dec is ion  has to  be  made as  to  who as  the  par t y  to  whom 

the  tender  shou ld  be  awarded.   Does th is  no t  sound a  

log ica l  approach ;  we have two tendere rs  tha t  have an 

abso lu te l y  marg ina l  d i f fe rence less  than one percent  a  

neg l ig ib le  d i f fe rence I  am suggest ing  to  you.    

But  what  i s  huge ly  s ign i f i can t  i s  tha t  i f  we go LMT 

ra the r  than VR Laser  we go ing  to  save about  R100mi l l ion .   

Now does tha t  make sense to  you?  That  cou ld  have been  

an approach tha t  you cou ld  have adopted,  no  so?   

MR BURGER:    I f  we used the  or ig ina l  p r ice ,  i f  we 20 

cont rac ted  VR Laser  a t  the  or ig ina l  p r ice  the re  wou ld  have  

been but  the  d i lemma was there  was not  a  R100mi l ion .   I  

was not  p repared  to  pay R260mi l l ion…[ in tervene]   

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Cor rec t .   

MR BURGER:    …because there  was not  a  R100mi l l ion  
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lay ing  ava i lab le  to  do  cer ta in  th ings w i th .    

ADV KENNEDY SC:    You had a  budget  and you  had to  

work  w i th in  tha t  budget .   

MR BURGER:    Cor rec t .   

ADV KENNEDY SC:    R260mi l l ion  wou ld  have brought  them 

way out  o f  the  budget .   

MR BURGER:    Cor rec t .   

ADV KENNEDY SC:    R igh t ,  bu t  there  was anothe r  reason  

why you were  no t  p repared to  accept  the  R260mi l l ion  and 

tha t  i s  even i f  you had the  k i t t y  o f  money,  even i f  you had  10 

the  budget  o f  maybe R500mi l l ion  you wou ld  no t  have done  

i t  because you thought  i t  was an exorb i tan t  p r i ce ,  no t  so?  

MR BURGER:    Cor rec t  Cha i r.   

ADV KENNEDY SC:    And one o f  the  reasons tha t  i t  seems 

to  you to  be  exorb i tan t  and I  th ink  everybody wou ld  agree 

w i th  you is  tha t  i t  i s  a  R100mi l l ion  more  than one o f  the i r  

compet i to rs  LMT.    

MR BURGER:    Cor rec t .   

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Cor rec t?  

MR BURGER:    Sor ry  Cha i r  there  i s  two reasons we had a  20 

fa i r l y  good idea o f  how much i t  shou ld  cost  because we 

had our  ta r i f f s ,  we had p rocess  t imes,  we had mater ia l  

cos ts .   So we knew what  i s  a  fa i r  p r ice  and not  a  fa i r  p r ice .    

ADV KENNEDY SC:    R igh t ,  so  you knew i t  was no t  in  the  

R260mi l l ion  ba l l  park  a  fa i r  p r ice  wou ld  have been more  
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l i ke  a  R160mi l l ion .    

MR BURGER:   R200mi l l ion .    

ADV KENNEDY SC:    R200mi l l ion?  

MR BURGER:    I  thought  R200mi l l ion  was a  ba l lpark .   

ADV KENNEDY SC:    You thought  R200mi l l ion  bu t  i s  i t  no t  

a  who le  po in t  o f  a  compet i t i ve  p rocurement  p rocess tha t  

whatever  you may th ink  we l l  we can – R200mi l l ion  wou ld  

be  a  fa i r  p r ice  i f  you  can get  i t  fo r  a  R150mi l l ion  tha t  wou ld  

be  good news.   You shou ld  no t  say  we l l  le t  us  pay  

R200mi l l ion  wh i le  we a t  i t ,  no t  so?    10 

MR BURGER:    Abso lu te ly  no t  Cha i r  i f  we cou ld  ge t  i t  fo r  

R150mi l l ion  I  wou ld  take  i t  w i th  a  smi le .   

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Bu t  the  po in t  i s  Mr  Burger  you cou ld  

have got  i t  fo r  a  R150mi l l ion  approx imate ly  because tha t  i s  

exact ly  what  LMT was o f fe r ing  you and tha t  i s  my po in t .    

MR BURGER:    Cha i r  a t  th is  po in t  can I  p lease say why I  

was not  suppor t ing  LMT.   

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Yes,  I  thought  I  had asked you tha t  

quest ion  about  ten  m inutes  ago.   

MR BURGER:    LMT.  20 

CHAIRPERSON:    LMT,  bu t  be fore  you do tha t  I  am sor ry  

Mr  Kennedy before  you do tha t  I  want  you to  go  back to  Mr  

Kennedy ’s  quest i on  tha t  you have not  answered.   He asked 

you whethe r  you accept  tha t  i t  wou ld  have been an  

approach open to  you o r  to  Dene l  to  take  to  say  and Mr  
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Kennedy you must  l i s ten  care fu l l y  I  do  no t  want  to  

m isrepresent  wha t  you were  say ing .    

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Thank you.  

CHAIRPERSON:    To  say th is  two compan ies  were  so  c lose  

to  each o ther  in  te rms o f  score  i f  the  pr i ce  o f  the  one is  so  

way above the  one fo r  the  o ther  company we shou ld  go  

w i th  the  one w i th  the  lower  p r i ce .   Now I  may have 

misrepresented what  you were  jus t  say ing .    

ADV KENNEDY SC:    No the  spec is  spot  on  Cha i r.   

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  so  do  you  accept  tha t  tha t  was an 10 

approach you cou ld  have taken o r  Dene l  cou ld  have taken 

w i th  jus t i f i ca t ion  bu t  you may have pre fer red  a  d i f fe ren t  

one but  i t  i s  an  approach tha t  cou ld  have been leg i t imate .    

MR BURGER:    I t  i s  an  approach tha t  cou ld  have been 

leg i t imate  I  th ink  i t  wou ld  have been i r respons ib le  bu t  I  i t ’s  

a  leg i t imate…[ in tervene]  

CHAIRPERSON:    Bu t  I  don ’ t  know i f  i t  wou ld  have been  

leg i t imate  i f  you  wou ld  have been i r respons ib le .     

MR BURGER:    My honest  op in ion  a t  the  t ime was  i t  wou ld  

no t  have been in  the  best  in te res t  o f  Dene l  and th is  i s  20 

why…[ in te rvene]  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja ,  and I  guess  tha t  w i l l  come out  when 

you say why you d id  no t  suppor t  LMT.    

MR BURGER:    Cor rec t .   

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay dea l  w i th  tha t  then.   
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ADV KENNEDY SC:    Yes,  i f  you  can dea l  w i th  tha t .   

MR BURGER:    Cha i r  I  w i l l  t ry  and  make i t  qu i ck .   F i rs t l y,  I  

jus t  want  to  ge t  the  reason fo r  the  LMT acqu is i t ion  o f f  the  

tab le  i t  w i l l  take  me two seconds.   I  was the  b iggest  

p romoter  o f  buy ing  LMT and I  was very  concerned when  

LMT was in  a  f inanc ia l  c r i ses  and  the  reason fo r  t ha t  was  

they were  busy w i th  deve lopment  work .    

There  des igns were  no t  f i xed  ye t ,  the  des ign  wou ld   

have hung in  the  a i r  nobody wou ld  have been there  to  

f in ish  the  landmine p ro tec t ion  and  Cha i r  I  want  to  p lace  on  10 

record  a  coup le  o f  de famatory  th ings was sa id  about  me 

yesterday by  Dr  S tephan Ne l l  bu t  be  tha t  as  i t  may he is  –  I  

a lways respected  h im fo r  h is  eng ineer ing  capab i l i t y  and h is  

market ing  capab i l i t y.   I  th ink  I  rea l l y  thought  and I  s t i l l  

be l ieve  h is  one o f  the  br igh tes t  eng ineers  I  have ever  met  

and tha t  i s  what  d rew me to  LMT.    

So we -  a lso  cont rary  to  what  was sa id  ear l ie r,  what  

was then done was we gave LMT an order  on  r i sk ,  i t  was a  

r i sk  o rder  w i th  a  pre -payment  w i th  an  ob jec t i ve  to  he lp  

them.   I t  was t ransparent ,  i t  was d iscussed w i th  the  Board  20 

w i th  eve rybody.   So the  f i rs t  s tep  was we made su re  tha t  

they d id  no t  go  under.  So the  second s tep  was to  exerc ise  

our  op t ions to  acqu i re  LMT.   The f i rs t  and most  impor tan t  

reason and th is  i s  what  peop le  do  not  unders tand was we  

d id  no t  acqu i re  them for  the i r  p roduct ion  capab i l i t y  as  a  
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mat te r  o f  fac t  the  reason why they went  bankrup t  in  the 

f i rs t  p lace  was because they went  f rom a  des ign  house,  a  

des ign  capab i l i t y  to  a  product ion  capab i l i t y.   That  i s  why  

they ran  in to  t roub le  in  the  f i rs t  p lace .    

So we were  as  Dene l  we were  on  the  leve l  fou r  

sys tem supp ly  leve l  wh ich  means we were  supp ly ing  tu r re ts  

to  the  c l ien t .   They were  buy ing  a  ta ro t  and then they 

wou ld  buy a  d i f fe ren t  p roduct  l i ke  the  veh ic le ,  the  weapon  

p la t fo rm f rom another  supp l ie r.   Then they wou ld  buy  

ammuni t ion  f rom another  supp l ie r  and then they wou ld  buy  10 

s imula tors  f rom yet  another  supp l ie r  and Armscor  then had  

the  accountab i l i t y,  respons ib i l i t y  to  do  jus t  ex is t  twenty  

sc rews and then the  ta ro t  i s  on  top  o f  the  veh ic le  and you  

put  the  ammuni t ion  in  the  car  and then eve ry th ing  is  f ine .    

And then as  long as  i t  works  i t  i s  f ine  bu t  i f  you  

missed the  ta rge t  and espec ia l l y  on  a  complex  sys tem we 

f ind  mov ing  to  mov ing  sys tems.   I f  you  miss  who ’s  to  b lame 

and what  then happened was and th is  i s  why Armscor  went  

ou t ,  f i rs t  they  went  ou t  fo r  a  ta ro t  and veh ic le  and then  

they dec ided no  we are  go ing  to  go  ou t  on  a  leve l  f i ve  20 

product  sys tem which  is  inc lus ive  o f  a l l  these th ings.   So 

we knew tha t  i f  we wanted to  compete  in  tha t  a rea  we 

needed to  team up w i th  somebody and we teamed up w i th  

EADS tha t  d id  no t  work  and we had to  g row our  own  

capab i l i t y.  So what  we –  combat  sys tem cons is t s  o f  th ree  
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techn ica l  a reas.   I t  i s  f i re  power  wh ich  s i t s  in  the  gun and  

the  ta ro t ,  i t  i s  p ro tec t ion  and i t  i s  mob i l i t y.   Those  are  the  

th ree  techno log ica l  a reas you need to  unders tand  i f  you 

want  to  p lay  in  the  area o f  a  leve l  f i ve .    

We thought  they w i l l  b r ing  tha t  to  us  i t  d id  no t  work  

ou t  and a t  tha t  t ime I  saw LMT wi th  the  des ign  capab i l i t y  o f  

veh ic les  and espec ia l l y  the  des ign  capab i l i t y  to  g ive  

pro tec t ion .   The f la t  bo t tom des ign  techno log ies as  an  idea l  

a rea  to  s t rengthen Dene l  Land Systems not  Dene l ,  Dene l  

Land Systems.    10 

On the  cont rary  I  thought  tha t  what  i s  lack ing  a t  

LMT were  they  d id  no t  have proper  p rocess eng ineers ,  

p rocess des ign .   The i r  qua l i t y  p rocesses were  lack ing ,  

there  genera l  management  sk i l l s  I  thought  was lack ing ,  

there  f inanc ia l  management  sys tem was not  in  my mind  

proper  and I  thought  tha t  i s  exact ly  what  Dene l  Land  

Systems had.    

So i f  we cou ld  manage LMT as  an  ex tens ion  o f  

Dene l  Land Systems then i t  wou ld  be  the  best  o f  bo th  

wor lds  and then so  the  reason the  main  d r ive  fo r  LMT was 20 

there  s t ra teg ic  capab i l i t y  to  ensure  a  proper  leve l  f i ve  

sys tem capab i l i t y.   I  do  concede and I  was the  f i rs t  to  say 

i f  we imp lement  now a l l  these th ings in  LMT and s t rengthen 

the i r  capab i l i t ies  then they can  a lso  be  a  supp l ie r  o f  

fabr ica ted  s tu f f ,  they  can even  make bu i ld  veh ic les  or  
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whatever  the  case may be.   I  was  rea l l y  conv inced  o f  the  

fac t  tha t  we can grow LMT in to  a  supp l ie r  o f  substance and  

I  be l ieve  tha t  w i t h  my who le  hear t .    

Why d id  LMT fa i l?   Those p rocesses were  never  

imp lemented in  –  we s ta r ted  o f f  l i ke  tha t  S tephan Ne l l  was  

par t  o f  my execut ive  team,  my qua l i t y  peop le  and my  

process eng ineers  and so  on  were  in  the i r  fac i l i t i es  work ing  

there .   I  was a t  the  Board  o f  LMT I  was work ing  there ,  i t  

was even announced pub l i ca l l y  tha t  they w i l l  be  par t  o f  

Dene l  Land Systems and then they go t  a  b ig  cont rac t  f rom 10 

Saud i  A rab ia  and  I  was ca l led  in  to  the  o f f i ce  o f  the  then 

Group CEO Mr  Sa loo jee  and he  sa id  i t  i s  a  conf l i c t  o f  

in te res t  fo r  me to  be  so  c lose  to  LMT.    

Hencefor th  you shou ld  no  longer  be  on  the  Board ,  

your  peop le  shou ld  ex i t  LMT and you shou ld  cont rac t  LMT 

a t  an  arm’s  length  and f rom tha t  moment  on  LMT was le f t  

to  the i r  own dev ices and Dene l  managed th rough the  Board  

or  t r ied  to  manage th rough the  Board  LMT.    

So what  happened then I  made a  commi tment  and I  

kept  to  my commi tment  by  g i v ing  them a l l  th is .   I  gave them 20 

seven substant ia l  o rders  in  those years  lead ing  up to  2014.   

The one was and  th is  was –  sor ry  I  jus t  need to  address  

the  cour t  because tha t  i s  a  po in t  tha t  was made f rom a  

capac i ty  capab i l i ty  and a  f inanc ia l  perspect ive .   So f rom a 

capab i l i t y  perspect ive  I  gave them a l l  th is ,  a l l  o f  those  
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o rders  had prob lems I  heard  Dr  Ne l l  say  i t  was  

exaggera ted  i t  d id  no t  happen.   Le t  me g ive  you two  

examples  Cha i r…[ in tervene]                                                

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Do you need to  Mr  Burger?  

MR BURGER:    Yes I  th ink  i t  i s  impor tan t ,  Cha i r.   

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Wel l  p lease t r y  and keep  i t  b r ie f  

because I  am a f ra id  we go ing  in to  a l l  sor ts  o f  te r ra in  tha t  

does not  rea l l y  seem to  have  d i rec t  re levance to  the  

quest ion  tha t  you  have been asked  to  focus on .   

MR BURGER:    I  th ink  i t  has  go t  a l l  the  re levant .   10 

ADV KENNEDY SC:    A l r igh t  f in ish  your  po in ts  then  p lease 

and then may I  jus t  deve lop  my quest ion ing  w i th  you  

p lease.   

MR BURGER:    Cor rec t  two pro jec ts  tha t  I  want  to  focus  

on .   The f i rs t  one was the  ambulances,  the  ambulances 

went  th rough a  process where  we went  th rough var ious 

i te ra t ions and a t  the  end o f  the  day I  begged the  c l ien t  to  

accept  them even though they d id  no t  comply  to  

spec i f i ca t ion  and  I  made a  pe rsona l  p romise  tha t  I  w i l l  

ensure  tha t  i f  they  ever  g i ve  prob lems we wi l l  be  happy to  20 

rep lace.    

The second th ing  tha t  happened  f i f teen Casper ’s  

tha t  were  de l i ve red to  the  Un i ted  Nat ions s ta r ted  c rack ing .   

I  d id  no t  have a  b ig  p rob lem wi th  t he  fac t  tha t  they cracked 

because peop le  make mis takes the  prob lem was  when I  
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asked to  rec t i f y  those Casper ’s  they came and they jus t  

we ld  the  p la tes  over  t he  cracks and obv ious ly  i t  i s  a rmour  

s tee l  they crack  next  to  where  they were  we lded.   So what  

then happened was we were  a  s ing le  source  or  p re fer red  

no t  s ing le  source  a  pre fer red  supp l ie r  to  the  Un i ted  

Nat ions a t  tha t  po in t .   So what  then happened is  the  Un i ted 

Nat ions th rea tened to  b lack l i s t  us .    

Dene l  Land Systems b rought  f i f teen Casper ’s  back  

had them rebu i l t  and sent  f i f teen Casper ’s  back to  them.   

Now my d i lemma was not  so  much tha t  the re  was a  10 

prob lem my prob lem was tha t  LMT never  admi t ted  to  say  

maybe the re  was a  prob lem f rom my s ide  how can I  f i x  th is  

p rob lem.    

Dene l  Land Systems f rom a  f inanc ia l  perspect ive  

ended up pay ing  to  b r ing  the  veh ic les  here  and send them 

back and rebu i ld  them i t  was jus t  shy  o f  R30mi l l ion  tab  tha t  

Dene l  Land Systems and Dene l  p icked up.    

Th is  i s  a  sa fe ty  c r i t i ca l  i tem Cha i r  a  hu l l  fo r  a  

Casper  i s  a  s imp le  th ing  i t  has  been bu i l t  fo r  the  las t  60 

years  i t  i s  a  s imp le  th ing  to  compare  tha t  w i th  the  20 

Hoefys ter  Hu l l  i s  l i ke  cha lk  and cheese.    

So tha t  i s  the  f i r s t  po in t  the  second po in t  I  want  to  

make is  they had a  capac i ty  p rob lem they jus t  go t  the  

b iggest  o rde r  o f  the i r  l i f e  to  Saud i  A rab ia  by  the  way a l so  

fo r  tu r re ts  wh ich  they d id  no t  p lace  on us  and I  want  to  put  
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on  reco rd…[ in tervene]                   

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Sor ry  wh ich  they d idn ’ t?  

MR BURGER:    P lace on Dene l  Land Systems we were  the  

ta ro t  house in  South  A f r i ca .   They pre fe r red  not  to  buy the  

tu r re ts  f rom us,  I  went  to  S tephan Ne l l  and sa id  p lease th is  

i s  i r respons ib le  le t  me jus t  then he lp  you to  do  the  des ign  

fo r  tha t  tu r re ts  then somebody e lse  can make the  money 

out  o f  the  produc t ion  to  ensure  tha t  we have got  a  sa fe ty  

ta ro t  sys tem which  we then d id .    

So w i th  tha t  as  background when somebody came to  10 

me and sa id  –  and tha t  jus t  happened I  mean tha t  was  

f resh  in  our  m inds to  say he re  is  LMT they have  ha lved 

the i r  p r ice  f rom the i r  p rev ious quo te .   I  jus t  knew tha t  the  

prev ious m is takes or  my burden f inanc ia l l y  and o therwise  

and they ha lved the i r  p r ice ,  I  sa id  I  do  no t  be l ieve  th is .   

The cost  o f  tha t  th ing  is  go ing  to  increase and i t  i s  go ing  to  

be  fo r  my burden.              

ADV KENNEDY SC:    You d id  no t  be l ieve  the  R160mi l l ion  

there  was a  genu ine  pr i ce?  

MR BURGER:    The sums tha t…[ in tervene]  20 

ADV KENNEDY SC:    So  is  tha t  what  you ’ re  say ing?  

MR BURGER:    I  am say ing  tha t ,  I  am say ing  a t  the  t ime 

the  peop le  in  Dene l  Land Systems were  scept ica l  tha t  they  

wou ld  be  ab le  to  do  tha t  and i f  they  d id  i t  a t  tha t  p r ice  i t  

wou ld  probab ly  be  a t  a  loss  wh ich  aga in  wou ld  have been 
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fo r  Dene l ’s .   So to  come back i f  we had to  p lace  money in  

LMT to  br ing  them up to  s tandard  as  one o f  the  

suggest ions.   I t  i s  no t  as  s imp le  as  tha t  Cha i r  because we 

were  on ly  31% shareho lde r.   So i f  we brought  R50mi l l ion  to  

the  tab le  you have to  d i lu te  the  o ther  shareho lde rs  o r  do  

someth ing .   You cannot  jus t  b r ing  in  money f rom nowhere  

and to  be  honest  Cha i r  i t  i s  a  long way I  have ca lmed down 

a  lo t  s ince  then but  i f  somebody ask  me then p lease g ive  

some more  money to  LMT so tha t  they can be  up to  

s tandard  I  wou ld  have aggress i ve l y  fought  tha t  no t ion .    10 

So tha t  was the  reason Cha i r  wh ich  I  sa id  you know 

I  wou ld  ra ther  somebody tha t  I  –  oh  by  the  way I  wanted to  

say th is  as  we l l .   We had a  sco r ing  sys tem how we ra te  

supp l ie rs  and a t  the  t ime VR Laser  was in  the  top  secto r  o f  

supp l ie rs  and LMT was r igh t  a t  the  bo t tom.        

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Sor ry  in  te rms o f  what?   

MR BURGER:    In  te rms o f  cus tomer  sa t is fac t ion .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    So  in  customer  sa t is fac t ion .  

MR BURGER:    So  i t  i s  qua l i t y,  i t  i s  on  t ime de l i very,  i t  i s  

do  you accept  tha t  you have made a  m is take,  a re  you  20 

go ing  to  f i x  your  m is take.   Those sor t  o f  th ings.        

ADV KENNEDY SC:    And was tha t  re f lec ted  in  the  cr i te r ia  

fo r  the  scor ing  o f  the…[ in tervene]  

MR BURGER:    Not  a t  a l l  i t  was not  bu t  i t  was the  

eng ineers  I  was not  par t  o f  tha t  bu t . . . [ in te rvene]  
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ADV KENNEDY SC:    Yes,  bu t  sor ry  to  in te r rup t  Mr  Burger  

and you must  p lease a l low me to  quest ion  you a t  

appropr ia te  s tages ra ther  than go ing  on and on and g iv ing 

us  a  long sess ion  wh ich  makes i t  very  d i f f i cu l t  to  unpack.   

The eva lua t ion  was done in  te rms  o f  the  cr i te r ia  tha t  was 

la id  down in  te rms o f  the  po l i cy.     

MR BURGER:    Cor rec t  Cha i r.   

ADV KENNEDY SC:    You  thought  tha t  cus tomer  

sa t is fac t ion  was someth ing  tha t  shou ld  have been  in  the  

cr i te r ia  bu t  i t  was not .   You cou ld  no t  re invent  the  cr i te r ia  10 

you were  bound  by  them whether  you l i ked  i t  o r  no t ,  

whethe r  you th ink  i t  was a  good idea or  no t ,  whether  the  

Cha i r  o f  th is  Commiss ion  th inks  i t  i s  a  good idea or  no t  i s  

w i th  respect  i r re levant .        

MR BURGER:    Agreed Cha i r.   

ADV KENNEDY SC:    That  i s  what  was la id  down.   

MR BURGER:    Agreed Cha i r.   

ADV KENNEDY SC:    So  once  aga in  ra ther  l i ke  the  

decent ra l i sa t ion  type o f  a rgument  i s  th is  no t  someth ing  you  

w ished i t  had been a  ce r ta in  way  but  i t  was not  and you 20 

have a l ready conceded r igh t ly  tha t  you were  bound  by  the  

s i tua t ion  tha t  you  were  fac ing .      

MR BURGER:    Suppor ted  and ag reed  Cha i r  

bu t…[ in tervene]   

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Now,  sor ry  yes.   
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MR BURGER:    Bu t  the  po in t  be ing  those cr i te r ia ’s  were  

fo l lowed and VR Laser  won the  compet i t ion .   

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Bu t  by  po in t  s ix  o f  a  percent .   

MR BURGER:    True .   

ADV KENNEDY SC:    A re  you ser ious l y  suggest ing  tha t  

because they go t  the  h igher  score  are  you suggest ing  tha t  

you were  bound to  g ive  them the  cont rac t  because o f  tha t?   

MR BURGER:    Yes,  Cha i r.   

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Yes?  

MR BURGER:    Yes,  Cha i r  they won the  compet i t ion .    10 

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Sor ry  they won the  compet i t ion?  

MR BURGER:    They won the  compet i t ion .   

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Bu t  in  te rms  o f  p rocu rement  po l i c ies  

you are  no t  necessar i l y  bound to  award  a  cont rac t  to  a  

par t i cu la r  supp l i e r  where  i t  has  a  score  and bet te r  than i t s  

nearest  r i va l s .   There  is  a  measure  o f  d i sc re t ion  a l lowed  

and par t i cu la r ly  w i th  po in t  s ix  pe rcent .   So i t  cannot  be  

r igh t  tha t  you were  bound to  g ive  i t  because i t  sco red the  

h ighest .    

You may have fe l t  you were  bound to  g ive  i t  20 

because you thought  on ly  i t  cou ld  prov ide  the  best  serv i ce  

and in  fac t  many passages in  your  a f f idav i t  I  am not  go ing  

to  take  you to  them but  many passages seem to  suggest  

exact ly  tha t  tha t  you Mr  Burger  maybe fo r  ve ry  good  reason  

thought  tha t  VR Laser  were  a  wonder fu l  supp l ie r  and tha t  
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LMT was not  a  wonder fu l  supp l ie r  in  fac t  i t  had prob lems 

but  tha t  there fore  come what  may VR Laser  shou ld  ge t  the  

cont rac t .    

I t  was not  because they scored zero  po in t  s i x  

percent  be t te r  i t  i s  because you  fe l t  tha t  they were  way 

above LMT and  tha t  LMT in  fac t  shou ld  no t  rea l l y  be  

cons idered a t  a l l ,  no t  so?      

MR BURGER:    Cha i r  I  s ta ted  i t  in  wr i t ing  in  emai l s  tha t  I  

was not  p repared  to  suppor t  VR Laser  i f  they  d id  no t  w in  

the  cr i te r ia  based on the  o r ig ina l  p roposa ls  made,  tha t  i s  10 

so .    

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Yes,  we l l  we  know tha t  they had won 

but  they won by  a  marg ina l  d i f fe rence we went  th rough a l l  

o f  tha t  a l ready.    

MR BURGER:    Cor rec t .   

ADV KENNEDY SC:    So  can I  jus t  go  back to  your  ear l ie r  

ev idence e f fec t i ve ly  i f  I  unders tand your  ev idence cor rec t l y  

and i f  I  have got  the  wrong unders tand ing  p lease cor rec t  

tha t  fo r  the  benef i t  o f  the  Cha i r.    

You seem to  be  say ing  whatever  d i f fe rence in  p r i ce  20 

there  may have been between LMT and VR Laser  on ly  VR 

Laser  shou ld  have got  tha t  cont rac t  f i rs t l y  because you  

cou ld  no t  be l ieve  the  pr ice  o f  a  R160mi l l ion  o f  LMT you 

thought  tha t  was  a  b i t  o f  nonsense i t  had reduced f rom 

the i r  p rev ious p r ice  dramat ica l l y  and you fe l t  tha t  was  
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susp ic ious.    

MR BURGER:    Cor rec t  Cha i r.   

ADV KENNEDY SC:    VR Laser  you managed to  ge t  down 

the i r  p r ice  bu t  you fe l t  tha t  tha t  was acceptab le .        

MR BURGER:    Cor rec t  Cha i r.   

ADV KENNEDY SC:    That  was  a  mass ive  reduct ion  on  

the i r  par t  bu t  tha t  you fe l t  was a l l  in  o rde r  and then  on top  

o f  i t  you  fe l t  LMT jus t  cou ld  no t  do  the  job .   I s  tha t  no t  

rea l l y  what  you say ing  he re?   

MR BURGER:    Cha i r  a t  the  t ime i f  the  pa in  o f  pay ing  10 

R30ml l ion  o f  look ing  a  c l ien t  in  the  face  was very  f resh  in  

my mind tha t  i s  t rue ,  f i rs t l y.   Second ly  I  d ispute the fact  

that  LMT can do a lot  of  work.   And i t  is di ff icul t  to answer 

these quest ions wi thout  elaborat ing,  but  l ike a gun barrel  

which Denel  Land Systems manufactures,  af ter  that  decided 

to,  to outsource more or less everything because i t  is a 

safety cr i t ical  i tem.  I  thought the hole was a safety cr i t ical  

i tem.   

My problem was not  so much that  at  a l l  cost  VR 

Laser must  d id the work.   That  was no my argument.   My 20 

argument was this is a safety cr i t ical  i tem.  I t  is – we just  

gone through a whole set  for whatever reason that  cracked 

and i f  we have something l ike that  on Hoefyster,  i t  wi l l  be 

catastrophic.    

ADV KENNEDY SC:  So Mr Burger are you saying this and I  



12 NOVEMBER 2020 – DAY 305 
 

Page 148 of 246 
 

go back to my last  quest ion.   Are saying that  you were not  

impressed by LMT’s pr ice part ly  because that  they had 

dramat ical ly reduced i t .   But  secondly because you fel t  that  

they could not  provide a suff ic ient ly safe product ,  correct ly 

saying? 

MR BURGER:   Correct  yes,  under those ci rcumstances.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:  Now then I  have a further di ff icul ty.   

Why on earth does DLS go through the t rouble of  asking LMT 

to submit  a pr ice,  a  bid in the f i rst  p lace i f  you know so sui t  

some as you are now that  LMT is  not  going to be able to 10 

supply a safe pr ice?   

This was not  an open tender where somebody sees in  

the Sunday Times or Ci t izen Newspaper advert isement  

request  for  proposals f rom Denel .   Not  so?  You did not  

invi te the market  to submit  tenders and you might  have got  

tenders i f  you done that  f rom al l  sorts of  people who did not  

a turret  f rom a bar of  soap.   But  here you were,  your  

company went out  and decided we are not  going to go out  on 

an open tender;  we are going to go out  as we normal ly do,  

on an RFQ.   20 

And we are going to go out  to people to submit  b ids 

in order presumably to get  the best  pr ice.   And who are we 

going to se lect?  We are going to select  VR Laser,  LMT and 

DRD.  Presumably because we think that  they are people 

who can do i t  and we want them to compete against  each 
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other to see who is going to be the best  pr ice.   And so what  

happens,  LMT tenders a pr ice.   VR Laser tenders a pr ice and 

lo and behold i t  is  100 mi l l ion di fference.    

Now you seem to be saying,  wel l  you cannot accept  

the genuiness of  their  pr ice,  so i t  is not  a t rue comparison 

between 150 mi l l ion and 260 mi l l ion.   So i t  is not  a t rue 

pr ice.   But  most  important  LMT could not  be rel ied on to do 

the job.   Why on earth go through the whole process of  

asking them al l  to  submit  quotes against  each other?   

Why go through a process of  having a commit tee that  10 

evaluates them and tests al l  sorts of  th ings and works out  a  

score and so for th?  I f  Mr Burger behind the scenes has 

al ready decided long ago,  wel l  LMT is,  is,  should not  be 

considered.   This does not  make sense to me.  

MR BURGER:   Fai r  comment Chai r.   I  th ink i t  is a fa i r  

comment at  that  point ,  but  please remember the decision to  

go through those three suppl iers was not  my decision.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Right .  

MR BURGER :   That was a decision taken in 20 – before 

2012.  So by 2012 these problems,  I  was st i l l  s i t t ing on the 20 

board of  LMT by at  that  stage I  thought that  I  was told to  

contract  them.  But  at  arm’s length but  I  thought that  they 

had more than fa i r  probabi l i ty of  get t ing the work and we 

went out  wi th three tenderers.   These problems I  am talking 

r ight  now was not  on the table.    
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ADV KENNEDY SC:   But  they were on the table that  their  

value,  at  the t ime at  the Evaluat ion Commit tee did i ts  

scor ing.   An Evaluat ion Commit tee had to score,  not  only the 

pr ice where obviously LMT had a huge advantage.  

MR BURGER:  Correct .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   But  also technical  capabi l i ty.    

MR BURGER:  Correct .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Surely your col leagues who were 

involved in the technical  evaluat ion for purposes of  scor ing 

could and should have taken into account exact ly the 10 

problems that  are ra is ing.   And despi te that  they say,  wel l  we 

are giving them some points.   They gave them less points 

than VR Laser,  presumably because there had been 

problems.   

MR BURGER:  Correct  yes.   Sorry the f i rst  quest ion was … 

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Yes.  

MR BURGER:  Why did,  why did we even consider  LMT at  

the t ime? 

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Yes.  

MR BURGER:  So, so I  am just  saying i t  is,  th is process 20 

started already in 2012.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Yes you made that  … 

MR BURGER:   And in 2014 i t  was basical ly a cont inuat ion of  

that  process.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   (00:05:00).  
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MR BURGER:   That  is why they were scored.   I  am, I  am 

binking(?) my personal  f rust rat ion at  the t ime, but  that  I  do 

not  bel ieve inf luenced the scor ing system, because I  was not  

interact ing wi th the people doing the scor ing for that .   They 

made up thei r  own minds.   They evaluated and on that  they,  

VR Laser won.   

So when they brought i t  to  me I ,  I  wanted to make 

sure that  they win and i f  they won I  wanted,  I  had al l  these,  

these things passed their  capaci ty problem with Saudi  Arabia 

at  LMT.  I  just  said i t  wi l l  be i r responsible.   And I  again,  10 

Saudi  Arabia d id not  successful  – was not  successful ly 

concluded for these very same reasons.    

So,  so Chair  I  real ly th ink i t  would have been 

i rresponsible.   That  was my point  at  the t ime, but  having said 

al l  of  that  and I  want to,  I  want  to make that  point ,  I  accepted 

and I  put  i t  in wri t ing that  i t  was not  my decision.   I  said i t  is 

Denel  Head Off ice decision.   I  have given them my reasons,  

please make your decision,  but  in the mean t ime the 

technology t ransfer to be able to do welder t raining,  that  s lot  

is passing us by.    20 

And I  decided at  Denel  Land Systems Cost  to send 

both LMT and VR Laser  personnel  to Finland to get  thei r  

t ra ining.   So I  was,  I  was,  i t  is not  that  I  said I  wi l l  not  do 

that  and I  wi l l  walk away.   I  was prepared to implement the 

decision of  Denel ,  but  I  was making a point .   This is a safety 
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cr i t ical  i tem, i t  would have been i r responsible.    

COMMISSIONER:   Wel l  I  th ink you said and maybe other 

wi tness also sa id that  the pr ice,  or ig inal  pr ice that  the other  

(00:07:17) are had quoted.    

MR BURGER:   Yes Chai r.    

COMMISSIONER:   Was,  I  do not  know whether is that  out  of  

budget or far too high.    

MR BURGER:   I t  was double the second pr ice Chai r.  

COMMISSIONER:   Yes.   I  got  the impression and you must  

te l l  me i f  i t  is the wrong impression.   I  got  the impression 10 

that  the way that  pr ice was hiked,  there was no way Denel  

would approve that  pr ice as,  as i t  was.   Is  my impression 

correct? 

MR BURGER:   I t  is correct  Chai r.  

COMMISSIONER:    Now the quest ion that  ar ises for  me is,  

how do you take the decision that  VR Laser is the ent i ty that  

wins above another or the others when real ist ical ly you know 

that  you cannot appoint  them on the pr ice they quoted as is?  

Because my think ing is that  you should only say this  is the,  

the bidder or the ent i ty that  wins i f  you can afford that  pr ice.    20 

But  i f  you cannot afford that  pr ice,  you should let ,  

you should not  appoint  that  ent i ty.   You should,  that  ent i ty 

should lose some points or,  for that  k ind of  pr ice.   And,  and 

i f  that  approach is  correct ,  then LMT could easi ly have won i f  

the VR Laser some points because they were so close in  
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terms of  scor ing.    

And therefore when you make a ca l l  to  VR Laser  and 

get  them to reduce the pr ice,  you are in a way depriv ing LMT 

of  a chance to win,  because i f  their  pr ice is so high you 

cannot afford i t ,  they should not  win.   The next  ent i ty that  

should win is LMT.  What do you say to that? 

MR BURGER:   Hindsight  is a wonderful  th ing Chai r.   Maybe 

that  could have been an argument.  The way i t  worked was 

that  we had a to tal  budget or for  suppl iers,  for the whole 

system.  And there were big th ings and rounded up in  certain 10 

areas,  because this was not  something that  was 

manufactured before.   We did not  have a cost  Chai r  that  was 

in t ime and accurate.    

So we had a budget,  an al located amounts of  money 

and,  and,  and on top of  that  we a lso had a r isk provision 

because we knew in some instances we wi l l  be wrong.   So,  

so what we did was,  every suppl ier,  every opportuni ty where 

we placed an order we looked at  what was the budgeted 

pr ice and what was the,  the amount lef t  in our slush fund,  in 

our r isk provision.    20 

And i t  d id happen that  people were over the budget.   

And but  they did win the compet i t ion and i t  was a good 

suppl ier and everybody agree wi th that  was the best  decision 

taking t ransformat ion,  taking capabi l i ty and pr ice into 

account that  that ,  the one,  the person that  won, even though 
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they are over budget.    

Then we did place orders on them,  taking account of  

what is,  what is  the total  budget  of  the system. Can we 

afford i t ,  we cannot.   And obviously as a businessman I ,  I  t ry 

to get  the pr ices down as low as possible in al l  cases.   And 

then also would send the bid people back and say,  go and 

renegot iate.    

But ,  but  that  was what you say Chair  might  have 

been an approach.   Could have been a good approach.   I  am 

not  arguing that .   But  i t  was not  the approach,  i t  was not  the 10 

way we d id i t .   (00:12:32) nobody.  

COMMISSIONER:   Of  course the quest ion is going,  goes to 

the issue of  fa i rness.   That  is where i t  goes to.  

MR BURGER:   Correct .  

COMMISSIONER:   To say LMT may be just i f ied,  may have 

been just i f ied to say because VR Laser quoted you a pr ice 

that  was too high,  that  was unacceptable to  you,  you should 

not  have asked them to reduce the i r  pr ice.   You should have 

gone to the next ,  next  compet i tor  whose pr ice you could 

afford.   And that  was me.  Therefore by get t ing them to 20 

reduce the way i t  was done, you deprived me of  get t ing this 

job.   You deprived me of  the opportuni ty to get  th is job.   You 

understand? 

MR BURGER:   I  understand 100%.  

COMMISSIONER:   Yes.   Okay.   Mr Kennedy.  
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ADV KENNEDY SC:   Thank you Chai r.   And that  was not  

done.    

MR BURGER:   No,  that  was not  done,  that  was never  done 

and i t  was not  the process that  we fol lowed. 

 ADV KENNEDY SC:   Yes.   Now what was also not  done was 

to go back to LMT and to say to them that  you,  Mr  Burger 

and maybe some of  the col leagues who agreed with you 

were of  the view that  LMT should not  be given this contract ,  

even though thei r  pr ice was so low compared with VR Laser,  

because they could not  be rel ied on.    10 

Because of  the Uni ted Nat ions Casspir  which were 

di fferent ,  where there could have been an opportuni ty for 

LMT to,  to  have a debate wi th  you.   You heard did you not  Dr  

Nel l ’s  evidence where he said,  wel l  f i rst ly Casspi rs are 

di fferent  f rom this  Badger type of  vehicle.   Secondly we had 

a val id excuse which was ver i f ied by an independent outside 

agency that  put  in a report ,  who say that  we were not  to  

blame. I t  was steel  that  was corroded f rom a suppl ier that  we 

were not ,  that  we could not  be blamed for.    

Now i t  may wel l  be that  ul t imately  you would not  be 20 

persuaded by that .   But  would i t  not  be appropriate to at  

least  ask them?  Give them that  opportuni ty before you 

effect ive ly disqual i fy them.  Is that  not  actual ly the,  the 

bot tom l ine?  In effect  you disqual i f ied them.  When they put  

a very seemingly at t ract ive pr ice of  R150 mi l l ion,  wel l  we not  
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interested in that  pr ice,  we are not  impressed by that  pr ice,  

because we do not  th ink that  – you cannot  do i t  ser iously.   

But  you would have been able to hold them to that  pr ice i f  

you had awarded them the cont ract ,  not  so?   

MR BURGER:   Correct  Chai r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Yes.  

MR BURGER:   But  again the Casspi r  inc ident  showed that  

that  holding them to something eventual ly becomes Denel ’s 

problem in any case.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   I  understand that  Mr Burger,  that  that 10 

rat ional .   But  before you come to that  decis ion,  is i t  not  

appropriate to be fa i r?  You see the Chairperson has 

reminded you a couple of  t imes now that  i t  is  not  just  a  

quest ion of  what,  what would have got ten you a good pr ice 

f rom VR Laser and you were sat isf ied that  VR Laser was,  

was an excel lent  suppl ier  at  the technical  s ide.   But  also 

what is fa i r.    

MR BURGER:   Correct  Chai r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Because fai rness is not  just  something 

that  is a nice to do i f  you can concept,  i t  is what the 20 

const i tut ion says.   The lawyers know i t  is in Sect ion 2017.  

Every state ent i ty  such as Denel  shal l  have a procurement 

system for the procurement of  goods and services that  is 

lawful ly,  fa i r,  compet i t ive,  cost  e ffect ive,  t ransparent  and 

equi table.   Fai rness comes into i t  not  just  in the expressed 
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word of  fa i r,  but  also equi table and so forth.   Now i t  just  

seems that  you do not ,  you do not  at  least  at  that  t ime d id 

not  seem to appreciate that .    

MR BURGER:   Chai r  … 

ADV KENNEDY SC:   You appreciate i t  now.  

MR BURGER:   I  do.   I  do and absolutely no argument .   In my 

mind the fai rness came in that  we went through a process 

where we used,  we had a closing date.   We used the 

informat ion for the clos ing date.   And that  is what we used to 

do the evaluat ion.   And VR Laser won.  So that  was where 10 

the fai rness came in.   The quest ion about … 

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Sorry Mr Burger.   I t  has been put  to you 

a couple of  t imes,  both by mysel f  and the learned Chai r  that ,  

that  fa i rness does not  depend on who gets 0,6% superior i ty 

in score.   I t  is a l i t t le more compl icated than that .   And even 

i f  the score was to the advantage of  VR Laser,  as a matter of 

law and fai rness,  i t  is  not  automat ical ly required of  an ent i ty  

to grant  i t ,  come what may.    

I t  makes perfect  rat ional  sense for a state ent i ty  that  

says,  wel l  I  see my Evaluat ion Commit tee has come up wi th 20 

a total  score that  gives X a score that  is 0,6% bet ter  than Y.   

But  i f  i t  is going to cost  me a hal f  or a th i rd less of ,  of  the 

pr ice f rom Y, I  should rather go that  way.   That  is perfect ly 

lawful  and fai r.    

MR BURGER:   I  accept  that .  
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ADV KENNEDY SC:   You accept  that .    

MR BURGER:   Accept  that .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Okay.   Al r ight ,  now may we move f rom 

this aspect  of  the deal  of  the plat form hul ls cont ract  to 

another issue that  has been raised in evidence?  You deal t  in  

your ear ly stage when I  asked you to indicate which category 

the hul l  p lat form, hul ls cont ract  fe l l  into.   Completely  

compl iant  or not  compl iant?  Or do not  know?   

You ra ised the two issues.   The one is the,  that  you 

went out  on RFO for – RFQ for b ids,  three bids,  we have 10 

deal t  wi th  that .   We have now deal t  wi th the negot ia t ion wi th 

VR Laser to reduce thei r  pr ice.   You have conceded through 

your credi t  that  that  was the benef i t  of  h indsight  was not  

permissible in terms of  the pol icy.  

MR BURGER:   Correct  Chai r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   But  there is  another aspect .   In fact  

there are qui te a few aspects that  one could deal  wi th .   But  I  

am going to  focus on what seems to be the most  relevant .   

And that  is Mr Mlambo’s concern.   And that  is that  he had 

not  approved this.   And his approval  was requi red under 20 

Denel  pol icy.   Now Mr Mlambo was in i t ia l ly consul ted about  

th is,  not  so? 

MR BURGER:   Not  that  I  am aware of  Chai r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Okay,  can I  ask you,  I  am not  sure 

which bundle you had now in f ront  of  you.   I t  is Bundle 1.   
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The same one we looked at  for  the procurement pol icy 

ear l ier.  

MR BURGER:   Sorry,  sorry Chai r,  pr ior to me going to Denel ,  

Dennis Mlambo was not  consul ted.   I  know f rom my 

(00:19:40).  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Sorry just  say that  again.  

MR BURGER:   Pr ior to me going to  Head Off ice to say,  I  d id 

not  go,  we did not  take i t  to Mlambo for approval .   But  I  know 

there was a lot  o f  consul tat ion wi thin,  wi thin the execut ives 

and in Head Off ice and they did speak to him.  10 

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Did they speak to him? 

MR BURGER:   Ja,  that  much I  know.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Then let  us look at  some examples of  

that  in Bundle 1.  

COMMISSIONER:   Oh I  am sorry,  let  us clear that .   Are you 

saying they did speak to him or are you saying they might  

have spoken to him? 

MR BURGER:   No,  I  know they did.  

COMMISSIONER:   They did? 

MR BURGER:   They did speak to him, yes.  20 

COMMISSIONER:   Okay.  

MR BURGER:   I  know there were discussions between Mr 

Jan Wessels,  Mr Mlambo and Mr Fiki le Mhlont lo.    

COMMISSIONER:   Okay,  al r ight .   Do you know whether the 

discussions were aimed at  get t ing his approval  or not  
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necessari ly? 

MR BURGER:   I  was not  party to those discussions.  

COMMISSIONER:   You are not  sure of  that? 

MR BURGER:   I  do not  know.  

COMMISSIONER:   Okay.  

MR BURGER:   And I  know there were … 

COMMISSIONER:   Okay.  

MR BURGER:   Ser ious discussions,  but  I  was never party to  

those discussions.  

COMMISSIONER:   Okay,  no that  is f ine.    10 

ADV KENNEDY SC:   A l r ight ,  may I  take you to the emai l  

correspondence that  seems to be relevant ,  in Bundle 1.   I  do 

not  know i f  you have been, i f  you st i l l  have Bundle 1 access.  

COMMISSIONER:   Ja,  I  have got  i t  ja.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Thank you.   I f  I  can start  at  page 788.    

COMMISSIONER:   What is the page number? 

ADV KENNEDY SC:   788.    

COMMISSIONER:   Okay.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   You have i t?  

MR BURGER:   Yes.  20 

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Right ,  now the,  the – there is an emai l  

r ight  at  the bot tom dated the 22nd of  July.   I t  is not  c lear 

what the actual  content  that  emai l  may have been, because 

i t  just  has a disc laimer.   But  be that  as i t  may,  the emai l  

about  hal fway down the page, 2nd of  September 2014, comes 
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f rom Dennis Mlambo.  And is addressed to Cel ia/Reenen.  

You see that? 

MR BURGER:   I  see that  Chai r.   

ADV KENNEDY SC:   A l r ight ,  so what Mr Mlambo says:  

“ I  have just  establ ished that  LMT does have a val id  

t r ip le BEE cert i f icate,  see at tached.  I  am baff led as 

to why i t  was not  submit ted as per your claim at  th is  

evening’s meet ing.   I  wi l l  request  detai ls f rom 

Stephan Nel  about  the pr ic ing and proof  o f  

shareholding of  VR Laser as discussed.”  10 

Now this appears to bare out  the evidence of  Ms 

Malahlela as wel l  as Mr Mlambo that  there was interact ion 

between off ic ia ls,  maybe not  yoursel f ,  but  off ic ia ls  at  DLS 

with Mr Mlambo at  Head Off ice there.   Correct? 

MR BURGER:   I  see that .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   And that  included Cel ia,  Ms Malahle la 

f rom your procurement supply chain sect ion,  the head of  

that .   Correct? 

MR BURGER:   Yes,  I  see that  too.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   And Reenen Teubes,  what was,  what 20 

was his posi t ion at  the t ime? 

MR BURGER:   He was COO of  Combat Systems.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Yes.   And one of  the issues that  was 

ra ised in  discussion wi th Mr Mlambo was the t r ip le BEE 

cert i f icate,  because there was concern about whether the 
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scor ing of  the t r ip le BEE was done correct ly.   And whether i t  

may have favoured VR Laser and prejudiced LMT.  Are you 

aware that  there were such discussions? 

MR BURGER:   I  can see I  was copied on an emai l .  I  am, I  

cannot,  I  cannot recal l  th is.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Yes.   And then Reenen Teubes at  the 

top of  the page, in the emai l  that  you have r ight ly re ferred to  

as having copied you in,  take th is further and he says:  

“As explained in th is meet ing a formal process was 

fol lowed to evaluate the proposals,  etcetera.”  10 

 And then he refers further to,  to al l  the bidders being 

given an opportuni ty seven days to submit  addi t ional  

informat ion.   Al l  th is addi t ional  informat ion that  was 

received,  was wi thin the seven day per iod was then taken 

into account to f inal ise the scores.   So the part ies were 

al lowed to,  to give more informat ion that  what had or ig inal ly  

been submit ted in respect  of  t r ip le BEE accredi tat ion.   You 

see that? 

MR BURGER:   I  see that  Chai r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   And we know that  VR Laser  was 20 

al lowed to submit  a changed quote for pr ice,  but  LMT was 

not .    

MR BURGER:   I  accept ,  I  have al ready said that .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   You have explained that  ear l ier.   Yes.   

Then Mr Mlambo who certainly does not  seem to l ike to leave 
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th ing unat tended,  repl ies on the 3 r d of  September,  on the 

previous page 787.   He addresses i t  to Mr Teubes and again 

copied,  copies in  Cel ia Malahlela and Fiki le Mhlont lo.   He 

was the group CFO at  that  stage.   Correct? 

MR BURGER:   Correct  and he was also report ing to Fiki le.    

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Yes,  exact ly.   So he had a di rect  

report ing l ine,  Mr Mlambo to Mhlont lo? 

MR BURGER:   Correct .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Would I  be correct  in inferr ing f rom this 

that  Mr Mlambo was here making sure that  his concerns 10 

were not  just  deal t  wi th,  wi th in the divis ion,  DLS that  were 

now being brought to the at tent ion of  his boss at  Head Off ice 

deal .   Correct? 

MR BURGER:   Correct  Chai r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Yes.   And not  only your  procurement 

people l ike Ms Malahle la,  but  of  course in div is ional  level ,  

but  also Jan Wessels.   He was then COO of  the group,  

correct? 

MR BURGER:   Correct  Chai r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   And also that  you were kept  in formed,  20 

Mr Burger,  as CEO of  the divis ion? 

MR BURGER:   Correct  Chai r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   And then he,  he sets out  a  number of  

issues that  he descr ibes as key issues in,  in – he says:  

“As I  d id not  have an opportuni ty to do a thorough 
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study of  al l  the tender submissions I  cannot 

categorical ly c laim that  the process was suff ic ient ly 

object ive and the conf idence level  is high enough to 

place i t  beyond reproach.”  

 He seems to be ra is ing,  r inging an alarm bel l  here.  

Not  so?  He is saying,  I  am not  sat isf ied on the basis of  what 

I  have been sent  that  th is is necessar i ly compl iant .   Correct? 

MR BURGER:   Correct  Chai r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Did that ,  do you remember actual ly 

seeing this emai l  that  was addressed to you? 10 

MR BURGER:   Chai r  I  must  have seen i t  at  the t ime, I  cannot 

remember.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Yes.  

MR BURGER:   I  cannot remember the content  or I  cannot 

remember th is.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Yes.   Should you not  remember i t  

though Mr Burger?  In  th is  sense,  as CEO you are having 

your juniors in the,  in the divis ion,  Ms Malahlela who is your  

most  – in fact  she is the most  senior person in the 

procurement sect ion.   Not  so?  So she has been deal ing wi th 20 

var ious issues such as t r ip le BEE cert i f icates and so forth.   

And Mr Mlambo is  saying,  I  have got  queries about  the t r ip le 

BEE cert i f icate.    

And then there is a response that  is  then provided to 

him, that  we have seen on the previous page f rom Reenen 
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Teubes.   He then responds and does not  s imply conf ine 

himsel f  to t r ip le BEE, where i t  is c lear he is not  completely 

sat isf ied on that  ei ther.   But  he is  saying as I  read to you 

now:  

“Nonetheless the fol lowing are key issues that  mer i t  a  

ser ious review of  the adjudicat ion process and 

outcome.”  

 This must  have been a ser ious alarm bel l  that  should 

have t r iggered your  interest  and made you remember this  

sort  of  th ing i f  you took i t  ser iously.  10 

MR BURGER:   Yes.   The,  the process there,  we were at  that  

stage in the middle of  the process.   I  was inst ructed by my 

boss which was Mr Saloojee to have two signatures on the 

mot ivat ion that  was Fiki le Mhlont lo  and,  and Mr Jan Wessels 

to make the recommendat ion.   At  that  t ime during September 

I  was not  interact ing wi th Dennis Mlambo.  And I  was aware 

of  the fact  that  both Jan and Fiki le were,  were constant ly  

interact ing wi th him.   

So,  so I  took th is as,  as obvious that  they were 

consider ing his inputs.   I  say again Chai r,  th is I  ra ised my in 20 

wri t ing in meet ings my opinion about the direct ion to go.   I  

would have supported any decision that  was made and this  

was not  part  of  the process.  This was now a lready laying at  

Head Off ice for months when this happened, when th is,  th is  

issue arose.    
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So,  so for me th is was,  should have been – i f  th is 

was the problem and I  had,  I  was Fiki le was report ing to me, 

and speaking to him weekly about  th is program, I  would,  I  

would think that  he took cognisance of  that  before signing 

the recommendat ion.   So,  so yes.   

ADV KENNEDY SC:   But  your feel ing of  comfort  sure ly would 

not  have been just i f ied,  because you are here being copied 

in and you say you must  have received i t .   You have been 

copied in by the most  senior person in the group,  is the 

Group Execut ive of  Supply Chain.   One of  the wi tnesses Mr 10 

Ntshepe has said that  the term execut ive was wrong,  that  he 

was only a Manager.    

But  in fact  the delegat ion or author i ty approved by 

the Board in fact  cal ls him the Group Supply Chain 

Execut ive.   But  let  us leave aside the label .   He was the 

most  senior off ic ia l ,  speci f ical ly tasked with supply chain 

management wi thin the ent i re group.   Not  so? 

MR BURGER:   True Chai r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   And he is now f lagging methodical ly,  

point  by point .   I  am not  going to  take you through al l  of  20 

them, but  he is ra is ing ser ious concerns that  he is saying … 

END OF AUDIO 
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INQUIRY RESUMES 

ADV KENNEDY SC:   “These are key issues that  meri t  a  

ser ious review of  the adjudicat ion process and 

outcome.”  

 Did you undertake,  did you accept  the advice you 

were get t ing or perhaps even inst ruct ion you were get t ing 

f rom Mr Mlambo that  these are keys issues that  meri t  a 

ser ious review?  Did you undertake that  or do you know i f  

anybody else d id? 

ADV KENNEDY SC:   I  am not  aware of  i t  Chai r.  10 

MR BURGER:   No.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   No.   And then he deals wi th capabi l i ty.   

And one of  the points he makes in the f i rst  paragraph is that  

LMT was the only one of  the three tenders that  manufacture 

the same hul ls under cont ract  for Pat r ia,  that  had obtained 

the lowest  score on capabi l i ty.   DCD has never manufactured 

the same hul ls and yet  i t  obtained the highest  score.    

Now I  am not  want ing to go into a lengthy debate 

about whether Mr Mlambo was r ight  or wrong,  he seems to 

be saying,  why does LMT get  such a low score when i t  has 20 

got ,  when i t  has actual ly got  experience of  th is?  How can i t  

get  such a low score on capabi l i ty and DCD gets a high 

score even though i t  has never manufactured this th ing?   

So how could i t  be given that?  Now your answer 

could conceivably be,  wel l  LMT al though i t  has manufactured 
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th is sort  of  th ing cannot be rel ied on.   But  whatever the 

outcome of  that  debate might  be,  seems to me to be 

unnecessary to go into.   Mr Mlambo is rais ing ser ious 

quest ions.    

There may have been good answers l ike the one I  am 

speculat ing that  you might  give.   But  the point  is he is  saying 

these need to be answered.   And that  these three reviewed, 

and yet  that  does not  seem to have been done.   

MR BURGER:   No Chai r.   And I  say again,  at  that  point  in  

t ime this argument was escalated to  DCO. So between Fiki le ,  10 

Jan and Mr Mlambo they,  they were discussing this on a 

regular basis.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Yes.   And ul t imately  who s igned i t?  I t  

was Mr Saloojee? 

MR BURGER:   Koert? 

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Yes.   But  are you saying that  you just  

lef t  i t  to Head Off ice and even when you were alerted by 

Head Off ice Mr Mlambo to the fact  that  he was ra ising r ight ly  

or  wrongly,  that  he was ra is ing issues that  he was ent i t led to  

ra ise as Group Execut ive for  Supply Chain.   That  needed 20 

this to be resolved,  that  you did,  you did nothing about  i t .   

Why did that  (00:02:24)  

MR BURGER:   I  d id nothing about  th is.   Sorry Chai r,  I  d id 

nothing about th is  emai l ,  correct .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Yes.   And then he deals wi th the pr ice 
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d i fference.   And the points … 

COMMISSIONER:   I  am sorry Mr Kennedy.   You say you are 

clear that  you d id nothing about  i t?  Why was that  in 

ci rcumstances where Mr Mlambo was raising a number of  

issues of  concern? 

MR BURGER:   The reason,  the reason for that  is I  was under 

the impression that  there was a di fference of  op inion.   And 

because there was a di fference of  opinion,  th is discussion 

escalated to a level  higher than Mr Mlambo.  That  was in my 

mind what was happening.   So and for that  reason I  said, 10 

there are these unhappiness.    

We thought we gave a good answer,  he now comes 

with di fferent ,  d i f ferent  issues and,  and I  have to admit   

Chair  that  and I  state that  in my aff idavi t  as wel l ,  that  at  that  

t ime maybe I  d id not  enough pat ience wi th,  wi th the 

si tuat ion.   I  was get t ing grumpy and I  was a l i t t le bi t  i r r i table.  

So,  so and I  am not  saying that  just i f ies i t .  I  am just  saying 

that  was … 

COMMISSIONER:   Just  explain how? 

MR BURGER:   Ja that  was the scenar io.  20 

COMMISSIONER:   (00:04:08).  

MR BURGER:   And my mind was for a person l ike Mr Dennis 

Mlambo to stay,  guarantee could make th is th ing high.   I  

th ink he did not  understand the chal lenges that ,  that  or I  just  

sat  wi th where a suppl ier l ike the – ag the cl ient  l ike the 
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Uni ted Nat ions formal ly  to ld us we wi l l  never ever  ever  buy 

f rom you again i f  you make hul ls at  LMT.  So those were the,  

those were the issues I  was deal ing wi th at  the t ime.  

COMMISSIONER:   I t  seems to me that  in a si tuat ion such as 

this where the ent i t ies have been to ld,  these are the cr i ter ia  

that  wi l l  be used to decide this compet i t ion between the two 

of  you or three of  you.   I t  seems to me that  you can only 

make the decision as to who gets the job on the basis of  

those cr i ter ia.    

And that  i t  should not  be something outside of  that .   10 

Now I  want to hear what your comment is because i t  seems 

to me that  you knew certain things about LMT and maybe a 

lot  of  other  people wi thin Denel  knew certa in  th ings.   But  and 

those things were inf luencing your at t i tude towards LMT as 

to whether they should be given this job or not .  

MR BURGER:   True Chai r.  

COMMISSIONER:   Now to the extent  that  those were things 

that  may have been outside the cr i ter ia that  had been used 

by the scor ing team or whatever  they are cal led.   Would i t  

not  have,  would i t  not  have been i l legi t imate to use factors 20 

that  were may not  have been par t  of  the factors that  the 

cr i ter ia that  you were announced as the cr i ter ia that  would 

decide who wins? 

MR BURGER:   Chair  the cr i ter ia that  was,  was set  down by 

pol icy was,  was new for us.   I t  was not ,  we were not  used to 
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implement ing those cr i ter ia.   So we, we basica l ly fo l lowed 

those cr i ter ia and we came to an answer.   I ,  I ,  my opinion at  

the t ime was and I  take note of  Mr Kennedy’s posi t ion that  i t  

was a smal l  var iance.   I  take note of  that .   But  my posi t ion at  

the t ime was,  we st r ict ly fo l lowed the prescr ibed ru les.   I t  

gave a winner.    

And,  and we did not  use a reduced pr ice,  we did not  

use anything else.   I t  gave a winner.   Now accept  that ,  i t  was 

by a smal l  margin.   The arguments that  were put  to me was,  

let  us bend the rules to rather favour  LMT.   That  was what 10 

the impression that  I  got .   Let  us bend the rules to  rather  

favour LMT, because for var ious reasons.   They part  of  us so 

we can – i t  is in-house and al l  those th ings.    

And,  and those arguments I  t r ied to counter by 

saying,  hang on.   I f  you want to do that  understand the r isk 

you are put t ing Denel  into.   And,  and that  was my posi t ion at  

the t ime and,  and but  Chai r  and I  say th is and I  put  i t  in  

wri t ing then on emai ls,  i f  Denel  decide we are not  going to 

because of  al l  these good reasons,  the delegat ion l ies wi th  

Jan – above me, three people above me for al l  these good 20 

reasons,  let  us go wi th LMT.  We would have t r ied our best  

to make i t  work.   No argument.    

COMMISSIONER:   Okay.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Thank you Commissioner.   I  just  want  

to raise one br ief  quest ion on a point  that  you raised ear l ier.   



12 NOVEMBER 2020 – DAY 305 
 

Page 173 of 246 
 

And that  is that  the reduct ion in pr ice would not  have made 

any di fference in the sense that  they al ready had the 

advantage in terms of  the scor ing,  so … 

MR BURGER:   Yes.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   So this was at  i t  were a bonsel la(?).    

MR BURGER:   That  was my impression too.    

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Yes.   What I  suggest  is that  that  is not  

a correct  impression.   Because in fact  i f  you had not  al lowed 

them to or asked them and urged them in your  angry 

conversat ion to  reduce thei r  pr ice,  then they would not  have 10 

reduced thei r  pr ice and then they would not  have got  the 

contract .   That  seems to me to be absolutely cruc ial ,  a 

reduct ion in pr ice.   By reducing thei r  pr ice to 195 f rom about 

260 mi l l ion,  that  was pivotal  in the decision.   I t  was not  any 

re levancy.    

MR BURGER:   Shu Chai r,  I  am not  sure i f  I  am fol lowing.   

The issue here was we made a recommendat ion based on 

the previous pr ice,  wi th the expectat ion to come down.  Now 

i f  they at  that  stage they made an unsol ic i ted proposal ,  they 

had al l  the r ight  not  to say,  no,  no,  no,  we made a mistake i t  20 

was the or ig inal  280 or 260.  

So f rom my perspect ive then we would have been 

forced probably i f  i t  would have been above the delegat ions 

to come back and say,  th is needs to go to the board but  the 

recommendat ion remains the same.   So I ,  in my mind,  in my 
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mind i t  would not  have been a di fference in suppl ier.   I t  

would have,  the delegat ions would have changed.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Right .   Now let  us complete our 

reference to this  emai l .   As I  sa id I  am not  going to go 

through i t  po int  by point  because i t  can be read in due 

course.   And I  do not  th ink i t  needs to be debated.   But  one 

of  the points Mr Mlambo raised,  raises is pr ice.  The pr ice 

di fference of  about  100 mi l l ion,  that  is the pr ice between VR 

Laser and LMT.  Now that  of  course is their  or ig inal  quote 

pr ice.  10 

MR BURGER:   Correct .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Of  360 mi l l ion.   And she says:  

“The pr ice di fference between VR Laser and LMT Ops 

is almost  100 mi l l ion.   In my invest igat ion I  was 

informed by Stephan.”  

Now i t  is apparent  f rom Mr Mlambo’s ev idence that   

the Stephan there is not  yoursel f .   I t  is Dr Stephan Nel .    

MR BURGER:   Correct .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Right .    

“That  the LMT quote was based on factual  f igures 20 

since LMT has manufactured the hul l  before.   I f  

Stephan is r ight ,  i t  would not  make business sense to 

pay so much more.”  

So he does not  s imply accept  i t  necessari ly as wel l  

Stephan Nel  has said i t  therefore I  accept  i t  as the gospel 
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t ruth.   He just  says this is  what  I  have been told,  i f  he is 

r ight  i t  would be crazy to  go to VR Laser i f  you can get  i t  for  

100 mi l l ion cheaper.   So in other words i f  Stephan is r ight ,  

that  would be an answer to your concern that  the 150,  160 

mi l l ion that  LMT offered in  fact  is a bi t  of  a  joke.   I t  cannot 

be taken ser iously.   Correct? 

MR BURGER:   Correct  Chai r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Right .   And then he says:  

 “You agree i t  would not  make business sense. ”  

 Not  so? 10 

MR BURGER:   Correct  Chai r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Yes.   And since LMT is a sister  

company,  now by that  he meant  by this stage LMT was 

al ready owned or  subject  to  the share opt ion.   I  am not  sure 

which,  but  i t  was,  i t  was now being brought into the Denel  

Group.   Correct? 

MR BURGER:   I t  was,  i t  was at  that  stage ful ly owned. 

ADV KENNEDY SC:   I t  was al ready.  

MR BURGER:   Owned by Denel .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Major i ty owned, not  fu l ly owned. 20 

MR BURGER:   Major i ty.   

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Not  fu l ly owned.  Yes.   But  I  understand 

by what you meant by ful ly.   I  bel ieve some of  the deal ,  he 

should have demanded the support ing evidence before 

assuming that  LMT under quoted.   Now in  fact  the bel ief  that  
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LMT under quoted was,  i t  may have been shared by others in 

DLS, but  i t  was certainly a feel ing that  you had.   Not  so?   

MR BURGER:   I t  d id not  or ig inate f rom me Chai r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   I t  d id not  or ig inate f rom you? 

MR BURGER:   No i t  d id not .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   But  i t  was,  you shared that  bel ief .   

MR BURGER:   I  shared that  bel ief .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Right ,  so you say,  he says:  

‘ I  bel ieve some of  the DLS should have demanded 

support ing evidence before assuming that  LMT under 10 

quoted.   I  that ,  th is anomaly wants further 

invest igat ion and val idat ion. ”  

 So again i t  is a ser ious alarm bel l .   He is saying,  wel l  

you guys in the divis ional  level  seem to be thinking that  wel l  

MNT’s pr ice that  is so much less than VR Laser,  that  that  

cannot be assumed in i ts favour,  because they under quoted,  

i t  is not  a genuine pr ice.    

He is  saying,  no I  as the Head Off ice Head of  

Procurement need to sat isf ied and you should have been 

sat isf ied.   Where is your evidence for th is?  Not  just  Mr 20 

Burger knows these things.   Or Mr Teubes knows these 

things.   He needs evidence.   Would you agree that  i t  is a 

responsible at t i tude on his part  to  be making sure even i f  

you are r ight ,  that  decision can only be taken once the facts 

are establ ished? 
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MR BURGER:   Chair  the quest ion here is,  what,  what is he 

saying?  Should we have increased the pr ice?  I f  they sa id 

oops we made a l i t t le b i t  of  a mistake,  and re-evaluate i t ,  I  

am not  sure what  the process would have been i f  they came 

back and said,  oops i t  is,  i t  can be a l i t t le bi t  h igher than 

what we thought.   What … 

ADV KENNEDY SC:   But  does that  matter? 

MR BURGER:   No.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   I t  does not  answer Mr Mlambo’s point ,  

does i t?  And that  is what I  am asking you on.  10 

MR BURGER:   No i t  does not .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Right .  

MR BURGER:   No i t  does not .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Okay.   But  then he deals wi th BEE 

cert i f icates and he suggest  that  there was a,  there was an 

unfai rness in that .   But  what I  am part icular ly interested in is  

paragraph 5.   Effect ively he is saying that  the documents 

submit ted by VR Laser on the ir  ownership and these raise 

suspicions as they do not  speci fy the individual  shareholders 

in person.    20 

Now Mr Mlambo’s aff idavi t ,  he also gave ora l  

evidence but  not  in al l  i ts detai l ,  in  qui te as much detai l  as 

the aff idavi t  obviously.   He was not  aware at  that  stage,  as I  

understand his evidence that  in  fact  the Guptas were 

involved or that  something that  could,  could raise potent ia l  
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media speculat ion and controversy in the publ ic domain.   

That  was an innocent  quest ion,  but  i t  was an important  

quest ion.    

He is saying,  wel l  they say,  VR Laser are saying they 

are owned by somebody and they say they are owned by a 

part icular companies,  but  they do not  say who owns those 

companies.   So he is concerned.   He says,  the names Olga 

Solve(?) and Kreshwe(?) Investments are si lent  about  the 

ident i t ies of  the real  shareholders.   There were no other  

documents.    10 

Now i t  seems that  Mr Mlambo may wel l  have had 

some foresight  because as i t  turned out  i t  emerged la ter that  

in fact ,  that  there was a Gupta l ink and so forth.   Now I  am 

not  saying that  that  would necessar i ly have disqual i f ied them 

or  could have disqual i f ied them.  But  he is not  sat isf ied,  he 

is saying there are al l  sorts of  problems.   

Tr ip le  BEE cert i f icates,  one party  has been given 

t reatment  to  another  and so forth.   Again I  am not  going to 

debate whether  his opinion was r ight  or  wrong,  but  he 

reached th is opinion.   You do not ,  you do not  dispute that  Mr 20 

Mlambo was t ry ing to do his job in good fai th? 

MR BURGER:   No,  absolutely.   

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Right .  

MR BURGER:   Absolute ly.   

ADV KENNEDY SC:   And i t  fact  i t  was his responsibi l i ty to 
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deal  wi th th is.  

MR BURGER:   Absolute ly.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   And he has speci f ical ly copied in  not  

just  Cel ia  and Reenen, Mr Teubes and Ms Malahlela,  but  

also his boss,  Mlambo’s boss and the COO and of  course 

yoursel f  as DLS CEO. 

MR BURGER:   Correct .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   He escalated i t .  

MR BURGER:   Correct .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   So he had said this is ser ious.   These 10 

are key issues and then his f inal  paragraph af ter the 

numbered paragraphs he says:  

“ I  t rust  that  the detai ls above clar i fy my reasons for 

not  support ing the recommendat ion to a point  VR 

Laser to manufacture the hul ls. ”  

 Clear ly he was of  the bel ief  and i t  appears that  he 

may wel l  have been r ight ,  that  he needed to endorse the 

recommendat ion.   He also had to recommend the 

appointment of  VR Laser before the Group CEO f inal ly  

approved i t .   That  was part  of  h is job,  not  so? 20 

MR BURGER:   At  the t ime I  d id not ,  I  d id not  see his – we 

have never had h is signature for  something that  went to the 

Group CEO on something l ike this pr ior to th is.   So,  so we 

saw that  as he needed to be consul ted.   His inputs need to 

be given and needed to be taken ser iously and,  and then a 
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decision was made.  I  must  also say that  the decision who to 

sign on the mot ivat ion was not  my choice.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Right .  

MR BURGER:   That  was a decision made by the Group CEO 

Mr Saloojee and he said those are the two people that  must  

sign.   

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Okay.   Then he concludes his  last  

sentence:  

“Al ternat ively the ent i re process must  be rev isi ted 

and conducted in a fa i r  and object ive fashion. ”  10 

 Now he has given evidence that  he fel t  that  th is was 

not  object ive.   He feels that  you were subject ,  that  you in  

fact  were as his aff idavi t  indicates and oral  evidence that  no 

doubt you l istened to.   And suggested to the Chai r  that  you 

were not ,  you were not  object ive.    

You were being subject ive,  but  th is was not  

suff ic ient ly independent and that  he wanted the whole thing 

to be done proper ly in a fai r  and object ive way.   Now 

obviously you would disagree that  you were act ing 

subject ively.   You have a lready given evidence that  you 20 

bel ieved this was a good business decision and so … 

MR BURGER:    Correct  Chai r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   But ,  but  i t  is qui te clear f rom this emai l  

that  th is was a ser ious matter,  not  so?   

MR BURGER:   Correct  Chai r.  
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ADV KENNEDY SC:   Now this was not  s imply a matter that  

was going on at  Head Off ice level  between di fferent  people 

at  Head Off ice.   Because as we have seen this emai l  was 

addressed pr imari ly to Mr Teubes at ,  at  your div is ional  level .   

Correct? 

MR BURGER:   Correct  Chai r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   And in fact  you then repl ied to i t .   

Presumably you did not  leave i t  to Mr Teubes to reply to,  

because you real ised the ser iousness.   I f  you look at  the 

emai l ,  i t  starts r ight  at  the foot  of  page 785 or 786.    10 

MR BURGER:   Correct  Chai r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Yes.   And you then for  an ent i re  page 

and your emai l  and I  do not  cr i t ic ise you for th is,  set  out 

some reasons why you say that ,  that  VR Laser should get  i t  

and LMT should not .   And you see the numbered paragraphs 

1 to 4? 

MR BURGER:   Correct  Chai r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   That  sets out  a number of  your  

arguments in that  regard.   You then say:  

“Nevertheless I  am convinced that  VR Laser is 20 

technical ly  best  equipped to execute this program.   I  

a lso bel ieve given the recent  cont ract  performance of 

LMT, i t  w i l l  be i r responsible to place a contract  of  

such cr i t ica l i ty on them, also take into account  the 

affect  the KSA order wi l l  have on them.”  
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 What is the KSA order?   

MR BURGER:   K ingdom of  Saudi  Arabia.    

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Right .   So that  is the same Saudi  

Arabia … 

MR BURGER:   That  I  spoke about.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Order that  you ment ioned.   Now Mr 

Mlambo comes back to you in an emai l  at  the top of  page 

785,  on the 4t h of  September,  later on in the same day.   And 

he says:  

“We are clear ly no al igned in terms of  the analysis of  10 

the data and informat ion that  I  saw for the f i rst  t ime 

on Tuesday at  the meet ing I  had wi th Reenen and 

Cel ia.  I  th ink we should not  exchange any more 

emai ls on the SC in quest ion as the resolut ion may 

be easier to f ind around a table.   However the 

fol lowing issues are def in i te ly not  been addressed.”  

 And so he deals wi th,  wi th again,  four points.   Huge 

pr ice di fferent ia l ,  the issue of  a conf l ict  of  interest ,  refuted 

any conf l ict  of  in terest  to the submission of  the document  

etcetera by the capabi l i ty.   He st i l l  has reservat ions in  20 

re lat ion to th is.   And then af ter his paragraph 4,  he says:  

“My content ion is  that  despi te being convinced of  a 

fa i r  and object ive process that  was fol lowed by the 

adjudicat ion team …” 

 And here his evidence explained that  here he was 
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real ly saying that  he was not  convinced,  i t  was more that  you 

were convinced.    

“Let  us appoint  an independent assessor to 

corroborate your claim.  I t  is also worth ment ioning 

that  you f louted the delegat ion of  author i ty by not  

present ing a f i le  for review to me before engaging 

Fiki le. ”  

 That  is Mr Mhlont lo,  CFO, correct? 

MR BURGER:   Correct .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   And Jan.   Jan Wessels,  COO, correct? 10 

MR BURGER:   Correct  Chai r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   “Any t ransact ion above 20 mi l l ion must   

go through my off ice f i rst .   I  am beginning to have 

doubts that  th is was an oversight . ”  

 Now he there seems to be suggest ing not  only that  

you were being subject ive and not  object ive.   But  a lso that  

you were actual ly manipulat ing processes.   You received this 

emai l ,  d id you? 

MR BURGER:   Ja I  remember i t .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Yes.   What did  you do about i t?  20 

MR BURGER:   I  … 

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Did you reply? 

MR BURGER:   I  parked that .   No,  his opinion was let  us 

resolve this around a table.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Yes.  
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MR BURGER:   That  was his suggest ion.   And I  thought at  the 

t ime there are clear ly a di fference of  opin ion.   I t  is  beyond 

my salary of  decis ion making and th is should be escalated to  

the level  of  Mr Saloojee,  Mr Jany Wessels and Mr Mkhlont lo.   

And they were a l l  party to th is and,  and for a decision … 

ADV KENNEDY SC:   No.   Did you – I  am sorry.    

MR BURGER:   No and that  was my, that  was my view.   

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Right .  

MR BURGER:   We had di fferences of  opinion and (00:23:55).  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   D id you wri te  back to  Mr Mlambo and 10 

say that?  Say let  us not  have a round table meet ing 

between us,  i t  is above your and my? 

MR BURGER:   No I  d id not ,  I  d id not .  Not  that  I  can recal l .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   You see again i t  is interest ing to note 

that  Mr Mlambo has taken the t rouble and he gave evidence 

that  he did take this t rouble for a good reason.   He says he 

not  only responded to you,  but  he also copied in Cel ia  

Malahlela,  which was appropr iate.   She was your junior,  but  

she was the Head of  Supply Chain at  DLS, correct? 

MR BURGER:   Correct .  20 

ADV KENNEDY SC:   So i t  was r ight  that  she should be kept  

in th is loop,  not  so? 

MR BURGER:   Correct .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   And again he copies in Mr Mhlont lo and 

Mr Wessels and Reenen Teubes and now for the f i rst  t ime Mr 
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Saloojee.    

MR BURGER:   Correct .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   So he keeps escalat ing and he keeps 

saying,  I  am not  sat isf ied wi th th is process.   I t  does not  look 

object ive,  i t  does not  look compl iant .   You have ignored me.  

Now that  I  am engaged, I  have now picked up these 

problems and I  need answers.   Now whether he was r ight  or 

not  to be sat isf ied wi th the answers you at tempted to give,  

c lear ly he was not .    

Whether or not  he was r ight  to,  to  feel  d isturbed by 10 

your answers,  ra ther than reassured by your answers is  

nei ther here nor there.   He was not  sat isf ied.   Now he was 

tel l ing his bosses,  Mhlont lo and Saloojee,  I  am not  sat isf ied.   

You fel t  wel l ,  then he must ,  i t  must  just  be referred to them 

at  Head Off ice and they must  take a decis ion.   Correct? 

MR BURGER:   I  at  the t ime I  to ld  we were running out  of  

t ime, I  am prepared and I  say again,  I  said that  indeed his 

emai ls,  I  am prepared to accept  any decision,  but  just  take a 

decision.   And i t  was,  i t  was wi th th is very emai l ,  i t  was 

escalated to a point .   So … 20 

ADV KENNEDY SC:   I  understand.  

MR BURGER:   So that ,  that  is  how I  fe l t  and then there were 

very,  a lot  of  heal thy discussions and arguments that ,  that  

happened af ter th is.   I  was not  party to and this is or ig inal ly 

why I  said I  was not ,  af ter th is I  d id not  real ly have a lot  of  
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d iscussions wi th … 

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Mr Mlambo. 

MR BURGER:   Mr Mlambo.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Yes.  

MR BURGER:   But  I  know both Fiki le and Mr Jan Wessels 

did have.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Sorry who and who?  Wessels? 

MR BURGER:   Mr Fiki le Mhlont lo and … 

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Mhlont lo?   

MR BURGER:   Ja.  10 

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Right .  

MR BURGER:   And Mr Jan.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   With Mr Mlamba.  Yes.   Is i t  not  correct  

that  you in fact  had the discussion wi th Mr Saloojee? 

MR BURGER:   At  the end when we had the discussion,  al l  of 

us,  yes.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   A l l  of  us being who? 

MR BURGER:   The four of  us.   Clear ly Jan Wessels,  mysel f  

and … 

ADV KENNEDY SC:   So you and? 20 

MR BURGER:   The CFO and the COO and the Group CEO.   

ADV KENNEDY SC:   So i t  was Mr Saloojee,  Mr Mhlont lo,  Mr 

Wessels and yoursel f?  

MR BURGER:    Correct .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Right ,  but  not  Mr Mlambo? 
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MR BURGER:   Not  yet .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   You see th is is part  of  the problem that  

Mr Mlambo has raised and i t  seems to be an issue we need 

to canvass wi th you.   I  can ful ly understand your at t i tude that  

wel l  we have got  a compl icat ion.   You have t r ied to persuade 

Mr Mlambo.  Mr Mlambo is t ry ing to persuade you.   And you 

just  cannot see eye to eye on this.   Not  a personal  

antagonist ic th ing,  i t  was … 

MR BURGER:   No.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   I t  was a matter of  on both s ides you 10 

have accepted people being bona f ide and t ry ing to do thei r  

job.   You had not  persuaded each other.   So now who, how 

do you break this logjam?  You go to the bosses because 

af ter al l  the delegat ion of  author i ty ul t imately  rests the f inal  

approval  in Mr Saloojee.  

MR BURGER:   Correct  Chai r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   And now Mr Mlambo regarded his  

approve – his own approval  or recommendat ion as being 

vi ta l ,  but  let  us leave that  debate aside.   I  th ink we have 

touched on that  al ready and the delegat ions author i ty  can be 20 

looked at .   But ,  but  so let  us,  let  us accept  for a moment that  

your posi t ion,  at  your level  wi th Mr Mlambo’s level  you have 

reached a logjam.   I t  has got  to go higher.    

MR BURGER:   Correct  Chai r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Now i t  seems to me to be s igni f icant  
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that  Mr Mlambo was not  part  of  that  meet ing.   Now I  am not  

suggest ing that ,  that  you should have told Mr Saloojee,  your 

ul t imate boss,  how he should run a meet ing.   But  I  am just  

asking you to comment on this because the Chai r  u l t imately  

has to look at  whether th is process was,  was properly done 

and careful ly considered by management.   Part icular ly where 

i t  is  in the context  of  publ ic controversy about State capture 

and so forth.    

The Chair  may need to be sat isf ied that  th is was a 

t ruly  genuine,  bona f ide,  good fai th type of  t ransact ion.   Not  10 

designed to favour people l ike the Guptas because of  thei r  

pol i t ical  connect ions and so forth,  but  th is  was a genuine 

bona f ide th ing.    

I  just  want you to comment on my concern.   Mr 

Mlambo has been p lay ing his ro le,  rais ing al l  of  these 

concerns and yet  he seems to have been lef t  out  of  the – 

wel l  we know he was not  part  of  that  meet ing.   You know why 

not? 

MR BURGER:   I  have got  no idea.   I t  was not  st range for  me 

that  his name was not  on the mot ivat ion,  because that  was 20 

the way i t  was done previously.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Yes.  

MR BURGER:   For orders above 50 mi l l ion.   Obviously 

orders between 20 and 50 mi l l ion he,  he had to sign off .   But  

orders above 50 i t  was the CFO and the COO that  needed to 
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recommend and the CFO represented Mr Dennis Mlambo.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Right .  

MR BURGER:   So I… 

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Sorry the CEO represented Dennis 

Mlambo.  

MR BURGER:   The CFO. 

ADV KENNEDY SC:   CFO represented Mr Mlambo.  

MR BURGER:   Correct .   Because he was report ing to  him.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   And the CFO had in fact  been copied in  

on these emai ls admit tedly.  10 

MR BURGER:   Ja he – I  do not  even see his name here.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Certainly – sorry the CFO was Mr 

Mhlont lo.  

MR BURGER:   Yes.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Yes on page – the emai l  at  the top of  

page 785 I  see Fiki le Mhlont lo af ter  Cel ia Malahlela.  

MR BURGER:   Oh yes there is sorry that  is correct .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   So i t  does seem that  Mr Mlambo 

included him as one of  the people to whom this was copied.  

MR BURGER:   Correct .   But  to give him credi t  Chair  that  i f  I  20 

was – i f  th is was such a big issue because subsequent to  

th is emai l  there were many meet ings at  head off ice which I  

was not  party to.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Right .  

MR BURGER:   And many vis i ts to LMT and to whoever and I  
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was not  party to that .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Yes.  

MR BURGER:   And i f  th is was so controvers ial  I  would 

probably have i f  I  was in the shoes of  Mr Mhlont lo  I  would 

have probably said Dennis come wi th me.  I  take that  v iew or  

that  accept  that  point .  But  the fact  of  the matter was this was 

– i t  was at  a stale mate.   I t  was escalated – everybody that  

was there were represented by thei r  bosses at  least  and i t  

was signed off .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   R ight .   Now can I  take you now to a 10 

further emai l  at  page 791 st i l l  in Bundle 1 the same bundle.  

MR BURGER:   791 

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Yes.   The correspondence we have just  

been looking at  was dated the 4 September and this one on 

the – on page 791 is dated a few days later the 9 September 

2014, do you see that? 

MR BURGER:   I  see that  Chai r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Yes.   And this now is sent  by Mr 

Mlambo to Mr Saloojee.   He is the actual  addressee together 

wi th Mr Mhlont lo and Mr Wessels.   Now he says:  20 

“ I  have managed to review DLS’s submission 

pertaining to the abovement ioned subject .   

The fol lowing issues paint  an unacceptable 

picture f rom a process fai rness and object ive 

point  of  v iew.”  
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Now of  course those terms have part icular relevance 

when you look at  the const i tut ional  requi rement that  the – 

that  there be a process,  that  there must  be a system and you 

must  comply wi th  your system and i t  must  be done in a 

lawful  fa i r  and object ive manner.  

 And he points out  that  there are a number of  defects 

in the process which he obviously regards as being ser ious.   

In paragraph 4 he say:  

“ In the submission i t  is c la imed that  LMT’s 

quote is too low and unreal ist ic. ”  10 

Now that  would be the submission that  was prepared 

by Ms Malahlela that  you s igned for  purpose of  submi t t ing to  

head off ice to get  the GCEO’s approval .   Correct .  

MR BURGER:   Correct  Chai r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   And in  that  memorandum that  point  had 

been made that  the LMT quote of  about  R150 or 60 mi l l ion 

was too low and unreal ist ic.   Correct? 

MR BURGER:   Correct  Chai r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Right .  And then he says:  

“The di fference between LMT’s quote and the 20 

VR Laser quote is  almost  R100 mi l l ion.   Af ter 

quest ioning Stephan Nel  on the accuracy of  

his quote he offered to come and present  the 

facts to demonstrate that  i t  is based on 

real ist ic  quotes.   Furthermore he claimed 
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LMT had made the hul l  before – before under 

Pat r ia ’s cont ract . ”  

Then he says in paragraph 5.  

“ In  my meet ing wi th Stephan Burger  

yesterday”  

So you actual ly had a meet ing wi th  Mr Mlambo.  

MR BURGER:   Correct  I  see that  now yes.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   I t  was not  just  emai ls correct? 

MR BURGER:   Correct .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Right .  10 

MR BURGER:   As was suggested in  that  last  emai l  of  h is.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Indeed.  You – he says:  

“He that  is yoursel f  Mr Burge indicated that  

VR Laser had offered to reduce the quote 

f rom around R262.4 mi l l ion to R195 mi l l ion!”  

That  clear ly is something that  is worthy of  emphasis.   

He says:  

“Does that  not  te l l  a disturbing story about  

the in i t ia l  offer on the basis of  these f indings 

and other facts i t  is my considered opinion 20 

that  the submission f rom DLS be rejected 

since LMT has the capabi l i ty to make the 

hul l .   This issue should have been discussed 

before going out  on tender. ”  

Now again I  cannot expect  you to defend Mr Saloojee 
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or Mr Mhlont lo in  thei r  act ions but  what I  would l ike you to 

comment on is th is.   Mr Mlambo’s evidence suggested that  

you effect ively put  a lot  of  pressure on Mr Saloojee and 

made a whole issue about the very point  you raised just  now 

urgency,  we need this urgent ly.    

And LMT’s offer cannot be taken ser iously  they have 

under quoted and they have got  technical  problems and so 

forth.   And al l  o f  that  you presented to Mr Saloojee and 

persuaded him a way which had the effect  of  not  only  

undermin ing Mr Mlambo’s posi t ion as head of  Supply Chain 10 

Management but  important ly probably most  important ly is 

saying this as your expert  in Supply Chain Management I  am 

tel l ing you that  th is has not  been done fai r ly,  properly,  

object ively and correct  f rom a process point  of  v iew.   

And he said I  have – I  have just  smelt  a rat  he said I  

do not  bel ieve that  th is was being done object ively.   This 

was being rushed through and arguments about th ings being 

so urgent  were being put  above the importance of  procedural  

compl iance,  legal  compl iance.   Do you have a comment 

about that  part icular ly  to the extent  that  that  cr i t ic ism is  20 

di rected not  only at  them but  at  you personal ly? 

MR BURGER:   Ja f i rst ly the – Chai r  the opinion of  i t  being 

i l legal  was – is a surpr ise to me at  the t ime.  I t  never 

crossed my mind.   Secondly th is very st rong let ter I  am -  I  

was not  party to i t ,  I  d id not  see i t  and i t  is news to me.  I t  is  
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– we were running at  a schedule and this was get t ing late 

and – in the day for approval  of  i t  especial ly wi th regards to  

certain mi lestones l ike technology,  t ransfer and so on.    

 The long and the short  is  I  fe l t  st rongly that  VR Laser 

given everything is in al l  probabi l i ty the bet ter  decision – 

given everything f rom a technical  and a r isk perspect ive.   I f  

– sorry I  have got  lots of  respect  for Mr Dennis Mlambo and 

he understands the processes and the procedures and the 

Nat ional  Treasury requi rements much bet ter than me for  

sure.   But  unfor tunately he did not  create over years a 10 

scenario where i t  is easy to f ind compromises.   The 

f rust rat ion levels were very h igh.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Frustrat ion on your part .  

MR BURGER:   On f rom the div is ional  level  i t  was high and i t  

– wrongly and I  am not  t ry ing to  defend i t  but  i t  –  at  the t ime 

– at  that  t ime i t  was fel t  that  he is being – he is making l i fe 

di ff icul t  for obvious decisions so… 

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Yes.  

MR BURGER:   But  I  take your point  I  am not  going to  argue 

i t  but  the – at  that  t ime there was a level  of  f rustrat ion.  20 

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Yes.  

MR BURGER:   And this is why I  d id not  go and see on my 

own Mr Saloojee and lobby wi th him i f  that  is  the ins inuat ion.   

There was a discussion.   I  d id put  over my points wi th  

enthusiasm but  both Jan Wessels and the CFO were having 
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d iscussions on a regular basis about these matters wi th him.  

And… 

ADV KENNEDY SC:   That  is Mr Saloojee or Mr Mlambo? 

MR BURGER:   Mr – Mr Mlambo, Mr Wessels and Mr Mhlont lo  

had regular discussions,  regular.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Right .  

MR BURGER:   And in my – and af ter th is and you can see 

here this was now escalated.   I t  was no longer on the level  

of  the divis ion and group Supply Chain.   These things were 

discussed and I  put  my arguments.   The very same answers 10 

art iculated here as I  said ear l ier I  put  on the table there.   

And I  was prepared to make compromises but  I  was real ly 

scared about  the safety cr i t ical  i tem l ike a hul l .   And that  is  

as simple as i t  was.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Right  and also delays.  

MR BURGER:   Of  course I  was concerned about i t .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Yes.   Can I  just  debate wi th you the 

lat ter aspect  of  de lays? 

MR BURGER:   Yes Si r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   You see I  understand f rom your 20 

evidence and in  fact  the evidence of  some of  the other  

wi tnesses and some of  the documents suggests that  there 

was f rust rat ion on the part  of  people l ike yoursel f .  That  there 

were delays and the delays were unacceptable and should 

be avoided or minimised.   I  accept  that  that  could be a 
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legi t imate concern.  

MR BURGER:   Yes Chai r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   What  just  seems to me to be a bi t  

st range is  that  in  the greater  picture whether  – i f  there was a 

delay in relat ion to what Mr Mlambo was suggest ing as you 

have accepted in  good fai th that  these issues need to be 

invest igated and possib ly a f resh process should be 

undertaken in order to comply wi th  the requirements of  the 

law and of  the procurement processes.   I f  that  had taken 

place i t  would not  have meant a delay of  many years,  10 

correct? 

MR BURGER:   Correct  Chai r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Let  us – let  us assume for a moment 

and Mr Mlambo has not  said that  i t  was necessary in th is 

case that  a – par t icular ly under th is Supply Chain pol icy at  

that  t ime that  you had to do anything other than a request  for  

offers – a request  for quotes.  Was not  necessari ly  going to 

be a ful ly open publ ic tender advert ised in the media 

etcetera.   I t  would not  have taken al l  that  long.    

So I  can understand when you say that  you were 20 

f rust rated wi th Mr Mlambo.  You accepted he was in  good 

fai th.   You accepted that  he was ent i t led to come to these 

opinions.   You may have disagreed with them but  he and you 

suggested that  he was being di ff icul t  but  not  in bad fai th i t  

was just  f rustrat ing to your intent  to  get  the bal l  ro l l ing.  
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MR BURGER:   Correct  Chai r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   But  in the bigger picture i f  you had 

humoured Mr Mlambo or compl ied wi th Mr Mlambo’s request  

and the same of  course appl ies to Mr Saloojee and Mr 

Mhlont lo and we have had to deal  wi th those quest ions wi th  

them.  I t  would not  have delayed the Hoefyster Pro ject  by 

much in the greater picture.  

 We have before the commission facts as to the 

ser iously disturbing delay in the project  which goes into – we 

are talk ing about more than a decade – so I  can understand 10 

you may be have been f rust rated wi th that  as wel l  and that  

may not  have been your responsibi l i ty and so forth.  

 So even i f  one accepts your desi re to expedi te 

th ings,  hurry th ings along f i rst ly was i t  not  requi red in terms 

of  the law?  Was i t  not  requi red because your expert  wi thin  

the group Mr Mlambo was saying we need to do this?  And 

surely i t  would have possible to do i t  where in the bigger  

picture any delay was not  going to  make another decade on 

top of  what was al ready there.   Any comment on that? 

MR BURGER:   Yes I  would to l ike put  the sl ip in perspect ive.   20 

A lot  has been said about PB or PBLA and PBL1 and they do 

not  know i f  in the next  three years PBL1 wi l l  be achieved.   

How that  works is  there is not  only one PBLA and one PBL1 

per var iant .   There is a bui ld-up of  PBL’s.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   No but  why are you raising that  in the 
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midst  of  my quest ion.  

MR BURGER:   Sorry hold I  wi l l  get  to that  point .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   P lease.  

MR BURGER:   Sorry I  wi l l  get  to that  point .   At  – in 2013 we 

al ready reached the sub,  sub system level  PBL where we 

could go out  wi th the manufacture of  the hul ls.   In 2016 

Armscor granted PBL1 on the combat system with certain  

condi t ions.   That  was in 2016 four years ago.    

So we were running at  a schedule wi th the 

expectat ion PBL has – wel l  in 2016 i t  was bui ld ing up to i t  10 

and i t  was achieved in 2016.  Subsequent ly to that  I  am told 

that  Armscor took the decision that  those condi t ions are not 

– were not  met  or  were not  favourable or I  do not  know what 

the reason is and there is no longer now a PBL1.   

Now this is ext raordinary disturbing and I  th ink 

anybody should be disturbing – disturbed by this.   I  a lso 

want to put  i t  that  the Malaysian order was running on – 

probably more complex than Hoefyster was running on 

schedule,  was running wi thin budget and were running wi thin  

the technical  performance.  So we were used to performing 20 

according to the program plan.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Right .  

MR BURGER:   And that  is why I  was gi t tery and get t ing 

f rust rated number 1.  

 Number 2 the hul ls were a separate l ine i tem on the 
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contract  which meant  that  we were sel l ing the hul ls.   Every 

hul l  that  was made we would sel l  -   Armscor would come and 

accept  i t .   Their  program management,  thei r  qual i ty as wel l  

as Denel  Land System’s qual i ty they would s ign i t  off  and 

Armscor would then buy the hul l .    

And we would get  the money for  the hul l .   So i t  was 

in my interest  at  the t ime these were one of  the very few 

separate l ine i tems.  Get the hul ls out  and get  them into 

product ion.   So Chair  i t  is not  correct  to say ag but  i t  is – the 

program is a decade late,  what does i t  matter i f  there is  10 

another three months taken?  I  just  wanted to clear that  wi th 

– percept ion.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Right  okay.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes but  I  am not  sure that  I  understand.   

Mr Kennedy’s point  is th is.  When you and other  people may 

have thought or may have taken the view that  Mr Mlambo’s 

issues were going to cause a delay or that  he was delaying 

the process.    

Mr Kennedy is saying but  the t ruth of  the matter is  

even i f  you had to redo the process but  do i t  proper ly.   I f  20 

what was requi red was to  just  send out  a request  for 

proposals or whatever in regard to two ent i t ies or three 

ent i t ies i t  was not  going to cause a delay – the kind of  delay 

that  you should real ly have been concerned about.   Because 

and I  am now adding what he did not  say.   I t  must  have been 
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possible to do that  wi thin I  would imagine even two weeks 

because these were ent i t ies which had al ready worked on 

this th ing.   They were not  going to start  af resh.   So how 

could a per iod l ike two weeks real ly  be something to  

complain about? 

MR BURGER:   Chair  no you are r ight  and this is –  th is is  

September i t  was f inal ly approved in November I  th ink i t  was 

there about so you are correct  Chai r.   The t ime was probably 

there to do that .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  10 

MR BURGER:   In hindsight .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

MR BURGER:   You are r ight .   The point  I  was t ry ing to make 

was i t  – I  could never as a CO of  a  div is ion acknowledge that  

schedule is not  important .   I t  a lways was and i t  a lways wi l l  

be but  in the greater scheme of  th ings and i t  was only signed 

in November i t  would not  have mattered.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

MR BURGER:   You are correct .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.   Mr Kennedy.  20 

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Thank you Chai r.   Just  to complete my 

quest ions on this  issue Mr Burger.   Of  course i t  is  always 

possible in the real  world out  there especial ly in South Af r ica 

these days that  part ies who are unhappy about the outcome 

of  a procurement process could take you on review in  a court  
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process,  not  so? 

MR BURGER:   That  is t rue.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Certainly counsel  such as mysel f  and 

my learned juniors in fact  have taken… 

CHAIRPERSON:   Are always ready.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   We always ready.   Our phones are on.   

I t  is a gross indust ry as i t  were.   Now – and of  course the 

courts are burdened with a huge load of  these things.   You 

are aware as a – at  the t ime a Chief  Execut ive Off icer that  

there are r isks.   I f  you do something unlawful  le t  a lone 10 

unconst i tut ional  you can be taken on review.  Now this could 

have happened here not  so? 

MR BURGER:   You are correct  Chair  I  concede to that .   But  

in my mind I  – at  that  t ime we sat  wi th a – the Group CEO 

that  needed to sign th is off .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Yes.  

MR BURGER:   He was the boss of  the organisat ion,  the 

person that  s igned the delegat ions of  author i ty and in my 

mind I  d id not  have any hesi tat ion that  to th ink that  i f  he 

signs i t  off  there is something funny.  20 

ADV KENNEDY SC:   A l r ight .  

MR BURGER:   So in my mind I  d id not  see i t  as being 

unlawful .   But  I  l istened to the commission and I  accept  that  

the rules have changed and… 

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Wel l  for some t ime yes long before 
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2014.  

MR BURGER:    Ja.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   This type of  l i t igat ion has been going 

for qui te a whi le.   But  let  us leave that  aside I  would l ike to  

explore br ief ly i f  I  may Chair  wi th the wi tness this issue 

about wel l  i f  the Group CEO signs i t  then you are sure that  

there cannot be anything wrong.    

What I  suggest  to you is that  that  is a very passive 

approach to your  dut ies at  that  stage as CEO.  You were 

CEO of  the divis ion.  In fact  you were very keen to have more 10 

powers and author i ty given to you at  div is ion level  in terms 

of  the decent ral isat ion that  you preferred,  not  so? 

MR BURGER:   Correct  Chai r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Now I  see you smi l ing are you seeing a 

bi t  of  a logical  inconsistency.   But  I  wi l l  g ive you an 

opportuni ty  to answer that .   May I  just  complete the 

quest ion.  

CHAIRPERSON:   I  th ink he wi l l  consider i t .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   I  th ink so too but  what I  want to put  to 

him i f  I  may Chair  I  am not  going to belabour the point  I  20 

hope.   What I  am suggest ing to you is  that  part  of  your  – and 

here I  am not  Mr Saloojee’s defence counsel  and I  know 

there have been some al legat ions even in your own aff idavi t  

about  Mr Saloojee been given special  t reatment and so on.    

I  am not  going to  go down that  route.   But  at  a level  
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of  not  just  law but  good management pract ice when you are 

the head of  a div is ional  uni t  in th is  case DLS and you have 

to take certain steps in your d iv is ion and then whether you 

l ike i t  or not  you have to send i t  up for approval  to the Group 

CEO for his approval  in th is case Mr Saloojee.    

Is i t  not  your duty to  be ensuring that  Mr Saloojee is  

protected and informed in a sense that  you should not  send 

anything to Mr Saloojee for approval  un less you have 

ensured that  there has been proper compl iance.  Rather than 

saying wel l  let  us see i f  Mr Saloojee approves i t?   10 

I f  he does – as you put  i t  ear l ier  – wel l  he has 

approved i t  so I  d id not  see anything wrong with i t .   Surely i t  

was incumbent on you to see whether there was anything 

wrong with i t  before you sent  i t .    

Because you were recommending i t  to Mr Saloojee 

for approval ,  not  so? 

MR BURGER:   Correct  Chair  and under a normal run of  

th ings you absolutely correct .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Yes.  

MR BURGER:   I t  is my responsibi l i ty.  20 

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Yes.  

MR BURGER:   But  the point  is th is issue was escalated.   

Everybody was aware of  the issues.   I t  was not  news to… 

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Aware of  the? 

MR BURGER:   The issues that… 
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ADV KENNEDY SC:   The issues.  

MR BURGER:   The issues that  was put  under.   I t  was not  

news to anybody and that  is why I  say regardless of  that  

both the COO, the CFO as wel l  as the Group CEO decided to 

accept  th is.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Yes.  

MR BURGER:   The – i t  was – something was not  being kept  

away f rom him.  He knew everything.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   R ight .   Now i f  we accept  your evidence 

ear l ier that  you were at  the t ime unaware that  there was any 10 

breach but  have since real ised that  there was a breach at  

least  in respect  o f  negot iat ing a lower pr ice wi th VR Laser.   

Would you accept  that  Mr Mlambo is ent i t led to say he raised 

al l  of  these issues as you say wi th h is bosses as wel l  as wi th  

you?   

They effect ively in his view ignored i t .   They did not 

come back to him.  They did not  say wel l  Mr Burger has said 

this and what  do you say about that?  There was none of  

that .   Instead he f inds out  later that  Mr Saloojee has signed 

despi te  the fact  that  Mr Mlambo had raised al l  of  these 20 

object ions.    

And so Mr Mlambo has suggested to th is commission 

is his evidence wel l  I  do not  understand this.   I t  actual ly  

seems to compound my fears and percept ions in i t ia l ly.   

There is something funny going on here.   Mr Burger is act ing 
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subject ively.    

Even when I  ra ise wi th him concerns about  

compl iance wi th the legal  requi rements of  the procurement 

process I  get  vague answers f rom Mr Burger.  That  is  what he 

is effect ively saying in his emai l .   Whether he is r ight  or 

wrong leave aside for a moment and he says and then i t  is 

escalated to head off ice.   

 There is a discussion not  involving me Mr Mlambo 

but  Mr Burger then has a fast  t rack to have a meet ing wi th  

Mlambo’s superiors.   He is not  invi ted.   Mr Saloojee then just  10 

accepts i t  and what has happened to my object ions?  My 

being Mr Mlambo’s object ions.   There seems to be something 

funny about th is.  You understand? 

MR BURGER:   I  understand.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   His percept ion.  

MR BURGER:   Understood but  he has also in  h is evidence 

said that  he only found out  I  th ink f ive months af ter the 

event .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Yes.  

MR BURGER:   That  th is was done.  An emai l  was wri t ten,  20 

sent  to him, the emai l  is at  the invest igators that  informed 

him of  the meet ing a day af ter i t  was signed.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   And i ts outcome.  

MR BURGER:   Yes.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Right .  
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MR BURGER:   A day af ter i t  was signed.   So there was no – 

we were not  t ry ing to hide anyth ing f rom him.  He was 

informed so … 

ADV KENNEDY SC:   But  are you suggest ing that  he is  

concoct ing ev idence and del iberately te l l ing an unt ruth to the 

commission when he said he only found that  out  later – much 

later? 

MR BURGER:   I  cannot say that  Chai r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Okay.  

MR BURGER:   I  am – he might  have forgot ten.  10 

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Okay.  

MR BURGER:   But… 

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Wel l  that  is a generous at t i tude on your 

part  Mr Burger.    

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay.   Shal l  we take a short  break we are 

at  twenty nine minutes past  four.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Yes thank you Char.  

CHAIRPERSON:   And subject  to everybody being happy Mr 

Burger and your counsel .   We – I  propose that  we cont inue 

unt i l  maybe about  hal f  past  f ive.  20 

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Thank you Chai r.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Or there about before we then adjourn.   I f  

at  that  stage the feel ing is that  just ice has not  been done to 

the issues that  Mr Burger must  cover then another  

opportuni ty wi l l  be arranged for Mr Burger to come back.  
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ADV KENNEDY SC:   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Is that  f ine wi th you Mr Burger? 

MR BURGER:   Hundred percent  Chai r.  

CHAIRPERSON:   And your counsel  is that  f ine wi th – is that  

f ine?  Yes okay.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Thank you Chai r.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Let  us take a short  adjournment now and 

we wi l l  resume in probably say ten to  – so a ten minutes 

break.   Not  ten to twenty to.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Twenty to.  10 

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja twenty to.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Yes thank you Chai r.  

CHAIRPERSON:   We adjourn.  

REGISTRAR:   A l l  r ise.  

INQUIRY ADJOURNS 

INQUIRY RESUMES :     

CHAIRPERSON :    Let  us cont inue.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Thank you,  Chai r.   May I  proceed? 

CHAIRPERSON :    H’m.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Sorry,  I  d id not  qui te hear you.  20 

CHAIRPERSON :    Oh,  let  us just  cont inue.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Yes,  thank you Chai r.    

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Mr Burger,  we have deal t  extensively 

now with the Plat form Hul ls Contract  and I  th ink we have 
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debated i t  as far  as we f rom the legal  team’s perspect ive.   

Need to say for one point ,  i f  I  may just  ask?  The pr ice 

reduct ion by VR Laser that  you are able to get  to  know in a 

phone cal l  wi th a bi t  of  angry tone,  resul ted in a reduct ion 

f rom R 266 mi l l ion.   That  is the actual  total  value of  the bid 

that  was put  in by VR Laser to R 195 mi l l ion.   Correct? 

MR BURGER :    Correct ,  Chai r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    And you have already commented 

about why you fel t  they should not  have tendered so much in  

the f i rst  p lace.   I t  does seem cur ious that  they were 10 

persuaded so easi ly,  as I  have put  to you ear l ier.    

 The quest ion that  one of  my learned col leagues has just  

asked me to put  to you and I  do so because I  th ink i t  is a  

val id quest ion.   You may have a val id answer to  i t .   We 

would l ike to give you the opportuni ty.    

 Is the reason why they were not  – why they were 

prepared to come down so suddenly and so easi ly and so 

substant ia l ly in pr ice,  that  they were told that  they could 

make this up in a Single Source Suppl ier Contract? 

MR BURGER :    I  re ject  that  Chai r.   At  that  t ime, there was no 20 

inkl ing about a Single Source Suppl ier Cont ract .  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Okay.   Wel l ,  then let  us move to that  

very contract  that  took place the very next  year.   Is that  

r ight? 

MR BURGER :    Correct ,  Chai r.  
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ADV KENNEDY SC :    What I  would l ike to f ind out  f rom you 

is how i t  came about that  th is cont ract  was in fact  negot iated 

and then granted?  Who came up wi th the idea? 

MR BURGER :    The then Group CEO, Mr Saloojee.   He 

cal led me to his  off ice one day and informed me that  we 

should supply him with an MOU.  I  am not  sure i f  the word 

MOU was used.   That  looks at  s ingle sourcing wherein the 

r ights of  Denel  is protected.    

 I  then went to the divis ion.   I  had a discussion wi th Mr 

Reenen Teubes.   I  asked whether he thought th is was a good 10 

idea.   The – his in i t ia l  response was:   Yes,  mine also,  by the 

way.    

 We, however,  decided let  us wi thin  the divis ion check i f  

the engineers also think i t  is a good idea.   There was a study 

done by the engineers.    

 And i t  was also discussed at  an – on an execut ive level .   

I t  was minute.   I t  is very clear that  in the minutes and I  have 

not  got  i t  in f ront  of  me but  that  an MOU must be produced 

with certain condi t ions on i t  for s ignature by the Group CEO.  

And so we did that .    20 

 The f i rst  MOU that  came out  were f rom the t ime with my 

name at  the bot tom.   I  asked that  i t  be changed to Mr 

Saloojee’s name.   I  had a discussion wi th Mr Saloojee and 

he sa id:   No,  no,  no.   He wi l l  s ign the approval  page.   And I  

must  s ign the document.    
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 He – in the next  u t terance he sa id:   I  know I  must  add Mr 

Zwelakhe Ntshepe on the document and then the next  

ut terance he said:   No,  I  must  also add Mr Jan Wessels on 

the mot ivat ion.   And the document was presented.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    The quest ion was,  who in i t iated that?  

I t  was not  your own suggest ion,  i t  was Mr Saloojee’s.  

MR BURGER :    Correct ,  Chai r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Yes.  

MR BURGER :    Sorry,  i t  is a long-winded answer but  correct .  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    I  am sorry.   I  am not  t ry ing to be 10 

sarcast ic  but . . .   Ja.   I t  is not  cur ious though that  th is sort  of  

suggest ion should have come from head off ice?   

 Af ter al l ,  you had been for  some t ime being the CEO of  

DLS and Mr Saloojee,  presumable,  would rely,  a l though i t  

was to an extent  a cent ral ised model .    

 There was a measure of  decentral isat ion in that ,  not  

every decision wi thin DLS was taken at  head-off ice level .   

Correct? 

MR BURGER :    Correct ,  Chai r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Yes.   Did you f ind anything cur ious 20 

about the fact  that  i t  came from Mr Saloojee rather f rom 

within your own divis ion? 

MR BURGER :    Chai r,  I  wr i te qui te a lot  about  my 

re lat ionship wi th Mr Saloojee.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Yes.  
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MR BURGER :    In  my aff idavi t .  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    You d id,  yes.  

MR BURGER :    Mr Saloojee made i t  very clear that  so-cal led 

pol i t ical ly decis ions and certain market ing decisions is – he 

is bet ter sui ted to take those decis ions.    

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Market ing or market  decis ions? 

MR BURGER :    Market ing.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Market ing? 

MR BURGER :    Market ing.    

ADV KENNEDY SC :    This was not  a market ing decision,  10 

correct? 

MR BURGER :    No,  no.   Correct .   But  also certain  pol i t ica l  

decisions.   He has,  in the past ,  g iven me many inst ruct ions 

to say certain  suppl iers are pol i t ical ly wel l -p laced and we 

must please support  them. 

ADV KENNEDY SC :    And did you do that? 

MR BURGER :    One of  the suppl iers he ment ioned was VR 

Laser dur ing the – before the 2014 approval .  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Even before the 2014 approval  for the 

whole cont ract .  20 

MR BURGER :    For the whole. . .  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    D id that  have any bearing on your  

enthusiasm for VR Laser for that  contract? 

MR BURGER :    My answer to him at  the t ime was,  VR Laser 

is one our biggest  suppl iers.   You should not  worry.   I t  is 
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common knowledge that  they wi l l  get  work.   So relax.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    So you were happy to give him comfort  

in expect ing that  you would ensure that  VR Laser would get  

a fa i r,  lot  of  work? 

MR BURGER :    I  was convinced through normal processes,  

they would get  a fai r  amount of  work.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Yes.   Now how did you f ind that  

request  or inst ruct ion f rom Mr Saloojee even before the 2014 

contract  was awarded?  Did you feel  that  i t  was a proper 

one? 10 

MR BURGER :    Chai r,  our relat ionship was – al though I  had 

a lot  of  respect  for him.  He was a very dynamic Group CEO.  

Our relat ionship was st rained.   And I  th ink he had to break 

the decentral ised model  and invert ing the decentral ised 

model,  he probably needed to cut  me down to size a l i t t le b i t .    

 But  our relat ionship was a tense one.   And given his – 

numerous occasions where he said:   You keep your  nose out  

of  pol i t ical  matters.   That  is my domain.   Certain th ings are 

more important  that  you wi l l  not  understand.   I  d id not  l ike i t  

but  I  accepted i t  as the normal run of  the business.  20 

ADV KENNEDY SC :    I  assume that  you would agree that  

pol i t ical  matters may have a range of  di fferent  meaning and 

interpretat ions.   Correct? 

MR BURGER :    Correct ,  Chai r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    And one narrow one would be,  that  to 
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the extent  that  there is  – that  th is  is a state-owned ent i ty 

where the cabinet  member responsible for Publ ic Enterpr ises 

is the shareholder  in Denel  on behal f  of  the state.   And there 

has to  be accountabi l i ty by the board and the Group CEO to 

the minister that  that  would involve legi t imate pol i t ical  

interact ion.   Correct? 

MR BURGER :    Correct ,  Chai r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    And in that  sense,  i f  Mr Saloojee was 

saying to you:   Leave the pol i t ics to  me.  (Mr Saloojee)   That  

there would be nothing wrong with that .   Correct? 10 

MR BURGER :    Absolutely not .  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Yes.   In fact ,  i t  would make sense not  

to have a div is ional  head l ike you deal ing wi th  the minister,  

unless there was some reason to report  to the minis ter that  

there is something ser iously wrong going on.  

MR BURGER :    Correct .  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    That  you could not  resolve internal ly.    

MR BURGER :    Correct .  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Right .   But  i t  sounds to me as i f  he 

was saying something a bi t  more than that .   Not  so? 20 

MR BURGER :    He was  suggest ing that  certain div is ions who 

are certain suppl iers were pol i t ical ly wel l -posi t ioned.    

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Wel l -posi t ioned to what?  Get 

favourable t reatment,  to get  preference in the al locat ion of  

awards or cont racts for business? 
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MR BURGER :    H is opinion was,  i t  would be good for  Denel  

to p lace contract  on there.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Because they were pol i t ical ly  

connected.  

MR BURGER :    Correct .  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Not  because they were necessar i ly the 

best  suppl ier to do a good job,  not  so? 

MR BURGER :    Yes.   Hopeful ly,  both wi l l  be t rue.   But  yes.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    But  i t  certainly was not  just  the one.   

As I  understand your evidence,  your perspect ive and your 10 

content ion before the Learned Chai r  is,  you looked at  i t  f rom 

a point  object ive ly,  a l though Mr Mlambo quest ioned that .   

You have assured the Chai r,  you were looking at  what  was in  

the best  interest  o f  Denel ,  regardless of  pol i t ical  connect ion.  

MR BURGER :    Correct ,  Chai r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Is that  your case? 

MR BURGER :    Correct ,  Chai r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Right .   Now, obviously,  i f  i t  was simply 

a quest ion of  saying:   Wel l ,  we want you to do a good job 

Mr Burger.   Make sure that  you get  the best  product  f rom a 20 

qual i ty point  of  v iew and the best  pr ice and so forth.   That  

would have been a leg i t imate expectat ion.   Correct? 

MR BURGER :    Correct ,  Chai r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    But  you knew that  al ready,  that  you 

knew is as your funct ion.  
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MR BURGER :    Obviously,  correct  Chai r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    But  again,  obviously,  he was 

suggest ing something di fferent .   He was suggest ing that  in  

award of  contracts,  that  VR Laser because they were 

pol i t ical ly connected,  should be given a preference.    

MR BURGER :    Correct ,  Chai r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    An undue advantage because they 

were pol i t ical ly  connected,  not  because they were 

necessari ly the best  company.   Is that  how you understood 

him? 10 

MR BURGER :    Correct ,  Chai r.   I ,  however,  would not  have 

supported someth ing that  did not  correlate wi th my bel ieve in 

i t  being the best  or and not  in the best  interest  of  the 

business and the operat ions.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    But  i t  is interest ing your react ion to 

Mr Saloojee.   I t  is  not  to say:   I  would never do anyth ing that  

was not  in the best  interest ,  boss.   I t  is to say:   Do not  

worry,  boss.    

 And I  am paraphrasing you and i f  I  am over-simpl i fy ing 

i t ,  p lease.   You wi l l  get  an opportuni ty to correct  me.   You 20 

seem to be saying:   Do not  worry boss.   They have been 

get t ing a lot  of  work already.   You do not  have to worry.   

They are st i l l  going to get  lots of  work.  

MR BURGER :    Sorry.   I f  you read my aff idavi t ,  I  sa id I  

bel ieve that  VR Laser is in the best  business in thei r  n iche 
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area.   From that  perspect ive,  I  ant ic ipated they wi l l  be 

get t ing work and therefore,  for that  reason,  your concern is 

covered.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    But  Mr Saloojee’s concern,  i t  seems 

was not  s imply that  they should get  a lot  of  work because 

they are good.  We have debated th is al ready.    

MR BURGER :    Correct .  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    So what you seem to be saying is,  

when he was suggest ing something improper to you,  you 

came back and you said:   Wel l ,  do not  worry.   They are going 10 

to get  i t  anyway.   For a good reason,  not  for the reason that  

you are te l l ing me, boss.    

MR BURGER :    Yes.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Not  so? 

MR BURGER :    I f  that  was the f i rst  incident ,  then i t  would 

have probably l ia ised(?) more longer.   But  s imi lar  

instruct ions were given wi th regards to N4 in the past .   I t  

was . . . [ intervenes]   

ADV KENNEDY SC :    N4? 

MR BURGER :    N4,  which also manufactured casters for us.    20 

ADV KENNEDY SC :    That  same remark made that  they 

should be looked af ter because they are pol i t ical ly 

connected.  

MR BURGER :    Correct .  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    And when was that  said to you by 
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Mr Saloojee? 

MR BURGER :    Probably – i t  was before that .   Probably 

2013.  I  would imagine.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Right .   And d id you react  to that?  Did 

you respond to him when he told you that? 

MR BURGER :    I  d id not  off ic ia l ly respond.  I  . . . [ intervenes]   

ADV KENNEDY SC :    And unoff ic ia l ly? 

MR BURGER :    N4 did get  work.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    I  am sorry?  They got  work? 

MR BURGER :    They got  work but  . . . [ intervenes]   10 

ADV KENNEDY SC :    But  I  am asking you about your 

response to Mr Saloojee,  not  whether or not  they got  work.  

MR BURGER :    I  hear you.   My response . . . [ intervenes]   

ADV KENNEDY SC :    You say you did respond,  in i t ia l ly 

responded.  Did you? 

MR BURGER :    Ja,  what I  said was:   I  hear you,  s i r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    I  hear you.   You did not  say to him:  I  

am sorry Mr Saloojee.   I  do not  mean to disrespect  you but  I  

have a real  problem with that  request  or inst ruct ion.    

 I  am afraid I  am going to  decide things to the extent  I  20 

have author i ty on purely proper grounds.   Not  because of  

pol i t ical ly connect ions.    

 Now that  might  ref lect  a naivety on my part  in that  you 

were obviously some ranks below Mr Saloojee.   But  would 

that  not  have been the appropriate response? 
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MR BURGER :    I  can answer i t  in  th is way Chai r.   I  s t i l l  today 

as I  s i t  here,  I  have got  no regrets that  I  supported the whole 

manufacture at  VR Laser.   However,  the fact  that  I  just  

accepted Mr Saloojee’s instruct ion,  I  do regret .   I  th ink the 

responsible th ing would have been that  something does not  

sound r ight  here.    

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Yes.   And you could have done that  

diplomat ical ly? 

MR BURGER :    Ja,  I  could have.    

ADV KENNEDY SC :    And hopeful ly have kept  your  job.   I  10 

mean, presumable i f  you had said something l ike I  have 

suggested to Mr Saloojee.   I  am afraid that  i f  you are going 

to ask me to favour anybody,  however good or bad they 

might  be,  for a reason not  that  they are good but  because 

they are pol i t ical ly connected.   I  am af raid I  cannot do that .    

 I f  he had then charged you wi th insubordinat ion or a 

fai lure to  comply wi th an inst ruct ion,  surely  you would have 

been able to  say:   Wel l ,  that  was not  a reasonable or lawful  

instruct ion.    

MR BURGER :    Correct ,  Chai r.  20 

ADV KENNEDY SC :    And the law, no doubt,  would have 

supported you on that .  

MR BURGER :    Correct ,  Chai r.   My di lemma that  I  sat  wi th at  

the t ime was.   The thing he gave me the instruct ion on was 

something I  wanted and that  is the di lemma and 
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. . . [ intervenes]   

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Yes.  

MR BURGER :    And I . . .   You are correct .   I  am not  arguing i t .   

And in  hindsight ,  i t  would have been so much easier but  

. . . [ intervenes]   

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Wel l ,  i t  might  not  have been easier but  

i t  might  have been easier in the sense that  you would not  

have to be facing these quest ions under the glare of  

te levision l ights and in a judicial  commission chai red by the 

Deputy Chief  Just ice.    10 

 So in that  sense,  I  accept  that .   But . . .   Yes.   And of  

course,  Mr Saloojee must  give his vers ion as to whether or  

not  th is was said in the context .    

 Can I  just  go back to the other reference that  you gave,  

the other example that  you gave?  I t  was N4.  

MR BURGER :    Correct .  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    He had asked you to favour for 

pol i t ical  favouri t ism reasons.  

MR BURGER :    H’m.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    In that  case,  were you also keen to 20 

support  N4 in business because of  them being superior l ike 

you regarded VR Laser as being superior? 

MR BURGER :    Yes.   We manufactured Caspir ’s a t  many 

suppl iers and they were one of  our  suppl iers.   So i t  was not ,  

in my mind,  a b ig deal  and i t  was not  such a substant ia l  
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contract  in any case.   So that  was not . .   In  the years that  

would have fol lowed, they would have received work in any 

case.   So.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Yes.   Can I  ask you this?  Apart  f rom 

how you could perhaps any idea and with the benef i t  of  

h indsight  have responded to Mr Saloojee.   Again,  wi th the 

benef i t  of  h indsight  did you – should you not  have 

considered perhaps report ing Mr Saloojee?   

 You know, that  al though i t  may be bet ter on paper that  in  

pract ise,  the law provides considerable protect ion for 10 

whist le-blowers.    

 And would i t  not  have been possible for you to have 

reported,  for example,  to the Minister of  Publ ic Enterpr ises 

or the Publ ic Protector or par l iament or somebody l ike that  

or  the chai rperson of  the board,  whether or  not  he may have 

been amenable to  such a report ,  may be debatable.   But  did 

you not  consider that  possibi l i ty? 

MR BURGER :    I t  would have been the r ight  th ing to do 

Chai r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Yes.  20 

MR BURGER :    But  the di lemma I  was fac ing was,  our  

Supply Chain processes were horrendously slow.  I f  I  took – 

i f  I  took the numbers of  orders that  needed to be p laced and 

I  d iv ided i t  wi th  the days avai lable,  i t  would have taken 

forever under normal processes.   So,  f i rst ly.    
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 Secondly,  I  a l ready expressed my opin ion about VR 

Laser and thei r  capabi l i t ies and in my mind – and in  the 

past ,  we used to have a lot  of  s ingle source suppl iers.    

 So his proposal ,  even though he said i t  is – they are 

important  suppl ier,  they are a connected suppl ier.   P lease,  

form a single source agreement.   That  coincided wi th my 

ambit ion to st reaml ine processes.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Yes.  

MR BURGER :    So that  was the di lemma.  And I  had reported 

him, I  would have gone against  something that  I  thought  was 10 

good for the business and would st reaml ined the business 

and.   So.   But  in h indsight ,  I  should have done that .  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Yes.  

MR BURGER :    I  should have done that .    

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Yes.   Your last  argument about how i t  

sui ted your business object ive as you would put  i t ,  for good 

business reason.   I t  does suggest,  perhaps,  that  you are 

arguing that  the end just i f ies needs.    

MR BURGER :    Chai r,  I  am not  saying that  Chai r.   I  am not  

saying that .    20 

ADV KENNEDY SC :    But  cannot one read into that  – exact ly 

that? 

MR BURGER :    Ja.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    I f  you are not  saying that ,  what  else is  

i t?  
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MR BURGER :    Ja.   No,  I  was naïve.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    I  am sorry? 

MR BURGER :    I  was naïve Chai r.  

CHAIRPERSON :    And i t  was the end that  you wanted to.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Yes.  

MR BURGER :    Yes,  I  was naïve.   And I  – i t  was object ive.   

Just  to put  th is  into perspect ive.   I f  th is th ing came from 

Denel  Land Systems, i t  would have been a total ly di fferent  

approach.   We would have wri t ten a posi t ion paper,  g iv ing 

the pros and cons,  giv ing al l  the arguments.  10 

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Yes.  

MR BURGER :    We would have presented i t  at  the Exco of  

the DCO or the CEO and he would have sa id:   Right ,  th is  

sounds good.  Invest igate.   Cont inue.   And give me 

feedback.   That  is  how that  would have – i f  i t  was in i t iated by 

Denel  Land Systems.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Yes.  

MR BURGER :    I t  was not  – i t  d id not  happen l ike that .   But  I  

thought i t  was a good idea.   And that  I  cannot. . .  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Okay.   On the last  point .   Can we 20 

. . . [ intervenes]   

MR BURGER :    Sorry.    

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Yes? 

MR BURGER :    And this is for me a very important  point  to  

make.  Sorry,  Chair.   My apologies for interrupt ing.   
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ADV KENNEDY SC :    [No audible reply]   

MR BURGER :    I f  the insinuat ion is .   I  knew, as an example,  

State Capture or corrupt ion was a play and therefore let  us 

support  something that  wi l l  promote State Capture or 

corrupt ion.    

 Then I  would have,  regardless of  what the si tuat ion for  

DLS would have been, I  would have said no we cannot do 

that .   I  mean, that  is. . .    

 But  in my mind at  that  t ime was,  the – this is a  

connected suppl ier and i t  is important .   They are a 10 

t ransformed suppl ier.   I t  is important  to support  them.  And 

the way you should do that  is  get  a single source agreement  

in place.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    But  Mr Saloojee was not  making h is 

requests or giv ing you his instruct ion to favour VR Laser 

simply because they happened to be black-owned and to 

advance BBBEE.  As I  understand i t ,  the whole point  that  he 

was t ry ing to st ress,  is not  that  they are black-owned but  

that  they are connected pol i t ical ly and they must  therefore 

be favoured.    20 

MR BURGER :    Ja,  wel l  po l i t ical ly and an important  suppl ier.    

ADV KENNEDY SC :    But  pol i t ical ly important  must  mean,  

they are connected to pol i t ic ians.   They want us as a state 

ent i ty to  do what they expect ,  which is to give thei r  buddies 

contracts which they might  not  get  i f  you fol low the normal  
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processes.   Correct? 

MR BURGER :    Correct ,  Chai r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Right .   So I  just  want to test .   I  mean, I  

do not  want to go into A def in i t ion or a debate about the 

semant ics,  about  what state captured and so forth means.   

But  you have said you would have reacted - you would have 

res isted an instruct ion i f  you had known i f  th is had actual ly 

had elements of  s tate capture and corrupt ion.   Correct?  

MR BURGER :    Yes.   I f . . .   Yes.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Yes.  10 

MR BURGER :    Yes,  Chai r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    But  of  course the term state capture 

had not  been conceived at  that  stage.   I t  came about much 

later.   And of  course,  the corrupt ion speci f ic to the Guptas’ 

a lso only became reveal  to only much later.   

MR BURGER :    Correct ,  Chai r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    At  least  in the publ ic domain.  

MR BURGER :    Correct ,  Chai r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    d id you have any idea at  that  stage 

who now owned VR Laser?  Presumably you did because you 20 

are get t ing a lot  o f  business f rom them al ready.   

MR BURGER :    Yes.   By 2015, I  th ink i t  was al ready in the 

publ ic domain.   

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Right .  

MR BURGER :    The ful l  extent  that  came down to me in 2016 
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when I  received the emai l  f rom Cel ia Malahlela.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Right .  

MR BURGER :    That  is when everything sort  of  dawned.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Yes.   Now I  do not  th ink we can 

reasonably expect  you to have had advanced knowledge of  

al l  the facts that  have come out  overt ime.   

 And in fact ,  th is Commission I  served the purpose 

amongst  others of  actual ly reveal ing a great  deal  of  facts 

that  the publ ic may not  have had before and the media may 

not  have had before.    10 

 So there are no doubts of  the reasons that  you president  

decided to appoint  the Commission in the f i rst  p lace.   But  at  

the t ime that  you were deal ing wi th the single supply 

contract  in 2015,  you knew already that  day was concern on 

the part  Mr Mlambo about Denel  being sat isf ied as to -  we 

have -  at  least  having knowledge as to who the t ruth ul t imate 

shareholders and benef ic iar ies of  VR Laser were.   that  had 

al ready ar isen in the Hoefyster Cont ract ,  not  so? 

MR BURGER :    During the Hoefyster Contract ,  I  d id not  

part icular ly pay at tent ion to that .  20 

ADV KENNEDY SC :    But  no,  my quest ion was not  whether  

you paid at tent ion.  

MR BURGER :    Correct ,  ja.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    He had ra ised i t .   we saw that  in 

paragraph f ive of  the one emai l  we saw earl ier,  not  so?  
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Where he says:   a l l  that  they have said when you guys at  

div is ional  level  had requested disclosure of  who the 

shareholders are.   a l l  they give is the shareholders and VR 

Laser auto companies and I  do not  know who is  behind those 

companies.   So a l ready . . . [ intervenes]   

MR BURGER :    [ Indist inct ]   

[Part ies intervening each other – unclear]  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    So already then,  whether he knew or  

not  that  the Gupta connect ion exis ted,   he was concerned 

about that  as he was ent i t led to be.   Not  so? 10 

MR BURGER :    True.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Right .   Now.  so when the Single 

Source Suppl ier Contract  came up,  you must  have been 

away then.   You have said,  you th ink that  al ready i t  Was in 

the publ ic domain as to who VR Laser – who owned VR 

Laser,  u l t imate ly.  

MR BURGER :    Yes,  Chai r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Being the Guptas’ .  

MR BURGER :    Being Sal im Essa.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Being Sal im Essa who was connected 20 

to the Guptas’ ,  correct? 

MR BURGER :    Ja.   In 2015,  I  d id not  real ise the strong 

associat ion yet .    

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Okay.   Were you aware then or can 

you not  remember that  Mr Sinhala was a di rector of  VR Laser  
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at  the t ime and that  he was the son of  one of  the three Gupta 

brothers?  

MR BURGER :    I f  not  then,  i t  must  have – I  th ink i t  was 

short ly thereaf ter.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Yes.  

MR BURGER :    That  I  started becoming aware of  i t .   I  th ink I  

started becoming aware of  Mr Sinhala around middle of  

2015.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Right .   So let  us accept  you ear l ier  

indicat ion that  i f  you had known that  Mr Saloojee gave this 10 

instruct ion to prepare a mot ivat ion to enter into a Single 

Source Suppl ier Contract  wi th VR Laser.   You,  at  least ,  knew 

that  there was a part icular shareholding in VR Laser.   

Correct? 

MR BURGER :    Correct ,  Chai r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    And you also knew that  why 

Mr Saloojee was raising this was precisely  because he 

expected you to be giving business to VR Laser because 

they were pol i t ical ly connected.   Correct? 

MR BURGER :    Correct ,  Chai r.  20 

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Yes.   Did you ask him, did he tel l  you 

or did you just  guess for yoursel f  who – how the pol i t ical  

connect ion came about?  How VR Laser was pol i t ical ly  

connected and wi th whom?  Could you guess or  did  he tel l  

you? 
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MR BURGER :    No,  no,  no.   He did not  inform me 

whatsoever.    

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Yes.  

MR BURGER :    At  the t ime, i t  was not  – dur ing that  

discussion,  I  – I  am not  sure.   I  cannot remember exact ly i f  I  

have met a person l ike Sal im Essa.   I  th ink I  d id at  the t ime 

but  –  so  I  knew about  h im,  I  th ink  I  s ta r ted  to  know a  l i t t le  

b i t  la te r  about  Mr  S ingha la  bu t  what  was go ing  th rough my 

mind a t  the  t ime was –  and tha t  i s  why I  a lso  to ld  the  s to ry  

about  what  happened in  Ind ia  i s  t ha t  I  do  no t  know o f  any 10 

wrongdo ing  tha t  these guys had done someth ing  funny so  i f  

a  company –  sor ry  and I  a lso  d id  no t  cons ider  a t  the  t ime 

too  much focus on  who is  the  owner  o f  a  company apar t  

f rom proper  BBBEE and so  on .    What  was fo r  me o f  

impor tance is  how good a  company is  and how good they 

can per fo rm.   I  was ve ry  sens i t i ve  o f  judg ing  peop le  based 

on newspaper  a r t i c les .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    R igh t .  

MR BURGER:    And tha t  came f rom the  who le  Ind ia  

debac le  and so  my op in ion  was,  i f  somebody d id  someth ing  20 

wrong,  you know,  send h im to  ja i l .   I f  a  company gets  

b lack l i s ted  because o f  wrongdo ing ,  c lose  the  company but  

do  no t  react  on  someth ing  tha t  i s  wr i t ten  in  the  paper  about  

…[ in tervenes]  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    I  unders tand  tha t ,  Mr  Burger.   What  I  
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am in te res ted ,  though,  i s  more  than tha t .   I  can  unders tand  

you do not  want  to  take  dec is ions  based on rumours  and 

specu la t ion  and goss ip  and so  fo r th  and the  med ia .  

MR BURGER:    Cor rec t .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    We know wi th  g reat  respect  to  the 

med ia  representa t i ves  who a re  here ,  who are  no  doubt  

do ing  the i r  job  in  good fa i th  as  we l l ,  we know tha t  o f ten  the  

med ia  i s  e i ther  wrong or  may car ry  someth ing  because 

peop le  are  feed ing  them s to r ies  tha t  may spread fa lse  

in fo rmat ion  ou t  there .   I  fu l l y  unders tand tha t  bu t  I  wou ld  10 

l i ke  us  to  focus  ra ther  on  what  you d id  know f rom Mr  

Sa loo jee .   So whether  o r  no t  you knew exact ly  who was a  

d i rec tor  o r  the  owner,  u l t imate  owner  o f  VR Laser  a t  the  

t ime and whether  they may o r  may not  have been 

connected par t i cu la r ly  to  somebody in  h igh  pos i t ion  in  the  

count ry.   What  I  am jus t  in te res ted  in  i s  what  Mr  Sa loo jee  

to ld  you and I  am par t i cu la r ly  ra i s ing  th is  quest ion  because 

the  Cha i r  -  obv ious l y  he  w i l l  de termine in  due course  what  

i s  u l t imate ly  re levant  and how to  dea l  w i th  i t  in  h is  repor t .   

But  i t  does seem an issue tha t  i s  wor thy  o f  cons idera t ion ,  20 

is  what  the  ro le  i s  o f  o f f i c ia ls  a t  sen io r  leve l  w i th in  in  s ta te 

en t i t ies  and I  apprec ia te  tha t  Mr  Sa loo jee  was fa r  more  

sen ior  to  you in  the  h ie rarchy o f  the  Dene l  Group,  no t  so?  

MR BURGER:    Cor rec t ,  Cha i r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    And obv ious l y  he  has to  answer  and  
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he  has answer  to  an  ex ten t  and he w i l l  s t i l l  answer  when  

he is  ca l led  aga in  bu t  I  am jus t  in te res ted  in  your  –  how 

you dea l t  w i th  i t  and you are  no t  on  t r ia l  here  bu t  the  

Commiss ion  is  en t i t led  to  hear  your  ev idence as  to  how 

these th ings happened and why they happened.    

Now you have acknowledged very  fa i r l y  ear l y  tha t  

there  a re  some th ings w i th  h inds igh t  tha t  you  rea l i se  

shou ld  no t  have been done.   You  have a l so  sa id  t ha t  you 

were  na ïve  in  ce r ta in  respects .   Do you accept ,  though,  

tha t  i t  wou ld  no t  have jus t  been a  good th ing  to  have a t  10 

least  sa id  to  Mr  Sa loo jee  I  am so r ry  bu t  I  am not  p repared  

to  accept  an  ins t ruc t ion  l i ke  tha t .   Ins tead you jus t  sa id ,  do  

no t  wor ry,  they a re  go ing  to  ge t  bus iness wh ich  seemed to 

g ive  h im assurance,  i t  seemed to  show h im you are  go ing  

to  comply  w i th  the  request  to  favour  in  a  procurement  

se t t ing  VR Laser  fo r  a  spec i f i c  con t rac t  because they were  

po l i t i ca l l y  connected not  because they were  the  best  

supp l ie r.   Now d id  you not  have a  du ty  as  a  respons ib le  

s ta te  en t i t y  o f f i c i a l  to  be  tak ing  a  s tance l i ke  tha t?  

MR BURGER:    In  h inds igh t  I  shou ld  have,  Cha i r.  20 

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Okay.   What  I  wou ld  l i ke  now to  dea l  

w i th  i s  the  p rocess tha t  was fo l lowed fo r  th is  par t i cu la r  

cont rac t  and he re  aga in  we are  dea l ing  w i th  a  s ing le  

supp l ie r  cont rac t .   Jus t  to  make su re  tha t  I  have covered i t  

p roper ly,  Mr  Sa loo jee  had not  sa id  –  had not  g iven you a  
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s im i la r  request  be fore  the  Hoefys ter  cont rac t  was awarded,  

tha t  was in  fac t ,  as  I  unders tand your  ev idence,  someth ing  

tha t  d id  come f rom the  d iv i s ion  DLS i t se l f ,  cor rec t?   The 

idea to  award  the  Hoefys ter  p la t fo rm hu l l s  cont rac t  to  VR 

Laser.  

MR BURGER:    Cor rec t ,  Cha i r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    That  came f rom your  own  in te rna l  

p rocess.  

MR BURGER:    Cor rec t ,  Cha i r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    I t  was u l t imate ly  approved  by  the  10 

GCEO but  he  d id  no t  s ta r t  the  who le  th ing .  

MR BURGER:    O ther  than say ing  be fore  the  t ime tha t  VR 

Laser  i s  an  impor tan t  supp l ie r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Yes.  

MR BURGER:    The in i t ia t ion  came in  to ta l i t y  f rom the  

d iv is ion .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    So he pr io r  to  h is  ra is ing  h is  

requ i rement  tha t  you in i t ia te  o r  tha t  you process a  cont rac t  

award ing  the  s ing le  supp l ie r  s ta tus  f rom DLS to  VR Laser,  

he  had another  ear l ie r  d i scuss ion  w i th  you spec i f i ca l l y  20 

about  VR Laser,  i s  tha t  r igh t?  

MR BURGER:    In  February,  a round about  in  February  2014 

he had a  d iscuss ion  w i th  me in  wh ich  he  sa id  VR Laser  i s  a  

very  impor tan t  supp l ie r  and in  tha t  d iscuss ion  I  to ld  h im we 

are  busy w i th  the  processes,  they are  a  ve ry  good supp l ie r  
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in  a  n iche marke t ,  they  in  a l l  p robab i l i t y  w i l l  ge t  work ,  do  

no t  wor ry.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    And so  tha t  was a t  the  s tage tha t  the 

p la t fo rm hu l l s  cont rac t  was be ing  prepared?  

MR BURGER:    That  was before  the  p la t fo rm hu l l s  –  i t  was 

busy be ing  prepared a t  d iv i s iona l  leve l ,  yes .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    R igh t .   D id  he  ra ise  th is  in  2014 w i th  

spec i f i c  re fe rence to  the  p la t fo rm hu l l s  cont rac t  o r  in  

genera l?  

MR BURGER:    No.   No,  Cha i r,  tha t  was not  p roduct -10 

spec i f i c ,  i t  was a  genera l  comment .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Bu t  in  2015 he made the  same 

request  bu t  spec i f i c  to  the  cont rac t  tha t  he  wanted you to  

award  to  VR Laser,  i s  tha t  r igh t?  

MR BURGER:    Cor rec t ,  Cha i r,  h is  ins t ruc t ion  was –  and 

a t tempt  to  verba l i se  h is  ins t ruc t ion  was put  on  the  m inutes  

o f  the  Exco meet ing  and i t  bas ica l l y  sa id  i t  must  be  MOU 

wi th  ce r ta in  s ing le  …[ in tervenes]  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    R igh t .  

MR BURGER:    That  a imed to  ach ieve s ing le  source  s ta tus .  20 

ADV KENNEDY SC:    R igh t .  

MR BURGER:    And tha t  p ro tec ts  obv ious l y  Dene l ’s  

in te res t .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Yes.   Cha i r,  i t  i s  ge t t ing  la te  in  the 

day and you have unders tandab le  l im i ta t ions  on  the  t ime 
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tha t  you have a l ready ind i ca ted  to  us .   May  we be 

permi t ted  to  use the  remain ing  t ime to  s ta r t  the  quest ion ing  

re la t ing  to  the  process fo l lowed  in  the  award  and the  

d i f f i cu l t ies  re la t ing  to  p rocurement  compl iance?   I t  i s  

…[ in te rvenes]  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja ,  no  tha t  i s  f ine ,  we s t i l l  have about  

ten ,  f i f teen minutes .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Thank you,  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    R igh t .   Mr  Burger,  in  re la t ion  to  th is  10 

cont rac t  you have ind ica ted  ea r l ie r  tha t  you came to  

rea l i se  tha t  w i th  the  benef i t  o f  h inds igh t  tha t  the re  were  

some d i f f i cu l t ies  in  re la t ion  to  the  award  o f  th is  con t rac t ,  I  

unders tand …[ in tervenes]  

MR BURGER:    Which  cont rac t  i s  tha t?  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    That  i s  the  s ing le  supp l ie r  con t rac t .  

MR BURGER:    Yes,  Cha i r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    And what  do  you say was a  de fec t  in  

the  award  o f  tha t  agreement?  

MR BURGER:    F i r s t l y,  a t  the  t ime I  d id  no t  see th is  as  a  20 

cont rac t ,  I  saw th is  as  a  s t ra teg i c  document ,  ag reement .   I  

a lso  d id  no t  see th is  as  a  document  tha t  s tops any  normal  

p rocedures to  go  th rough the  p rocess to  g i v ing  a  tender  

and get t ing  the  normal  approva ls .   In  o ther  words,  i t  does 

not  g ive  me,  as  a  d iv is iona l  CEO,  the  car te  b lanche  to  jus t  
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p lace  orders .   I t  s t i l l  had to  go  th rough a l l  the  re levant  

par t ies  as  ind ica ted  in  the  de legat ions o f  au tho r i t y.  

 So in  my mind a lso  in  the  past ,  much lower  leve l s  

than me used to  conc lude the   s t ra teg ic  agreements .   So I  

d id  no t ,  w i thout  s tudy ing  the  po l i cy,  I  d id  no t  th ink  tha t  i t  i s  

a  p rob lem a t  the  t ime.   When i t  was approved and we went  

th rough the  nego t ia t ion  w i th  VR Laser  and ce r ta in  changes  

were  made,  I  there fore  had no  hes i tancy to  s ign  the  

document  because I  fe l t  i t  was a  fa i r  ba lanced document  

and i t  represented the  ins t ruc t ions  tha t  I  go t  f rom the  CEO.  10 

So I  d id  no t  fee l  tha t  we d id  anyth ing  wrong a t  the  t ime.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    So  tha t  exp la ins  why you  d id  no t  

th ink  there  was anyth ing  a t  the  t ime.  

MR BURGER:    Yes.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Now can  you p lease answer  the  

quest ion  tha t  I  pu t  to  you,  wh ich  is  w i th  the  benef i t  o f  

h inds igh t  you have acknowledged  ear l ie r  today tha t  there  

was ac tua l l y  someth ing  wrong.   You d id  no t  rea l i se  tha t  a t  

the  t ime you say bu t  what  i s  i t  tha t  you acknowledge  now?    

MR BURGER:    I  d id  no t  …[ in tervenes]  20 

ADV KENNEDY SC:    What  was ac tua l l y  wrong?  

MR BURGER:    I  d id  no t  rea l i se  i t  –  i f  you  w i l l  a l low me 

jus t ,  i t  i s  one sen tence.   When i t  –  i t  then came –  I  came to  

learn  tha t  we shou ld  have gone out  on  open tender  and I  

rea l i sed –  i t  on ly  –  I  on ly  go t  to  knew about  th is  p rob lem 
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a lmost  a  year  a f te r  i t  was s igned.   I  know i t  was d i scussed 

in te rna l l y  a t  Dene l  Land Systems.   I  was not  aware  o f  i t .   

There  was –  I  was to ld  about  i t  l i te ra l l y  in  the  pass ing  and  

then there  was an Exco meet ing  where  i t  was d i scussed 

and I  ra ised the  op in ion  tha t  yes ,  i f  we –  i t  i s  no t                                 

poss ib le  to  go  ou t  on  open tender  because the  on ly  way to  

do  someth ing  l i ke  th is  i s  to  send drawings o f  complex ,  

fabr ica ted  components  to  po ten t ia l  par tners ,  le t  them 

tender  on  i t  and g ive  the i r  exp lanat ion  w i th  regards to  the i r  

capab i l i t y,  the i r  p rocesses,  a l l  tha t .   And jus t  be fore  tha t ,  10 

we went  th rough tha t  w i th  the  hu l l s .   So we d id  tha t .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    So  you d id  t ha t  w i th  the  hu l l s  bu t  no t  

w i th  the  s ing le  supp l ie r.  

MR BURGER:    Yes,  co r rec t .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Can I  jus t  s top  you there  fo r  a  

moment ,  i f  I  may?  D id  t ha t  no t  ac tua l l y  a le r t  you when you 

d id  ge t  the  ins t ruc t ion  f rom Mr  Sa loo jee  to  award  i t  

immedia te ly  and d i rec t l y  to  VR Laser  w i thout  even go ing  

out  fo r  th ree  b ids ,  d id  you not  th ink  ho ld  on ,  las t  year  we  

awarded a  cont rac t ,  a lbe i t  to  VR Laser,  we d id  i t  a f te r  a t  20 

least  some sor t  o f  p rocess o f  compet i t ion ,  compet i t iveness.   

We a t  leas t  go t  th ree  b idders ,  why are  we not  do ing  tha t  

here?  D id  you ra ise  tha t  w i th  Mr  Sa loo jee?  D id  you ra ise  

tha t  in  your  own mind?  

MR BURGER:    I  d id  no t .   I  d id  no t .   Sor ry,  maybe I  d id  no t  
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come across c lea r ly,  I  –  the  argument  tha t  we shou ld  have  

gone out  on  open  tender  and my a rgument  was i t  cannot  be  

open tender,  i t  needs to  be  c losed tender,  tha t  a rgument  

was ra i sed,  to  me,  became known to  me by ear l y  2016.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Yes.  

MR BURGER:    A f te r  the  agreement  was s igned.   So a t  

s ignature  o f  the  agreement  I  thought  i t  was we l l  w i th in  the  

Group CEO’s  mandate  to  s ign  s t ra teg ic  agreements  o f  tha t  

na ture .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Yes.  10 

MR BURGER:    As  the  process  un fo lded and the  las t  

coup le  o f  weeks I  came to  rea l i se  bu t  how th ings ac tua l l y  

work  nowadays i s  you have to  go  ou t  on  open tender  fo r  

th is .   So I ,  a t  the  t ime,  I  rea l l y  d id  no t  rea l i se  i t  and i t  –  

and th i s  i s  why I  sa id  we l l ,  i t  i s  an  MOU,  le t  us  –  o r  MOA,  

le t  us  go  fo r  i t .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Wou ld  you  exp la in  th is  –  wou ld  you  

a t t r ibu te  th is ,  the  fac t  tha t  you d id  no t  know a t  the  t ime 

and you have come to  rea l i se  recent ly  aga in  to  na ive ty  on  

your  pa r t?  20 

MR BURGER:    Cha i r,  I  do  no t  know what  the  co r rec t  word  

is ,  I  …[ in te rvenes ]  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Wel l ,  i f  i t  is  no t  na ive ty,  what  wou ld  

you …[ in tervenes ]  

MR BURGER:    I  wanted to  see th is  happen ing ,  I  thought  i t  
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was as  good idea fo r  the  bus iness.   Maybe I  d id  tu rn  a  

l i t t le  b i t  o f  a  b l ind  eye,  maybe I  thought ,  you know,  why 

th is  opera t iona l  focus bu t  i t  su i ted  me and I  suppor ted  i t .   

And na ive ty,  and  not  knowing what  the  cor rec t  p rocedures  

shou ld  have been  on Treasury  leve l .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Yes and we have a l ready  debated  

whethe r  you shou ld  have known those procedures  and I  

th ink  you have acknowledged tha t  you shou ld  have.  

MR BURGER:    Cor rec t .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    But  I  want  to  jus t ,  i f  I  may,  Cha i r,  jus t  10 

in  the  f ina l  few minutes  o f  the  t ime le f t ,  jus t  exp lore  th is  

las t  aspect  o f  the  na ive ty  and the  lack  o f  knowledge  o f  the  

processes.   You knew tha t  there  were  some processes tha t  

were  app l i cab le ,  tha t  were  requ i red ,  no t  so?  

MR BURGER:    A t  the  t ime I  knew o f  the  supp l ie r  cont rac t  

p rocesses,  tha t  I  d id .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Yes.   And  in  fac t  as  I  showed you 

ear l ie r  when we  took the  lunch ad jou rnment  and we  

conf i rmed th is  on  the  record  s t ra igh t  a f te r  lunch there  were  

two vers ions o f  the  supp ly  cha in  management  po l i cy.   The 20 

one was 2013 be fore  the  award  o f  the  Hoefys te r  p la t fo rm 

hu l l s  cont rac t  bu t  the  o ther  came in to  fo rce  a f te r  tha t .   

MR BURGER:    Cor rec t ,  Cha i r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    And was tha t  no t  app l i cab le  a t  the  

t ime o f  the  award  o f  the  s ing le  supp l ie r  cont rac t  in  2015? 
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MR BURGER:    Cor rec t ,  Cha i r,  i t  was.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    D id  you have in  your  possess ion  –  

had you been sent  o r  d id  you have access to  the  cur ren t  –  

the  then cur ren t  SCM po l icy?  

MR BURGER:    I  had access,  I  d id  no t  have one  on my 

tab le  bu t  I  cou ld  f ind  access.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    P resumably  when the  board  a t  head  

o f f i ce  leve l  dec ided to  approve the  adopt ion  o f  the  new 

po l i cy  they wou ld  have in fo rmed you as  CEO of  a  d iv is ion .  

MR BURGER:    I t  was d is t r ibu ted ,  Cha i r.  10 

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Yes.   Now apar t  f rom your  knowledge  

tha t  there  was  now a  new po l i cy,  you a lso  had Ms 

Malah le la  in  your  d iv is ion  who headed the  supp ly  cha in  

management  there  and you a lso  had Mr Mlambo,  as  we 

know,  a t  head o f f i ce  who was the  head o f  supp ly  cha in  

management  fo r  the  who le  group.  

MR BURGER:    Cor rec t ,  Cha i r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Now what  I  want  to  ask  you is  th is .    

Even i f  one assumes in  your  favour  tha t  you were  no t  

fami l ia r  -  even though you had access to  i t ,  you  were  20 

aware  tha t  there  i s  a  new po l i cy,  you were  no t  aware  

though about  the  de ta i l  tha t  requ i red ,  fo r  example ,  a  

compet i t i ve  process and you were  no t  aware  o f  the  

Const i tu t ion  and the  PFMA requ i rements  to  tha t  e f fec t  and  

so  fo r th ,  w i th  the  benef i t  o f  h inds igh t  a re  you prepared to  
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acknowledge here  tha t  in  fac t  any ignorance o f  tha t  must  

have been d i spe l led  when Ms Malah le la  and Mr  Mlambo 

ra ised ser ious concerns about  the  award  o f  th is  cont rac t ,  

the  s ing le  supp l i e r  cont rac t  to  VR Laser,  and spec i f i ca l l y  

ra ised these concerns tha t  there  had been noncompl iance  

and the  cont rac t  cou ld  no t  go ing  ahead,  what  I  am 

suggest ing  to  you,  i f  you  were  genu ine ly  ignorant  be fore  

then,  you were  then –  tha t  igno rance was d ispe l led  by  

them drawing th is  to  your  a t ten t ion  desp i te  tha t  you went  

ahead and recommended the  cont rac t  in  you r  mot iva t ion  10 

and then u l t imate ly  s igned i t  on  beha l f  o f  DLS.  

MR BURGER:    I  s ta te  aga in ,  Cha i r,  a l though there  was,  I  

learn t  now,  d iscuss ions w i th in  Dene l  Land Systems.  I  on ly  

go t  to  know about  the  unhapp iness and consequences in  

2016,  number  one.  

 Number  two,  in  my mind I  a lso  sa id  th i s  i s  a  

s t ra teg ic  document  …[ in tervenes]  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Sor ry,  th is  i s  a  s t r i c t l y…? 

MR BURGER:    I t  i s  a  s t ra teg i c  …[ in tervenes]  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    S t ra teg ic  document .  20 

MR BURGER:    I  d id  no t  –  wrong ly,  bu t  I  d id  no t  pu t  i t  in  

the  same ca tegory  as  a  supp l ie r  cont rac t .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Bu t  they were  en t i t led  to  supp ly  as  a  

s ing le  supp l ie r  to  the  exc lus ion  o f  o thers  un less  they were  

in  b reach,  you had to  go  to  them f i rs t .  
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MR BURGER:    Cor rec t .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Not  so?  

MR BURGER:    Cor rec t .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    So  i t  was a  supp l ie r.   So can you jus t  

exp la in  th is ,  as  a  f ina l  quest ion ,  i f  I  may,  Cha i r,  can you 

jus t  exp la in  why you d id  no t  see th is  as  a  supp l ie r  

agreement?   I t  was,  i t  was a  s ing le  supp l ie r  noga l .   To  ca l l  

i t  a  s t ra teg ic  document  sure ly  does not  de t rac t  f rom the  

fac t  tha t  a t  the  end o f  the  day  tha t  cont rac t  requ i red ,  

maybe not  the  memorandum of  unders tand ing  because tha t  10 

is  sor t  o f  a  w ish  and we might  do  th is  and we hope to  do  i t .  

MR BURGER:    Cor rec t ,  cor rec t .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Bu t  the  memorandum of  agreement  

tha t  was s igned –  by  you,  no t  so?  

MR BURGER:    Cor rec t .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    D id  ac tua l l y  g ive  them enforceab le  

r igh ts  to  supp ly  you,  Dene l  Land  System,  be fore  you can 

go anywhere  e l se ,  un less  they are  in  b reach,  they must  be  

g iven tha t  bus iness.  

MR BURGER:    Cor rec t ,  Cha i r.  20 

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Not  so?  

MR BURGER:    Cor rec t ,  Cha i r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    So  how does  the  labe l  o f  th is  be ing  a  

s t ra teg ic  agreement  and there fore  no t  a  supp ly  cont rac t ,  

how does tha t  ta l ly?  
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MR BURGER:    The reason –  and I  s ta te  aga in  and my  

apo logy fo r  repeat ing ,  in  the past  these sor t  o f  

agreements ,  in  the  d i s tan t  past ,  these sor t  o f  ag reements  

were  regu lar  and tha t  d id  no t  mean  tha t  i f  somebody  he ld  a  

s ing le  source  ag reement  tha t  there  shou ld  no t  be  normal  

p rocesses to  g ive  tha t  o rder  to  tha t  person.   And you are  

r igh t ,  i t  i s  a  s ing le  source  agreement ,  bu t  the  

…[ in tervenes]  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    I  am sor ry,  be fore  I  le t  you ca r ry  on ,  

can I  jus t  debate  tha t  las t  po in t  w i th  you?  Sure ly  every  10 

cont rac t  has to  fo l low cer ta in  p rocesses and you are  

suggest ing  i t  s t i l l  requ i red  those processes but  those  

processes inc lude a  compet i t i ve  process.  

MR BURGER:    Cor rec t .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Fo r  compet i t ive  b ids .  

MR BURGER:    Cor rec t ,  Cha i r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    And the  ve ry  po in t  o f  th is  agreement ,  

tha t  i s  why Mr  Sa loo jee  was want ing  you to  g ive  i t  to  these  

po l i t i ca l l y  connected peop le  o f  VR Laser,  was to  ensure 

tha t  you d id  no t  have to  go  th rough an open tender  o r,  fo r  20 

tha t  mat te r,  fo r  an  RFQ as you had done w i th  th ree  b ids  in  

the  Hoefys te r,  i t  was p rec ise ly  to  avo id  those processes,  

no t  so?  

MR BURGER:    True ,  Cha i r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Thank you,  Cha i r.   Perhaps th is  –  we 
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obv ious ly  cannot  f in ish  the  w i tness .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    We have a  fa i r  number  o f  quest ions 

s t i l l .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    We have  made good progress,  I  

be l ieve ,  bu t  I  am a f ra id  we have to  take  up your  ind ica t ion  

tha t  we need to  have another  oppor tun i ty.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    I  have ind ica ted  –  taken the  l iber t y  o f  10 

ind ica t ing  to  my lea rned f r iend Mr  Crouse tha t  the  

schedu l ing  w i l l  be  done as  fa r  as  poss ib le  in  consu l ta t ion  

w i th  h im but  obv ious l y  up  to  a  l im i t .   We cannot ,  fo r  

example ,  as  co l leagues say  we l l ,  I  am t ied  up  fo r  the  next  

s ix  months  or  whatever.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Wel l ,  le t  me make su re  there  is  no  I  

m isunders tand ing  about  tha t .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:    I f  the  da te  tha t  we are  look ing  a t  i s  

c lose  there  wou ld  be  consu l ta t ion  w i th  a l l  concerned but  i f  20 

the  da te  g ives  you a  reasonab le  t ime we w i l l  no t  negot ia te  

the  da tes ,  we w i l l  jus t  –  as  long i t  g ives  you reasonab le  

no t ice  then we w i l l  jus t  f i x  the  da tes  bu t  i f  we are  look ing  

a t  c lose  and we  w i l l  no t  be  g iv ing  you reasonab le  t ime,  

then we w i l l  seek to  see i f  we can agree w i th  you  on the  
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da tes .   Okay,  you  unders tand?  

MR CROUSE:    Mr Cha i rman,  we do.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

MR CROUSE:    We wi l l  obv ious ly  …[ in tervenes]  

CHAIRPERSON:    Do your  best .  

MR CROUSE:    Try  to  accommodate  the  Commiss ion  as  

best  we can.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

MR CROUSE:    But ,  fo r  ins tance,  and tha t  i s  why I  

we lcome the  suggest ion  o f  Mr  Kennedy,  fo r  the  next  week,  10 

fo r  ins tance,  I  am not  ava i lab le .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

MR CROUSE:    But  a f te r  tha t  Mr  Kennedy has a l so  

ind ica ted  to  me  tha t  the  Commiss ion  wou ld  probab ly  

accommodate  Mr  Burger ’s  ev idence a f te r  f i ve  o ’c lock  in  the  

a f te rnoon.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  we have even ing  sess ions,  ja .  

MR CROUSE:    And then we a re  read i l y  ava i lab le  a t  any  

t ime.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  yes ,  yes .  20 

MR CROUSE:    I  jus t  have a  p rob lem for  the  next  week.  

CHAIRPERSON:    No,  i f  we a re  l ook ing  a t  next  week we 

wou ld  seek to  ag ree w i th  you on the  da tes  because  tha t  i s  

c lose .  

MR CROUSE:    Yes.  
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CHAIRPERSON:    Ja ,  so  we are  no t  look ing  a t  next  week  

because you are  no t  ava i lab le .   And in  a l l  p robab i l i t y  we 

w i l l  look  a t  an  even ing  sess ion .  

MR CROUSE:    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:    And then i t  enab les  you in  case you 

were  in  cour t  du r ing  the  day to  s t i l l  be  ava i lab le .  

MR CROUSE:    Thank you,  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    So  in  a l l  p robab i l i t y  –  bu t  i f  i t  is  no t  an  

even ing  sess ion ,  tha t  i s  s t i l l  a  poss ib i l i t y,  bu t  i f  we are  ab le  

to  g ive  you reasonab le  no t ice ,  we w i l l  s imp ly  de termine the  10 

date .   I f  i t  i s  c lose ,  we w i l l… 

MR CROUSE:    We would  be  gra te fu l  fo r  tha t ,  thank you.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay,  no  tha t  i s  f ine .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Thank you,  Cha i r,  bu t  we wou ld  ask  

fo r  the  proceed ings to  be  ad journed a t  th is  s tage w i th  the  

cont inuat ion  o f  the  quest ion ing  o f  Mr  Burger  to  be  

postponed to  a  da te  to  be  de te rmined by  you,  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  yes .   No,  tha t  i s  f ine .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    On the  bas i s  as  ind ica ted  but  we do 

have another  w i tness tha t  we p ropose to  ca l l  tomorrow 20 

morn ing .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Mr  Mantsha,  the  fo rmer  Cha i rperson  

o f  the  Dene l  board .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  what  i s  your  es t imate  o f  how much  
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t ime you s t i l l  need w i th  –  fo r  quest ion ing  Mr… 

ADV KENNEDY SC:    For  Mr  Burger?   I  wou ld  th ink  

probab ly  no  more  than two hours ,  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Oh,  okay,  because tha t  can eas i l y  f i t  in to 

an  even ing  sess ion .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    I  am sor ry,  Cha i r?  

CHAIRPERSON:    Two hours  can eas i l y  f i t  in to  an  even ing  

sess ion .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Thank you,  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja ,  ja .  10 

ADV KENNEDY SC:    G ives new mean ing to  the  te rm n igh t  

cour t ,  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Sor ry?  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    I t  g ives  new mean ing to  the  te rm 

n igh t  cour t .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja ,  no ,  we have  to  t ry  the  best  we can to 

f in ish  the  work  o f  the  Commiss ion .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Indeed.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay.   So,  Mr  Burger,  you do unders tand  

and you have no prob lem.  20 

MR BURGER:    I  unders tand,  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    So  we a re  go ing  to  ad journ  fo r  the  day  

and tomorrow I  w i l l  hear  the  ev idence o f  another  w i tness  

bu t  a r rangements  w i l l  be  made fo r  Mr  Burger  to  come back 

in  o rder  to  comple te  h is  ev idence.   We ad jou rn .  
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INQUIRY ADJOURNS TO 13 NOVEMBER 2020  

  

 

 

 

 

 


